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References to the “Company,” the “Registrant,” “w@8,” or “our” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K referManhattan Pharmaceuticals,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, and our consolidated diab&s, together taken as a whole, unless the contezaird otherwise.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-lookirageshents within the meaning of Section 27A of the Séesirifct of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E oftbkadage Act. Any statements about our expectations, fighikeins, objectives,
assumptions or future events or performance are rotice facts and may be forward-looking. These statemare often, but not always,
made through the use of words or phrases such as “antjtijggtenate,” “plan,” “project,” “expect,” “may,” “intad” and similar words or
phrases. Accordingly, these statements involve estanassumptions and uncertainties that could cause assuétkrto differ materially from
those expressed in them. These statements are tleesafgect to risks and uncertainties, known and unknatvith could cause actual
results and developments to differ materially from treogEessed or implied in such statements. Such risks andainties relate to, among
other factors:

« our ability to obtain adequate financing to continue ourapms;

» the development of our pharmaceutical product candidates;

» theregulatory approval of our pharmaceutical product caradipat

» our use of clinical research centers and other cdotsac

e our ability to find collaborative partners for resggrdevelopment and commercialization of potential praguct
e acceptance of our products by doctors, patients or payors;

e our ability to market any of our products;

« our history of operating losses;

« our ability to compete against other companies and réseestitutions;
» our ability to secure adequate protection for our inteledqroperty;

e our ability to attract and retain key personnel;

« availability of reimbursement for our products;

» the effect of potential strategic transactions anbmsiness; and

« the volatility of our stock price.

Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only aseoflate on which it is made, and we undertake no obligatigpdate any
forward-looking statement or statements to reflect &vencircumstances after the date on which such stateswymade or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors emengetime to time, and it is not possible for us to predhich factors will arise. In
addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factourobusiness or the extent to which any factor, orbioation of factors, may cause
actual results to differ materially from those congal in any forward-looking statements.




PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a specialty healthcare product company focusdewaoping and commercializing innovative treatments fioletserved patient
populations. We aim to acquire rights to these technadmnjidicensing or otherwise acquiring an ownership intef@sding their research
and development and eventually either bringing the tdobies to market or out-licensing. Our current port¢faf product candidates
includes:

e AST-726, a nasally delivered form of hydroxocobalamin ferttkatment of vitamin B deficiency
e AST-915, an oral treatment for essential tremor

e Hedrin™ , a novel, non-insecticide treatment for pediculdsead lice)

» Atopical GEL for the treatment of mild psoriasis

In the short term, we are focusing our efforts ondieelopment of AST-726, AST-915, and, through the HedrirH&dyin. We have not
received regulatory approval for, or generated commamighue from, marketing or selling any products.

Our executive offices are located at 48 Wall Street, fldor, New York, NY 10005 USA. Our telephone numbeit) 582-3950 and our
internet website address_is www.manhattanpharma.com

Recent Developments

QTDP Grant

On November 8, 2010, the Company was awarded a grant of $244détte U.S. Government’s Qualifying Therapeutic DisgpfRzoject
(“QTDP”) credit program. The Company was awardeddhasit for its lead product candidate AST-726 for thetrmeat of vitamin B12
deficiency.

The QTDP was created by Congress in March 2010, asednader the Patient Protection and Affordable Careahat provides a tax credit
or grant equal to 50% of eligible costs and expensesdaiak years 2009 and 2010. The QTDP was designed to promadical research
and innovation that could improve health and save |lifé® program targeted projects in new innovative therapipgevent, diagnose, and
treat acute and chronic diseases. Companies that m€giMeP grants were selected jointly by the Treasuryabienent and the Department
of Health and Human Services. The grants were limgexinpanies with 250 or fewer employees.

Nordic Settlement

On January 4, 2011 the Company entered into settlementi@ade agreement (the “Settlement and ReleaserAgn#® with Nordic

Biotech Venture Fund Il K/S (*Nordic”) and H Pharmacealts K/S (the "Joint Venture"). The Company anddioare partners in the Joint
Venture for the development and commercialization inttNamerica of Hedrin™, a non-pesticide, one-hour tineat for pediculosis (head
lice). As previously reported, the Company and Nohdige had various disputes relating to the Joint Vemtudgo Nordic’s option to
purchase Company common stock in exchange for a portion didointerest in the Joint Venture (the "Put Rightfjdaordic’s warrant to
purchase Company common stock (the "Warrant”). TheeBwthit and Release Agreement resolves all disputes betinee€ompany, on the
one hand, and Nordic and the Joint Venture, on the.othe

The principal terms of the Settlement and Releaseehgeat are:
e The Put Right has been terminated. The Company bdligne Put Right permitted Nordic to become the ownen egercise of
the Put Right, of 71,428,571 shares of the Company’s constook. Nordic asserted that the Put Right would have ftexmi
Nordic to become the owner of 183,333,333 shares of the Cgragammon stock.




« The Warrant has been terminated. The Company belibeed/arrant covered 14,285,714 shares of the Company's common
stock. Nordic asserted that the Warrant covered 33,338t888s of the Company’s common stock.

¢ Nordic was required to make an additional, non-dilutivetedpontribution to the Joint Venture of $1,500,000, whidfudes
$300,000 contributed to the Joint Venture by Nordic on Decefrhe2010.

e The Joint Venture paid the Company a settlement ano$500,000, less any "Excess Payment” (defined below), in two
installments. An "Excess Payment" is the amount bghvhiordic’'s and the Joint Venture’s reasonable oygenket legal and oth
costs incurred with respect to the Settlement and Relsgieement exceed $70,000. To date there have been ns Pagesents.

»  Our equity interest in the Joint Venture was reduced to dk&further reductions in our equity interest are posgibled when
Nordic makes additional contributions to the Joint Vemtun no event shall capital contributions by Nor@iduce our ownership in
the Joint Venture below 5%.

e The Joint Venture paid $75,000 to the Company under thvic8gsrAgreement, dated February 21, 2008, and that Services
Agreement is terminated.

» The Joint Venture Agreement, dated January 31, 2008, aslathen February 18, 2008, and as further amended by an Omnibus
Amendment on June 9, 2008, between Manhattan and Norei8yaineholders’ Agreement, dated February 21, 2008, as amen
an Omnibus Amendment on June 9, 2008, with respect tiotheVenture, and the Registration Rights AgreemexigddFebruary
25, 2009, are terminated.

» Messrs. Michael G. McGuinness and Douglas Abel resifjoedthe Board of Directors of the Joint Venture.

Ariston Milestone SharesOn January 31, 2011 the Company announced that its Boarteofdds has decided to continue development of
AST-915, an orally delivered treatment for essentehtr. Under the terms of the merger agreement bettveg@iompany and Ariston
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the achievement of this noitestequires the company to issue 8,828,029 shares oftea@ostock to debt holders
and former shareholders of Ariston. These sharesigg&ued in March 2011.

Extension of Maturity Date of Secured 12% Notes

On February 9, 2011, the Company entered into a waiveiodmehrance agreement (the “Extension Agreement?) i requisite holders of
the 12% senior secured notes whereby the holders of ties [Mloe “Noteholders”) agreed to forbear the exediseeir rights under the

Notes and waive the default thereof until DecembefB11. The Company issued a total of $1,725,000 principal ambtmt Notes in

2008 and 2009. $1,035,000 of the Notes matured on November 19$2800000 of the Notes matured on December 22, 2010 and $410,0
of the Notes matured on February 3, 2011.

As part of the Extension Agreement, the Company hagddgoetake prompt steps to seek to reduce its outstamdialgtedness by permitting
the Noteholders to convert the Notes into shareseo€ttmpany's common stock at a conversion price of $0r0shpee, which will require
the Company to obtain stockholder approval to, amongy dttings, increase the number of its authorized cornrstomk.

Amendment of ICON Note Payable

On March 1, 2011 Ariston entered into an amended and restategttilole promissory note (the “Amended Note”) with IC@Hnical
Research Limited. The principal terms of the AmendeteNre that monthly payments of principal and intamdsbe waived for the thirteen
month period ended December 31, 2011 (the “Waiver Perind)éhange for a single payment of $100,000 on March 31, 20iricranse

in the interest on the Amended Note from 5% to 8% per amuring the Waiver Period and a balloon payment on Jaddar3012. The
Amended Note will decrease the debt service requirenoétite Company and Ariston by approximately $300,000 durinthtiteen month
period ended December 31, 2011.

Business Strategy

Our goal is to locate, develop, and commercialize sipetiaalthcare products. In order to achieve this,os& for innovative, or next
generation, products with one or more of the following ati@ristics:
« Low clinical, regulatory, and/or marketing risk




e Quick to market (such as medical devices, 505(b)(2), ortheecounter)
e Low cost to develop

e Low cost and/or simple to manufacture

e Serves a niche or underserved patient population

All of our current products meet some or all of thesteria.

Products

AST-726
AST-726 is a nasally delivered form of hydroxocobalamirttiertreatment of Vitamin B deficiency. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals acquired
global rights to AST-726 as part of the Ariston acquisitidéST-726 has demonstrated pharmacokinetic equivalerecenarketed
intramuscular injection product for Vitamin.B remediation. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals believes th&t7286 may enable both a single,
once-monthly treatment for maintenance of normal Vi, levels in deficient patients, and more frequent admitiistréo restore normal
levels in newly diagnosed Bdeficiency. Further, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals belithet AST-726 could offer a convenient, painless, safe
and cost-effective treatment for VitaminRleficiency, eliminating the need for intramusculardtifns.

Vitamin B,, Deficiency - Background of the Disease

Untreated Vitamin B, deficiency can result in serious clinical problemsudatg hematological disorders, such as life-threatening asemia
and a range of central and peripheral neurological abtitesauch as fatigue, confusion, cognition impairmentelgia, depression,
peripheral neuropathies and gait disturbances. Neludanaage may involve peripheral nerves, the spinal aoddthe brain and if the
condition is left untreated may become permanent. Eurbre, clinically asymptomatic patients with low nohmabelow normal Vitamin B
» levels may have changes in blood chemistries, includevged levels of methylmalonic acid or homocystekmewn risk factors for other
medical conditions associated with an increased riskailaitory problems, blood clots and cardiovascular disease

The primary diagnosis of Vitamin Bdeficiency is made when measurement of its blood cdrateon falls below the expected normal range
of 200 to 900 picograms/ml. Vitamin ,Bdeficiency is most often caused by pathological condittbat limit the body’s ability to absorb the
vitamin. Such disorders include pernicious anemia, atrastritis, problems caused by gastric surgical procedoitesat stomach cancer
and obesity, Crohn’s disease and simple age-related chaBgee studies show the inability to properly absothandin B,, as a side effect
from chronic use of certain widely prescribed antacid naidins such as Priloseand diabetes treatments such as Glucophage

Product Development

AST-726, a commercial nasal spray formulation of hydrokatamin, has satisfactorily completed preclinical tdeoigp, and an
Investigational New Drug (“IND”) Application has beerefil with the FDA. This product candidate is being developdiding the 505(b)(2)
regulatory pathway. AST-726 has also successfully contpéesafety and pharmacokinetic study in healthy volustaed an end of Phase |l
meeting with FDA has been completed.

In February 2011, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals filed a SpectakBré\ssessment (“SPA”) with the FDA for a pivot&ae 11l Vitamin B,
replacement study in the United States. The SPA igudatery process that allows for official FDA evaluatafithe clinical protocols of a
Phase Il clinical trial intended to form the primagsts for an efficacy claim and provides trial spongétis written agreement that the
design and analysis of the trial are adequate to support ®NewApplication (“NDA") if the trial is performed accordj to the SPA. Final
marketing approval depends on efficacy results, theysafefile and evaluation of the therapeutic benefit/dsknonstrated in the Phase IlI
trial. The SPA agreement may only be changed throwgfitten agreement between the sponsor and the FDiAthee FDA becomes aware
of a substantial scientific issue essential to prodfficaey or safety. For more information on SpecialtBtol Assessments please visit the
FDA website at www.fda.gov.

The final study design is subject to FDA feedback amiamal, but Manhattan Pharmaceuticals expects the pivady 0 enroll
approximately 40 Vitamin B deficient patients currently treated with injectionripy. Patients will first be evaluated on injectiorr #py
and then will receive AST-726 by nasal spray on a moiddys for 12 weeks. The primary objective of this siadg demonstrate that
levels of Vitamin B,, in the patients’ bloodstream remain within the norraagje following monthly administration of AST-726. We
anticipate that the data from this study and additionalufa&turing information will support the planned 505(b)(2)ANfbing for AST-726.




A CMC/manufacturing process has been developed for AZ%Tthat we believe provides a commercially viable Btalpirofile. Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals has issued patents in the United Statdsurope with respect to AST-726.

Market and Competition
More than 9 million people in the US are deficient ina¥itn B, , indicating substantial market potential for a faatlenvenient, safe and
effective treatment that can replace the need for paamiuifrequent intramuscular injections or other less thidy effective delivery forms.

Prevalence estimates for Vitamin,Rleficiency in the U.S. range between 20-40% of people@ivgears of age (8-16 million people). A
study of over 11,000 U.S. civilians ages four and older f@B% prevalence of Vitamin Bdeficiency in the general population using the
200 picograms/ml deficiency standard, indicating that apprdeisn@ million people in the U.S. are in need of Beplacement therapy. Some
experts advocate a higher deficiency standard of 300-35@rpios/ml on the basis that levels below this coincidl gievated
methylmalonic acid and homocysteine, risk factors &sdiovascular disease as found in the Framingham Healy. $2n this basis the
prevalence of Vitamin B deficiency increases substantially.

Manhattan Pharmaceuticals believes that substantial tregertunity also exists internationally.

Current Treatments for Vitamin BDeficiency

Once Vitamin B, deficiency is diagnosed by a simple blood test, the @fdadéatment is generally to:
» Restore circulating blood levels to normal as rapidlpessible;
e Replenish and normalize the substantial stores of thmwitin the body; and
« Institute a lifelong therapeutic regimen that will maintaormal levels of the vitamin.

Intramuscular injection of Vitamin Bis currently considered the gold standard treatmentifamin B, deficiency. Cyanocobalamin
injection is predominantly used for this purpose in thaéddnStates because it is the most easily producedddowest cost, however
cyanocobalamin is poorly tolerated in certain patients agdh children or in heavy smokers who may have elevateddsy levels in the
blood. In these patients hydroxocobalamin, the active dingnein AST-726, is used. Both cyanocobalamin and hydroxtaoiiamust be
converted in the body to an active form of Vitamirp B Hydroxocobalamin is thought to be converted morgyghsn cyanocobalamin and it
has longer retention time in the body. Hydroxocobalaméttion is the preferred treatment for Vitamin, Beficiency in Europe comprising
the vast majority of all Vitamin B injections.

In the United States, intramuscular injections are gdiyagiven by a physician or nurse, necessitating cedinedical center visit by the
patient or a visiting nurse home call for each treatnfeollowing a diagnosis of Bdeficiency, injections are typically administered déaly
5-10 days in order to restore normal vitamin levels.eOmrmalization is achieved, the frequency can be redoamute or twice per month.
While the treatment is usually highly effective, theanvenience and cost of frequent office visits angh&ie and side effects associated with
intramuscular injections are problematic for manyevds.

Intranasal treatment for Vitamin .Bdeficiency seeks to alleviate these problems. Thmeréwo intranasal products currently available in the
United States, Nascobalwhich is administered once weekly, and Calomistvhich is administered once daily. Both can onlybed once
a deficient patient has been normalized with injectiddath products use cyanocobalamin as the active ingitedie




Oral administration of very high doses of Vitamin, Ban restore deficient patients to normal in certagegabut conventional oral
supplementation is plagued by limited bioavailability. IShigh dose supplements are generally available in pharnaaesutrition/health
food stores. Adequate results can almost certainly beneldtathen nutritional insufficiency (e.qg., strict vegaetylis the primary cause of the
problem. However, if the gastrointestinal tract is campised, as is the case in many Beficient patients, oral supplementation may not be
successful at restoring circulating levels and storagetdef the vitamin to normal. For example, older peop#ate less stomach acid which
results in a reduced ability to absorb Vitamip 8om food. These patients would also be unable to altiseritamin from oral

supplements. In such cases, intramuscular injection woultelteeatment of choice, since it is administereeatly into the bloodstream and
does not rely on absorption in the gastrointentinat.tra

An unapproved Vitamin B patch is available in the United States, but we belibat its effectiveness in moderate to severe Vitdni
deficient patients is substantially untested.

Potential Advantages of AST-726 Treatment for VitamirbBficiency

We believe that treatment with AST-726 has the potermtidirectly substitute for and replace the need forctiga treatment by applying the
current injection frequency paradigms for both newly disgd and normalized Vitamin,Bdeficient patients. AST-726 has been designed t
be self-administered at home by the patient, withositl,aime consuming, and inconvenient visits to aaltetoffice or medical facility
needed for each of the many intramuscular injections rjuaionthly for life. Because it is delivered through ahsgsray, additional
advantages include freedom from injection pain and reducedtgrrxindividuals, including children and the elderly,onhay have fear of
injections. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals believes thatelinery profile of AST-726 is comparable to that of therketed intramuscular
injection, and that therefore newly diagnosed patieiitde able to self-administer our AST-726 nasal symaduct candidate on a daily

basis for approximately 5-10 days to restore their VitaB, status to normal and will then be self-maintained simgle monthly nasal spray
treatment of AST-726.

More About Vitamin B,

Vitamin B, is involved in the metabolism of every cell of the yyoespecially in energy production, fatty acid synthesisl, synthesis and
regulation of DNA. It also plays a crucial role in mangjor body systems. In the brain and nervous systiéamin B., plays an important
role in cognitive function and memory, the function amaintenance of nerve cells and surrounding myelin shaaththe synthesis of
serotonin, dopamine, and norepinephrine. VitaminiBalso known to reduce homocysteine, an amino acatlpea by the body. Elevated
homocysteine levels have been linked to brain and reel/damage, cardiovascular disease, and bone weakmeBaetures. Vitamin B
also plays a key role in the immune system, creafionetatonin for sleep, and the synthesis of red blabd.c

Two recent published studies have highlighted the bealéitfects that homocysteine lowering B vitaminsénam cognitive impairment and
cognitive decline. The first of these two studies (8nAD, PLoS One 2010) published in September 2010 showkittadoses of B
vitamins slow the rate of brain atrophy by approximaB&86. Brain atrophy (or brain shrinkage) is one of tlansymptoms of mild
cognitive impairment, a known precursor to dementia, anteimes Alzheimer’s Disease. The second study (Hoast, B, Neurology
2010), a population based, 7-year cohort study published in O&@0bér shows that higher baseline serum homocysteiaks lesrrelated
positively with an increased risk of Alzheimer’s Disease

AST-915
AST-915 is an orally delivered treatment for essentihbr. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals acquired global rigit§16915 as part of the
Ariston acquisition. This product candidate was studied um@operative Research and Development Agreement@RAith the
National Institute of Neurological Disorders and StrokENDS), a division of the National Institutes of Hia(NIH).

In December 2010, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals announcechibeeaent of human proof-of concept with AST-915 with #ease of
preliminary results from a Phase 1/2 study conducted byiiHef AST-915 for the treatment of essential trembata from this single dose
study showed that AST-915 was well tolerated and demonstatiedr effect on tremor power.

In this randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled,sweer design study, 18 subjects with essential tremowegteingle oral doses of
AST-915. Primary and secondary outcome measures includedfé¢ct on tremor power using accelerometry to kesténtral tremor
component at various time points after treatment. tfsgfearmacokinetic data, and other efficacy measures also evaluated. AST-915
was well tolerated with non-serious adverse eventgglmienly distributed between active and placebo treasinemd two observed serious
events being unrelated to study drug.




Statistically significant reductions in tremor power wevelent at several time points between 80 and 300 minB&&sminutes was the latest
timepoint measured following administration of AST-91%urtRer analysis, conducted using each subject as itsawrot; demonstrated
statistically significant lower tremor amplitudes indawf AST-915 compared to placebo. Additional analysidicaas to examine other
secondary endpoints. Statistically significant effectremor power was not evident 80 minutes after admitistraf AST-915 (defined as
the primary endpoint timeframe),

The NINDS/NIH intends to submit an abstract to then 18ternational Congress of Parkinson’s Disease aneeient Disorders taking place
in Toronto in June 2011. Complete study findings are exgéctbe disclosed at this and other scientific meetangd,by submission to
scientific journals. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals inteodsmtinue to work with the NINDS/NIH and to proceed doavPhase 2 with the AST-
915 development program.

AST-915 was formerly referred to as “AST-914 metabalite”

Essential Tremor

Essential tremor is a neurological disorder that &satterized by involuntary shaking of the hands, arees] hwvoice, and upper body. The
most disabling tremors occur during voluntary movemefegctiig common skills such as writing, eating and drinkiggsential tremor is
often misdiagnosed as Parkinson’s disease, yet accoudihg National Institutes of Neurological Disorders atidke, approximately 8
times as many people have essential tremor as hakie$tar's. Essential tremor is not confined to tlikedy. Children, newborns, and
middle-aged people can also have the condition.

Market opportunity

According to the International Essential Tremor Fouilodatin estimated 10 million Americans have esseméaidr. The condition is most
common among people over 60, but it also occurs in childm@olescents and the middle-aged. There is no cunaatenent for essential
tremor and current therapy is inadequately effectiweelarge portion of patients and/or limited by side effedtlanhattan Pharmaceuticals
believes AST-915 may provide a new treatment option ferdbiious and prevalent disordeManhattan Pharmaceuticals believes that
substantial market opportunity also exists internationally.

Hedrin
Hedrin is a novel, non-insecticide, one hour treatrfemnpediculosis (head lice) and is currently being deyedl in the United States as a
prescription medical device. Hedrin is the top sellingdhlece product in Europe. According to Thornton & Rosk (fT&R”), it is currently
marketed in over 27 countries and achieved 2008 annual saleghthts licensees of approximately $48 million (USD) anarket public
prices, garnering approximately 23% market share acnaspe

In June 2007, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals entered into an egdiasnse agreement with Thornton & Ross Ltd (“T&Bi)d Kerris, S.A.
(“Kerris”) for Hedrin (the “Hedrin License Agreementt¥)/e acquired an exclusive North American license to cepiaient rights and other
intellectual property relating to the product. In additiand at the same time, we also entered into a Supplergre with T&R pursuant to
which T&R will be the Company’s exclusive supplier of Hadsroduct (the “Hedrin Supply Agreement”).

In February 2008, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals entered inta &goiture agreement with Nordic Biotech Advisors Afio¢dic”) to develop
and commercialize Hedrin for the North American marléte joint venture entity, H Pharmaceuticals (“H Pharaagicals” or the “Hedrin
JV”), now owns, is developing, and is working to secumamercialization partners for Hedrin in both the Unitéat&s and Canada. H
Pharmaceuticals is independently funded and is responsila# émsts associated with the Hedrin project, includingreagessary United
States (“U.S.”) clinical trials, patent costs, and fatmilestones owed to the original licensor, T&Re @Wirrently own 15% of the Hedrin JV.

The Hedrin JV is currently working to complete developnaard secure commercialization and marketing partneitdddrin in the U.S. and
Canada.




Pediculosis (Head lice)

Head lice (Pediculus humanus capitisare small parasitic insects that live mainly onithman scalp and neck hair. Head lice are not known
to transmit disease, but they are highly contagiodsaae acquired by direct head-to-head contact with astédgerson’s hair, and may also
be transferred with shared combs, hats, and otheabe#ssories. They can also live on bedding or ugnetsturniture for a brief period.
Head lice are seen across the socioeconomic speatdiara unrelated to personal cleanliness or hygienddr@hiare more frequently
infested than are adults, and Caucasians more frequentlgtttearethnic groups. Lice are most commonly founcherstalp, behind the

ears, and near the neckline at the back of the n@okamon symptoms include a tickling feeling of something mgin the hair, itching,
irritability caused by poor sleep, and sores on the haased by scratching.

Mechanism of Action

Hedrin is a novel, non-insecticide combination of eiies (dimethicone and cyclomethicone) that acts as euieitial (lice killing) agent by
disrupting the insect’'s mechanism for managing fluid aedthing. In contrast with most currently availalte treatments, Hedrin contains
no chemical insecticides. Because Hedrin kills licpigventing the louse from excreting waste fluid, rathan ty acting on the central
nervous system, the insects cannot build up resistartbe treatment. Recent studies have indicated thatareststo chemical insecticides
may be increasing and therefore contributing to ingdettreatment failure. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals\uedithere is significant market
potential for a convenient, non-insecticide treatnadternative. Both silicones in this proprietary falation of Hedrin are used extensively
in cosmetics and toiletries.

Product Development

Hedrin has been clinically studied in over 400 subjects. rdm@omized, controlled, equivalence, clinical study (coretlict Europe by
T&R), Hedrin was administered to 253 adult and child subjeth head lice infestation. The study results, publishehe British Medical
Journal in June 2005, demonstrated Hedrin’s equivalence wheyaoeuto the insecticide treatment, phenothrin, the midsty used
pediculicide in the U.K. In addition, according to the satney, the Hedrin treated subjects experienced significagtyitritation (2%) than
those treated with phenothrin (9%).

A clinical study published in the November 2007 issue of RDn8, an international, peer-reviewed journal published bititdic Library of
Science (PL0S), demonstrated Hedrin’s superior efficacypared to a U.K. formulation of malathion, a widelgdigsecticide treatment in
both Europe and North America. In this randomized, contholiesessor blinded, parallel group clinical trial, 73tsahd child subjects with
head lice infestations were treated with Hedrin orathébn liquid. Using intent-to-treat analysis, Hedriniaeld a statistically significant
cure rate of 70% compared to 33% with malathion liquidingthe per-protocol analysis Hedrin achieved a highlisgtatly significant

cure rate of 77% compared to 35% with malathion. In Brib has been widely documented that head lice has kesistant to malathion,
and we believe this resistance may have influencedullg sesults. To date, there have been no reportslatiman resistance in the U.S.
Additionally, Hedrin treated subjects experienced nantiteactions, and Hedrin showed clinical equivalencealattrion in its ability to
inhibit egg hatching. Overall, investigators and study stbjeted Hedrin as less odorous, easier to apply, aret emsiash out. In addition
97% of Hedrin treated subjects stated they were significamdte inclined to use the product again versus 31% of tigisg malathion.

Two unpublished Hedrin studies were completed by T&R in 200&helfirst, Hedrin achieved a 100% kill rate in vitro, uihg malathion
resistant head lice. In the other, a clinical figletly conducted in Manisa province, a rural area of Wedterkey, Hedrin was administered
to 36 adult and child subjects with confirmed head licesitations. Using per protocol analysis, Hedrin achiev@d@% cure rate. Using
intent-to-treat analysis, Hedrin achieved a 92% cueegiace 2 subjects were eliminated due to protocchtimis. No subjects reported any
adverse events.

In April 2009, T&R published a new clinical field study whé@adult and child subjects with head lice infestativae treated with Hedrin
using a 1 hour application time. Treatment was giveretwith 7 days between applications. In this study, Hedtiesed a cure rate of
90%.




In the U.S., the Hedrin JV, is pursuing the developmeHhiedrin as a prescription medical device. In January 28@9)1S. Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA") Center for Devices and Radiolagii¢lealth (‘CDRH") notified H Pharmaceuticals that Hedrad been classified as
a Class Il medical device. A Class Il designatiorangethat a Premarket Approval (“PMA”) Application willeteto be obtained before
Hedrin can be marketed in the U.S. In July 2009, CDRH cusfirthat two pivotal studies, which can occur simultanepusliyg the same
protocol consisting of approximately 60 subjects each20@rphtients in total, are required for the completiothefPMA Application. In
April 2010, the Hedrin JV received correspondence from By iR which the FDA raised questions about certain mactufing and non-
clinical aspects of Hedrin (including certain deficiencresafety documentation that will require further studife Hedrin JV is in the
process of responding to those questions and will ndvleet@ commence the confirmatory trials, and thdrkieJV’s application to conduct
those clinical trials will not be accepted by the FDAless and until such questions are responded to, satiséaction of the FDA.

Market and Competition

According to the American Academy of Pediatrics an eg#oh6-12 million Americans are infested with head ¢iaeh year, with pre-school
and elementary children and their families affected rafbst. The total U.S. head lice market is estimatdzbtover $200 million with
prescription and over-the-counter (OTC) therapies caimgriapproximately 50% of that market. The remaining 508%eomarket is
comprised of alternative therapies such as tea treavoigral oils, and “nit picking”, or physical comnigi to remove lice. In addition, the
head lice market is experiencing an increasing trend tawealthier, more environmentally friendly consumer prodactsa growing
activism against pesticide products. We believe tlsesgghificant market potential for a convenient, nosecticide treatment for head lice.

The prescription and OTC segment of the market is dateinby 4-5 name brand products and numerous, low cost geareticstore brand
equivalents. The active ingredients in these pharrogioall therapies are chemical insecticides. The fmegtiently prescribed insecticide
treatments are Ovide (malathion) and Kwell (lindane),thadnost frequently purchased OTC brands are Rid (piperatptide), Nix
(permethrin), and Pronto (piperonyl butoxide). Lindane leas lbanned in 52 countries worldwide and has now been banthedstate of
California due to its toxicity. In addition, New York, Migan, and Minnesota have initiated legislation to barutieeof lindane. European
formulations of malathion have experienced widespreastapsie. Resistance to U.S. formulations of malathave not been widely
reported to date, but experts believe it is likely develith continued use. Head lice resistance to piperonygiximg and permethrin has been
reported in the U.S. and treatment failures are common.

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financfabndition and Results of Operations- Liquidity and Capigl
Resources- Research and Development Projects- Hedfin.

Topical GEL for Psoriasis
This topical GEL was used as the vehicle (placebo)pinaa clinical study versus a discontinued product candidepécal PTH (1-34), and
showed evidence of psoriasis improving properties. InRhase 2a study 15% of study subjects achieved a clear @t alewr state at the
end of week 2. At the end of week 4, 20% of subjectsanlesith the GEL had achieved a clear or almost cede, and at the end of week 8,
25% of subjects treated with the GEL had achieved & oteglmost clear state. The Company owns globatsitp this topical GEL and is
exploring the possibility of developing it as an OTC prodacimild psoriasis.

Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a common, chronic, immune-mediated dighaseesults in the over-production of skin cells. Inlthgeaskin, immature skin cells
migrate from the lowest layer of the epidermis togkia’s surface over a period of 28-30 days. In psoridssetcells reproduce at an
extremely accelerated rate and advance to the sunfacdy 7 days. This results in a build up of excesstlpdiifferentiated skin cells that
accumulate in dry, thick patches known as plaques. Thegegsl@an appear anywhere on the body resulting in itchingrstdtion, and
disability.

Market and Competition

According to the National Psoriasis Foundation approx@md25 million people worldwide, including approximately 6lioil Americans,
suffers from psoriasis. Of these, approximately 65%rfdliébn) have mild psoriasis and are the most likelpsdriasis sufferers to be treated
with an OTC product. According to Datamonitor, only amasted 55% of psoriasis sufferers have been formallyndsed by a physician,

so the OTC market could potentially be much larger.
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There are a number of treatments available today fwigsss, including numerous OTC creams and ointments thatdeeduce
inflammation, stop itching, and soothe skin. Producth ssdPsoriasin, CortAid, Dermarest, and Cortizone &@h& most common, but none
are viewed as particularly effective for psoriasis.

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financi@bndition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Cayital
Resources - Research and Development Projects — Topisoriasis Product.”

Discontinued Research and Development Programs

Altoderm m™
In April 2007 we entered into a license agreement witlRTfursuant to which we acquired exclusive rights to develdpcammercialize
Altoderm in North America. Altoderm is a novel, proprietary formulation of topical cronmlgodium and is designed to enhance the
absorption of cromolyn sodium into the skin in orderréat pruritus (itch) associated with dermatologic coadgiincluding atopic dermatitis
(eczema).

In a Phase 3, randomized, double-blind, vehicle-conttdli@ical study (conducted in Europe by T&R) Altoderm wafe sind well tolerated,
and showed a trend toward improvement in pruritus, bueffigacy results were inconclusive. Altoderm treasedjects and vehicle only
treated subjects experienced a similar improvement @aetter than 30%), and therefore, the study did not achiatistical significance.

As a result of the inconclusive European study data afatlaof sufficient funds to develop Altoderm, in March 206@ Company
discontinued development and returned the project to UikdRer the terms of the license agreement.

Altolyn ™
In April 2007 we entered into a license agreement witlRTfursuant to which we acquired exclusive rights to develdpcammercialize
Altolyn in North America. Altolyn is a novel, proprietary oral tablet formulation obrmolyn sodium designed to treat mastocytosis an
possibly other gastrointestinal disorders such as food akerd\symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome.

Due to small market opportunity and lack of sufficierids to develop Altolyn, in March 2009 the Company disooetl development and
returned the project to T&R under the terms of tbenlse agreement.

Commercialization, Marketing, and Sales

In order to maximize the commercial value of our prodaotddates, it is likely that we will partner with, aodbut-license the marketing
rights to, a marketing organization with expertise in tleeapeutic areas we operate in. We are currently workisgdure a marketing
partner for Hedrin in both the United States and Canadager term, we may explore the possibility of secucogmercialization partners
for AST-726, AST-915, and the topical GEL in the Unitedt& and global territories.

Intellectual Property and License Agreements

Our goal is to obtain, maintain and enforce patent giiotefor our products, formulations, processes, metaadsother proprietary
technologies, preserve our trade secrets, and opethtininfringing on the proprietary rights of other pastiboth in the United States and
in other countries. Our policy is to actively seeblbtain, where appropriate, the broadest intellectual propeotection possible for our
product candidates, proprietary information and propsgegtarhnology through a combination of contractual arnareges and patents, both in
the U.S. and elsewhere in the world.

We also depend upon the skills, knowledge and experierme stientific and technical personnel, as well as thatioadvisors, consultants
and other contractors. This knowledge and experience W&iaWw-how”. To help protect our proprietary know-haevhich is not patentable,
and for inventions for which patents may be difficolenhforce, we rely on trade secret protection amfigentiality agreements to protect our
interests. To this end, we require all employeessutants, advisors and other contractors to enter orthdentiality agreements which
prohibit the disclosure of confidential information amthere applicable, require disclosure and assignmentdbthe ideas, developments,
discoveries and inventions important to our business.
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AST-726
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement with Ariston, the Campas acquired patent rights and other intellectual prppaating to AST-726:

« U.S. Patent No. 5,801,161 entitled, “Pharmaceutical coitrgo$or the intranasal administration of hydroxocobalaimi
Franciscus W.H.M. Merkus, Inventor. Application filed ulv, 1996. Patent issued September 1, 1998. This patengdsikgh
to expire on September 1, 2015.
European Patent No. EP0735859B1 (granted July 30, 1997, nationabpR&3E Publication No. WO9517164) entitled, “Pharmaceutical
composition for the intranasal administration of hydroxocainél.” Franciscus W.H.M. Merkus, Inventor. Applicatioled May 13, 1994.
Patents validated in Great Britain, Austria, Belgiumnmeark, France, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Swire, Germany, Spain, and
Sweden are scheduled to expire on May, 13, 2014.

AST-915
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement with Ariston, the Caompas acquired patent rights and other intellectual pippaating to AST-915:

» U.S. Patent Application No. PCT/US2009/000876 entitled “Octaacid formulations and methods of treatment using the
same.” McLane, Nahab, and Hallet, Inventors. Applacafiled February 12, 2009. This application has not yaeas a
patent.

Hedrin
On June 26, 2007, the Company entered into an exclusinséi@agreement for Hedrin (“the Hedrin Agreement’) wiglRTand Kerris.
Pursuant to the Hedrin Agreement, the Company acquirexchrsize North American license to certain patent rigim other intellectual
property relating to Hedrinv , a non-insecticide product candidate for the treatwigoediculosis (“head lice”):

e U.S. Patent No. 7,829,551 entitled, “Method and compositiothe control of arthropods.” Jayne Ansell, Inventor.
Application filed February 12, 2007. Patent issued Novemi@®M). This patent is scheduled to expire on March 9,
2023.This patent has numerous, detailed and specific dlelated to the use of Hedrin (novel formulation of siic
derivatives) in controlling and repelling arthropods sucmaects and arachnids, and in particular control and eradiiti
head lice and their ova.

On February 25, 2008 the Company assigned and transferrigthissin Hedrin to the Hedrin JV. The Hedrin JV is masponsible for all of
the Company’s obligations under the Hedrin License Agege and the Hedrin Supply Agreement.

Manufacturing
We do not have any manufacturing capabilities. T&R sulbply any Hedrin product required to conduct human clinigdles, and we are in
contact with several contract cGMP manufacturershiersupply of AST-726, AST-915, and the topical GEL for ps@ia

Government Regulations

The research, development, testing, manufacture, labgliomotion, advertising, distribution, and marketegong other things, of our
products are extensively regulated by governmental autisdnitidne United States and other countries. In the USitatgs, the FDA regulates
drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic AdiedfDCA, and its implementing regulations. Failure tmgly with the applicable
U.S. requirements may subject us to administrative origldianctions, such as FDA refusal to approve pendingd\ivarning letters,
product recalls, product seizures, total or partial sugpeio$ production or distribution, injunctions, and/or drial prosecution.
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Drug Approval Process.None of our drugs may be marketed in the U.S. until thg das received FDA approval. The steps required before
a drug may be marketed in the U.S. include:
« nonclinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and foatmuh studies,
« submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Dapglication (IND) or, in the case of medical deviceslnamstigational
Device Exemption (IDE), for human clinical testing, whichshbecome effective before human clinical trials mexgyiry
e adequate and well-controlled human clinical trialsstalelish the safety and efficacy of the drug for eadication,
e submission to the FDA of a New Drug Application (NDA) in the case of medical devices a Premarket App(&MA),
» satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of the afaoturing facility or facilities at which the drugpsoduced to assess
compliance with current good manufacturing practicesGMPs, and
» FDA review and approval of the NDA or PMA.

Nonclinical tests include laboratory evaluation ofgurct chemistry, toxicity, and formulation, as well asvadistudies. The conduct of the
nonclinical tests and formulation of the compoundsdstilhg must comply with federal regulations and requirem@htsresults of the
nonclinical tests, together with manufacturing infotimaand analytical data, are submitted to the FDA asgba IND or IDE, which must
become effective before human clinical trials may begn IND/IDE will automatically become effective 30 dagfter receipt by the FDA,
unless before that time the FDA raises concerns oriquestbout issues such as the conduct of the trialstérsenl in the IND/IDE. In such a
case, the IND/IDE sponsor and the FDA must resolve atstanding FDA concerns or questions before clinréabktcan proceed. We cannot
be sure that submission of an IND/IDE will result in Ei2A allowing clinical trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve the administration of the gstigational drug or medical device to human subjects uhdeupervision of qualified
investigators. Clinical trials are conducted under padodetailing the objectives of the study, the paramébdoe used in monitoring safety,
and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Eaatloqni must be submitted to the FDA as part of the/INB.

Clinical trials typically are conducted in three sequemiigses, but the phases may overlap. The study protocolfanded consent
information for study subjects in clinical trials mustal®e approved by an Institutional Review Board for emstitution where the trials will
be conducted. Study subjects must sign an informed consenbébone participating in a clinical trial. Phase 1 usuaNplves the initial
introduction of the investigational drug into people to eatd its short-term safety, dosage tolerance, mesatopharmacokinetics and
pharmacologic actions, and, if possible, to gain an @adigation of its effectiveness. Phase 2 usually lvestrials in a limited patient
population to (i) evaluate dosage tolerance and approploatge; (ii) identify possible adverse effects andysaifgts; and (i) preliminarily
evaluate the efficacy of the drug for specific indicadidPhase 3 trials usually further evaluate clinicatatfy and test further for safety by
using the drug in its final form in an expanded patient populafioere can be no assurance that Phase 1, Phase aserFtesting will be
completed successfully within any specified period of tifreg, all. Furthermore, we or the FDA may suspendiciil trials at any time on
various grounds, including a finding that the subjects deqiatare being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

The FDCA permits FDA and the IND/IDE sponsor to agneeriting on the design and size of clinical studieemnded to form the primary
basis of an effectiveness claim in an NDA or PMA atlon. This process is known as Special Protocobgsaent, or SPA. These
agreements may not be changed after the clinical stuelygs, lexcept in limited circumstances.

Assuming successful completion of the required clinicsilrtg, the results of the nonclinical and clinicaidses, together with other detailed
information, including information on the manufacture aomhposition of the drug, are submitted to the FDA enfttm of a NDA or PMA
requesting approval to market the product for one or indieations. The testing and approval process regsirestantial time, effort, and
financial resources. The agencies review the applicaind may deem it to be inadequate to support thereggiatand we cannot be sure that
any approval will be granted on a timely basis, if hfldle FDA may also refer the application to the appete advisory committee,

typically a panel of clinicians, for review, evaluatiand a recommendation as to whether the applicatiadshe approved. The FDA is not
bound by the recommendations of the advisory committee.

13




The FDA has various programs, including fast track, gsiogview, and accelerated approval, that are intetmlegpedite or simplify the
process for reviewing drugs, and/or provide for apdromahe basis surrogate endpoints. Generally, drugsrtagtoe eligible for one or more
of these programs are those for serious or life-tanéag) conditions, those with the potential to addressaiimedical needs, and those that
provide meaningful benefit over existing treatments. We @@ sure that any of our drugs will qualify for anyhedse programs, or that, if a
drug does qualify, that the review time will be reduced.

Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA allows the FDA to appravellow-on drug on the basis of data in the scientifecature or data used by FDA
in the approval of other drugs. This procedure potentiadliites it easier for generic drug manufacturers to okagid approval of new forms
of drugs based on proprietary data of the original drug matwéac We intend to rely on Section 505(b)(2) to obtgiproval for AST-726.

Before approving an NDA or a PMA, the FDA usually vinipect the facility or the facilities at which tdeug is manufactured, and will not
approve the product unless cGMP compliance is satisfadf the FDA evaluates the NDA/PMA and the mantifeiag facilities as
acceptable, the FDA may issue an approval letten some cases, an approvable letter followed by an appettexl Both letters usually
contain a number of conditions that must be met in dadsecure final approval of the NDA/PMA. When anthifse conditions have been
met to the FDA's satisfaction, the FDA will issue gpi@val letter. The approval letter authorizes commknearketing of the drug for
specific indications. As a condition of NDA/PMA appravidle FDA may require post marketing testing and suarei# to monitor the drug’s
safety or efficacy, or impose other conditions.

After approval, certain changes to the approved produch as adding new indications, making certain manufagtahianges, or making
certain additional labeling claims, are subject t¢hfer FDA review and approval. Before we can markejpooduct candidates for additional
indications, we must obtain additional approvals frddAFObtaining approval for a new indication generadigjuires that additional clinical
studies be conducted. We cannot be sure that any addajopradval for new indications for any product candidaliebs approved on a
timely basis, or at all.

Post-Approval Requirements Often times, even after a drug has been approvéueldyDA for sale, the FDA may require that certain post-
approval requirements be satisfied, including the conafuatiditional clinical studies. If such post-approval candg are not satisfied, the
FDA may withdraw its approval of the drug. In additibn|ders of an approved NDA or PMA are required to:gpart certain adverse
reactions to the FDA, (ii) comply with certain requirerseconcerning advertising and promotional labelingHeirtproducts, and (jii)
continue to have quality control and manufacturing procedarg®rm to cGMP after approval. The FDA periodicatigpects the sponsor’s
records related to safety reporting and/or manufacturiititi@s; this latter effort includes assessment of gliamce with cGMP.
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend tinegyap, and effort in the area of production and quatititol to maintain cGMP
compliance. We intend to use third party manufacturepsaduce our products in clinical and commercial quastiaed future FDA
inspections may identify compliance issues at the f@slof our contract manufacturers that may disrupt pramtuct distribution, or require
substantial resources to correct. In addition, disgowkproblems with a product after approval may resulestrictions on a product,
manufacturer, or holder of an approved NDA/PMA, includintiharawal of the product from the market.

Non-United States Regulation Before our products can be marketed outside of the UniagdsSthey are subject to regulatory approval
similar to that required in the United States, althohgiréquirements governing the conduct of clinicaldyigcluding additional clinical
trials that may be required, product licensing, pricing rmmbursement vary widely from country to country.détion can be taken to
market any product in a country until an appropriate agjghic has been approved by the regulatory authoritiesticdlatry. The current
approval process varies from country to country, ardithe spent in gaining approval varies from that reguior FDA approval. In certain
countries, the sales price of a product must also beeggh The pricing review period often begins afterkaaapproval is granted. Even if a
product is approved by a regulatory authority, satisfagioogs may not be approved for such product.

In Europe, marketing authorizations may be submittedcentralized, a decentralized or national level. Bmralized procedure is
mandatory for the approval of biotechnology productsnsides for the grant of a single marketing authorizatianis valid in all
European Union ("EU”) member states. As of January 18%8utual recognition procedure is available at the regui¢ise applicant for all
medicinal products that are not subject to the centrthfirecedure. There can be no assurance that the ateogeatory strategy will secure
regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at all.
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History

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1993 under the namaridl Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” and, in March 2000, we changedame to
“Atlantic Technology Ventures, Inc.” In 2003, we complkt “reverse acquisition” of privately held “Manhattandaesh Development,
Inc.” In connection with this transaction, we alsorgied our name to “Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” Froaceounting perspective,
the accounting acquirer is considered to be ManhattaedReh Development, Inc. and accordingly, the hisibfinancial statements are
those of Manhattan Research Development, Inc.

During 2005 we merged with Tarpan Therapeutics, Inc. (“Téjpal arpan was a privately held New York based bioplaaeutical company
developing dermatological therapeutics. This transactianageounted for as a purchase of Tarpan by the Company

On March 8, 2010, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. enteredrimdgreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Compaiston
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation andofrislerger Corp., a Delaware corporation and wholly-edvaubsidiary of the
Company. Pursuant to the terms and conditions sétifothe Merger Agreement, on March 8, 2010, the Mergem&ariged with and into
Ariston (the "Merger"), with Ariston being the survivingrporation of the Merger. As a result of the MergeistAn became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the considarpayable by the Company to the stockholders and otders of Ariston consists
of the issuance of 7,062,423 shares of the Company's costork, par value $0.001 per share, ("Common Stock") ain@l¢as defined in
the Merger Agreemenplusthe right to receive up to an additional 24,718,481 sh&@sramon Stock (the “Milestone Shares”) upon the
achievement of certain product-related milestones desthiblow. In addition, the Company has reserved 38,630,723 gifidieCommon
Stock for possible future issuance in connection witrctireversion of $15.45 million of outstanding Ariston convégtfiromissory

notes. The note holders will not have any recowsed Company for repayment of the notes (their smteurse being to Ariston), but the
note holders will have the right to convert the natés shares of the Company's Common Stock at the t§@40 per share. Further, the
Company has reserved 5,000,000 shares of its Common Stqabsible future issuance in connection with the comeis $1.0 million of
outstanding Ariston convertible promissory note issuediisfaction of a trade payable. The note holdermatihave any recourse to the
Company for repayment of the note (their sole recdoegeg to Ariston), but the note holder will have thght to convert the note into shares
of the Company's Common Stock at the rate of $0.20 per. share

Upon the achievement of the milestones described b&h@sCompany would be obligated to issue portions of tiesMine Shares to the
former Ariston stockholders and noteholders:
« Upon the affirmative decision of the Company’ BoardDokctors, provided that such decision is made priddaoch 8, 2011,
to further develop the AST-915 product candidate, eithemiallg or through a corporate partnership, the Companydvissue
8,828,029 of the Milestone Shares. This milestone vacheel in January 2011 and the shares have been issued.
» Upon the acceptance by the FDA of the Company's fdirte first New Drug Application for the AST-726 prodeandidate,
the Company would issue 7,062,423 of the Milestone Shares.
« Upon the Company receiving FDA approval to marketA&-726 product candidate in the United States of Amettiea,
Company would issue 8,828,029 of the Milestone Shares.

Employees

We currently have two full time and one part time em@ésy including: our Chief Operating and Financial Officet o persons in
business development, clinical management, administratibfirance. None of our employees is covered by a caléebairgaining
unit. We believe our relations with our employees aiisfaatory.
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Additional Public Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the SiesuExchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Actl)inaaiccordance

with such laws we file annual, quarterly and current rispand other information with the Securities and Exghag@ommission (the “SEC”).
The SEC maintains a website that contains annual,ejlyaand current reports, proxy and information stat@sand other information filed
with the SEC. The SEC’s website address is www.sec.goau may also read and copy any document we fille thieé SEC at the SEC’s
public reference room, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, 20649. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for furthematmn on the
operation of its public reference room. The inforiorative file with the SEC and other information abouisusEso available on our website at

www.manhattanpharma.comHowever, the information on our website is not & pamor is such information to be deemed incorporated by
reference into, this report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities is speculative in natur@/\ieg a high degree of risk, and should not be made by an inwégtor
cannot bear the economic risk of its investment for an miteefperiod of time and who cannot afford the loss of its emirestment. You
should carefully consider the following risk factors and the othernmhtion contained elsewhere in this Annual Report before making
investment in our securities.

Risks Related to Our Business

We currently have no product revenues, we are unlikelyathave product revenues in the foreseeable future, amdll need to raise
substantial additional funds to continue operations. Ifwe are unable to obtain the funds necessary to contiawur operations, we will
be required to delay, scale back or eliminate one or one of our remaining drug development programs and may notontinue as a
going concern.

We have generated no product revenues to date and wilhtilp and if, we receive approval from the FDA and otlegulatory authorities for
any of our product candidates. We have already spent stiéstands developing our potential products and busimesgever, and we
expect to continue to have negative cash flow fromoperations for at least the next several years. Aszoember 31, 2010, we had
$478,668 of cash and cash equivalenBuring the first quarter of 2011 we received $500,000 fronNibrelic Settlement. We expect funding
of approximately $244,000 from the US Government’s Qualiffihgrapeutic Discovery Project (“QTDP”) in the second tpuasf 2011. We
expect these shall be sufficient to fund our operatioroigh the end of 2011. We will still have to raise substbatiditional funds to
complete the development of our product candidates anthtpthem to market. Beyond the capital requirementsioresd above, our future
capital requirements will depend on numerous factors,dimal:

» theresults of any clinical trials;

» the scope and results of our research and developnogmaprs;

« the time required to obtain regulatory approvals;

« our ability to establish and maintain marketing allianaed collaborative agreements; and

» the cost of our internal marketing activities.

Our history of operating losses, lack of product revenares the conversion and anti-dilution features ofcutstanding securities may make
it difficult to raise capital on acceptable terms tala If adequate funds are not available, we wiltéguired to delay, scale back or eliminate
one or more of our drug development programs or obtmidsfthrough arrangements with collaborative partnerthersthat may require us
to relinquish rights to certain of our technologiepraducts that we would not otherwise relinquish. Odependent Registered Public
Accounting Firm has concluded that our net losses, negedish flow, accumulated deficit and negative working dagstaf December 31,
2010, raise substantial doubt about our ability to contiswegoing concern. The inclusion of a going concern explgnaaoagraph in the
report of our Independent Registered Public Accounting Fidirmaike it more difficult for us to secure additional ficang or enter into
strategic relationships with distributors on terms acddpta us, if at all, and likely will materially and aatgely affect the terms of any
financing that we may obtain.

We have incurred substantial losses and negative cash flémm operations.

We have a history of losses and expect to incur sutsitéogses and negative operating cash flow for theséeable future, and we may
never achieve or maintain profitability. We haveuimed operating losses in every period since our inmepin August 6, 2001, except for
the year ended December 31, 2010. For the year ended Bcgin 2010 we realized net income of $623,645 and for theddesia August
6, 2001 (inception) through December 31, 2010, we incurreldseets applicable to common shares of $61,309,790. Evensiieceed in
developing and commercializing one or more of our prodaigtiidates, we expect to incur substantial losses édothseeable future and
may never become profitable. We also expect to coatia incur significant operating and capital expenditures rindgate that our
expenses will increase substantially in the foresedatlee as we:

« continue to undertake nonclinical development and clitiigds for our product candidates;

e seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

« implement additional internal systems and infrastrgtur
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« |ease additional or alternative office facilities; and
« hire additional personnel.

We also expect to experience negative cash flow for tresdeable future as we fund our operating losses analcegitenditures. As a

result, we will need to generate significant revenuwesrder to achieve and maintain profitability. We nmmy be able to generate these
revenues or achieve profitability in the future. Oulufa to achieve or maintain profitability could negalivimpact the value of our Common
Stock.

If we fail to generate revenues, or if operating expeesgesed our expectations or cannot be adjusted accordinglgyayenot achieve
profitability and the value of your investment could dezlsignificantly.

We have a limited operating history upon which to base amvestment decision.

We are a development-stage company with only two full-Bmeloyees and one part-time employee and have not yehdiated any
ability to perform the functions necessary for tbecessful commercialization of any product candidatese sticcessful commercialization
of our product candidates will require us to perform a waoefunctions, including:

e continuing to undertake nonclinical development and clinticals;

e  participating in regulatory approval processes;

« formulating and manufacturing products; and

e conducting sales and marketing activities.

Since inception as Manhattan Research Development, tnaperations have been limited to organizing and stpféind acquiring,
developing and securing our proprietary technology and taidieg nonclinical and clinical trials of principal prodweindidates. These
operations provide a limited basis for you to assessalaility to commercialize our product candidates dredadvisability of investing in our
securities.

We did not engage financial advisors to evaluate the fairne®f the consideration that was paid (and that may be paichithe future) to

the former stockholders and noteholders of Aristonn connection with the Ariston Merger. We can provide n assurance that the fair
value of the consideration paid (and that may be paid in # future) to the former stockholders and noteholderof Ariston in the

Ariston Merger will not exceed the fair value of theassets acquired.

In connection with the Ariston Merger, the merger sibsy of the combined company assumed Ariston's indebtedrfiegsproximately
$16.5 million. Such indebtedness may negatively impacalaility to raise sufficient additional capital to fundr operations.

Ariston may have liabilities that were unknown at the time of the consummation of the Ariston Merger that becam liabilities of the
Company’s upon consummation of the Ariston Merger.

There may be liabilities of Ariston and/or its hfftes that were unknown at the time of the consation of the Ariston Merger. As a result of
the Ariston Merger, any such unknown liabilities maydee liabilities of the combined company. In the everyt such liabilities become
known following the Ariston Merger, they may lead toirtla against a subsidiary of the combined company, ingudirt not limited to
lawsuits, administrative proceedings, and other clainmy; guch liabilities may subject the combined companintoeased expenses for
attorneys’ fees, fines, litigation expenses, and exparssxiated with any subsequent settlements or judgmert® d&n be no assurances
that such unknown liabilities do not exist. To the ekt@at such liabilities become known following the £gsis Merger, any such liability-
related expenses may materially impact the combinegh@oy's financial condition and results of operations.

We depend greatly on the intellectual capabilities and exgpience of our key executive, and the loss of him dduaffect our ability to
develop our remaining products.

We had only two full-time and one part-time employeesfddarch 15, 2011. The loss of Michael G. McGuinness, ouef@yperating and
Financial Officer, could harm us. Mr. McGuinness’ emplogtregreement with the Company expired in July 2009. Mr. McGuirress
been working for the Company on the same terms andittons that were set forth in the employment ageserthat expired. We cannot
predict our success in hiring or retaining the personnekgeire for continued operations or whether we willehtine financial ability to do
Sso.
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We may not obtain the necessary U.S. or worldwide regulaty approvals to commercialize our product candidates.

We will need FDA approval to commercialize our prodtastdidates in the U.S. and approvals from the FDA atgrnit regulatory authorities
in foreign jurisdictions to commercialize our produahdidates in those jurisdictions. In order to obtain Fipfroval of any of our product
candidates, we must first submit to the FDA an IND, Wwividl set forth our plans for clinical testing of ouoduct candidates. We are
unable to estimate the size and timing of the clinicalremdclinical trials required to bring our product candddab market and, accordingly,
cannot estimate the time when development of these proandidates will be completed.

When the clinical testing for our product candidates ispiete, we will submit to the FDA an NDA or PMA demaasihg that the product
candidate is safe for humans and effective for its @egdruse. This demonstration requires significant reseacthramal tests, which are
referred to as nonclinical studies, as well as humas, tekich are referred to as clinical trials. Satistm of the FDA'’s regulatory
requirements typically takes many years, depends upon thectypplexity and novelty of the product candidate augiires substantial
resources for research, development and testing. awfetpredict whether our research and clinical appesaefil result in drugs that the
FDA considers safe for humans and effective for tgid uses. The FDA has substantial discretion in the giqrg\aal process and may
require us to conduct additional nonclinical and clinicsting or to perform post-marketing studies. The appmmaess may also be
delayed by changes in government regulation, future legislatiadministrative action or changes in FDA policy thetur prior to or during
our regulatory review. Delays in obtaining regulatoryrapgls may:

» delay commercialization of, and our ability to deriveduct revenues from, our product candidates;

e impose costly procedures on us; and

« diminish any competitive advantages that we may othemrviggy.

Even if we comply with all FDA requests, the FDA matymétely reject any or all of our future NDAs. We cahhe sure that we will ever
obtain regulatory clearance for any of our product canedailure to obtain FDA approval of any of our pradandidates will severely
undermine our business by reducing our number of salateigis and, therefore, corresponding product revenues.

In foreign jurisdictions, we must receive approval fribra appropriate regulatory authorities before we camneercialize our drugs. Foreign
regulatory approval processes generally include allefidiks associated with the FDA approval proceduresibdedcabove. We have not yet
made any determination as to which foreign jurisdictwwasnay seek approval and have not undertaken any steptatn approvals in any
foreign jurisdiction.

Clinical trials are very expensive, time consuming and fficult to design and implement.

Human clinical trials are very expensive and difficultiesign and implement, in part because they are subjegbtous regulatory
requirements. The clinical trial process is also toaresuming. We estimate that clinical trials of our prodacdidates will take at least
several years to complete. Furthermore, failure caorcat any stage of the trials, and we could encopntdtems that cause us to abandon
or repeat clinical trials. The commencement and comoplef clinical trials may be delayed by several factorsluding:

e unforeseen safety issues;

« determination of dosing issues;

» lack of effectiveness during clinical trials;

» slower than expected rates of patient recruitment;

» inability to monitor patients adequately during or afteatment; and

» inability or unwillingness of medical investigatoosfollow our clinical protocols.

In addition, we or the FDA may suspend our clinical trélany time if it appears that we are exposing partici@mninacceptable health
risks or if the FDA finds deficiencies in our IND subniiss or the conduct of these trials.
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The results of our clinical trials may not support ourproduct candidate claims.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as planrvegl cannot be certain that their results will support oadyet candidate claims. Success in
nonclinical testing and early clinical trials does ansure that later clinical trials will be successlnd we cannot be sure that the results of
later clinical trials will replicate the results ofiqr clinical trials and nonclinical testing. The clini¢all process may fail to demonstrate that
our product candidates are safe for humans or effecniedicated uses. This failure would cause us to abandordact candidate and may
delay development of other product candidates. Any delayritermination of, our clinical trials will delay tfitng of our NDAs with the

FDA and, ultimately, our ability to commercializerqaroduct candidates and generate product revenues. lioaddie anticipate that our
clinical trials will involve only a small patient pogation. Accordingly, the results of such trials may Ip@indicative of future results over a
larger patient population.

Physicians and patients may not accept and use our produsct

Even if the FDA approves our product candidates, physaad patients may not accept and use them. Accetadeese of our product
will depend upon a number of factors including:

e perceptions by members of the health care communitiydimg physicians, about the safety and effectivenéssir drugs;

» cost-effectiveness of our product relative to competiogyots;

« availability of reimbursement for our products from gowveent or other healthcare payers; and

» effectiveness of marketing and distribution efforts by wbs@ur licensees and distributors, if any.

Because we expect sales of our current product candidatpproved, to generate substantially all of our prodenemues for the foreseeable
future, the failure of any of these drugs to find markeeptance would harm our business and could require us tadidnal financing.

Our product-development program depends upon third-paty researchers who are outside our control.

We currently are collaborating with several third-paesearchers, for the development of our product candidAEsordingly, the successful
development of our product candidates will depend on the pafare of these third parties. These collaboratdtsiat be our employees,
however, and we cannot control the amount or timingswueces that they will devote to our programs. Our botiators may not assign as
great a priority to our programs or pursue them agatitly as we would if we were undertaking such program&lveis If outside
collaborators fail to devote sufficient time and resoutoesur drug-development programs, or if their perforogais substandard, the
approval of our FDA applications, if any, and our introchrcof new drugs, if any, will be delayed. These collabms may also have
relationships with other commercial entities, sormhettom may compete with us. If our collaborators aggistcompetitors at our expense,
our competitive position would be harmed.

We rely exclusively on third parties to formulate andmanufacture our product candidates.

We have no experience in drug formulation or manufagjusind do not intend to establish our own manufacturingitiesi We lack the
resources and expertise to formulate or manufacturevauproduct candidates. We intend to contract with emecve manufacturers to
manufacture, supply, store and distribute drug suppliesufoclimical trials. If any of our product candidates receive FDA approvakwille
rely on one or more third-party contractors to manufaobur drugs. Our anticipated future reliance on adidnnumber of third-party
manufacturers, exposes us to the following risks:

*  We may be unable to identify manufacturers on acceptetstestor at all because the number of potential matunés is
limited and the FDA must approve any replacement cdoirad his approval would require new testing and compéianc
inspections. In addition, a new manufacturer would habe teducated in, or develop substantially equivalent preedss
production of our products after receipt of FDA approvainy.

«  Our third-party manufacturers might be unable to formetad manufacture our drugs in the volume and of thetyjuadjuired
to meet our clinical needs and commercial needs, if any
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e Our future contract manufacturers may not perform aseagor may not remain in the contract manufacturing bssifoe the
time required to supply our clinical trials or to succesgfptbduce, store and distribute our products.

« Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing periodic unanedunspection by the FDA, the Drug Enforcement Ageany
corresponding state agencies to ensure strict compheititgood manufacturing practice and other governmentaggas and
corresponding foreign standards. We do not have controkluveé+party manufacturers’ compliance with these regulatamd
standards.

« If any third-party manufacturer makes improvements éntlanufacturing process for our products, we may nof ommay
have to share, the intellectual property rights tarthevation.

We have no experience selling, marketing or distributinggroducts and no internal capability to do so.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distributiorab#iies. We do not anticipate having the resources@rforeseeable future to
allocate to the sales and marketing of our proposed piod@uir future success depends, in part, on our abilégter into and maintain such
collaborative relationships, the collaborator’s sigat interest in the products under development and suchamaitalis ability to
successfully market and sell any such products. We intgnd soe collaborative arrangements regarding the salesanketing of our
products, however, there can be no assurance that Idgevaible to establish or maintain such collaboraivangements, or if able to do so,
that they will have effective sales forces. Toéeent that we decide not to, or are unable to, @mieicollaborative arrangements with
respect to the sales and marketing of our proposed prosligeidicant capital expenditures, management resourcesrmaeavill be required

to establish and develop an in-house marketing and sateswiah technical expertise. There can also be noasseithat we will be able to
establish or maintain relationships with third party dmtators or develop in-house sales and distribution cépeil To the extent that we
depend on third parties for marketing and distribution,ramgnues we receive will depend upon the efforts of dudhparties, and there can
be no assurance that such efforts will be successfidddition, there can also be no assurance that weewvible to market and sell our
product in the United States or overseas.

If we cannot compete successfully for market share againsther drug companies, we may not achieve sufficient pduct revenues and
our business will suffer.

The market for our product candidates is characterizédtdéyse competition and rapid technological advaritesr product candidates
receive FDA approval, they will compete with a numdieexisting and future drugs and therapies developed, manuthetudemarketed by
others. Existing or future competing products may progigater therapeutic convenience or clinical or diieerefits for a specific indication
than our products, or may offer comparable performanaédaater cost. If our products fail to capture and naammarket share, we may not
achieve sufficient product revenues and our businessuiftr.

We will compete against fully integrated pharmaceutioatganies and smaller companies that are collaborating wger [pharmaceutical
companies, academic institutions, government agenatesthar public and private research organizations.yMéthese competitors have
product candidates that will compete with ours already appror in development. In addition, many of these congstieither alone or
together with their collaborative partners, operatgdaresearch and development programs and have substangatisrgmancial resources
than we do, as well as significantly greater experiemce i

« developing drugs;

« undertaking nonclinical testing and human clinical ial

e obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of drugs;

« formulating and manufacturing drugs; and

« launching, marketing and selling drugs.

Developments by competitors may render our products otechnologies obsolete or non-competitive.

Many of the organizations competing with us have substhrgreater capital resources, larger research anelg@went staffs and facilities,
longer drug development history in obtaining regulatory apgscand greater manufacturing and marketing capasittien we do. These
organizations also compete with us to attract qualifiedgmerel, parties for acquisitions, joint ventures bdeptollaborations.

21




If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our intelletual property rights or secure rights to patents of dbers, the value of our
intellectual property rights would diminish.

Our success, competitive position and future revenuésieyiend in part on our ability and the abilities of bcensors to obtain and maintain
patent protection for our products, methods, processg@®ther technologies, to preserve our trade setwgisgvent third parties from
infringing on our proprietary rights and to operate withiafringing the proprietary rights of third parties.

See “Business — Intellectual Property and Licenseéwments.”.

However, with regard to the patents covered by our licagreements and any future patents issued to which we wél ights, we cannot
predict:
» the degree and range of protection any patents willcatie against competitors including whether third pawiidl find ways to
invalidate or otherwise circumvent our patents;
« if and when patents will issue;
» whether or not others will obtain patents claiming atgpsimilar to those covered by our patents and pateritajuhs; or
« whether we will need to initiate litigation or adnstrative proceedings which may be costly whether we winsar.

Our success also depends upon the skills, knowledge andegxeeof our scientific and technical personnel, ourdtargs and advisors as
well as our licensors and contractors. To helpgatabur proprietary know-how and our inventions foralippatents may be unobtainable or
difficult to obtain, we rely on trade secret protectiomd confidentiality agreements. To this end, we realiiregf our employees, consultants,
advisors and contractors to enter into agreementdwgnahibit the disclosure of confidential information anwtigre applicable, require
disclosure and assignment to us of the ideas, developmestsyalies and inventions important to our businessseragreements may not
provide adequate protection for our trade secrets, knowen@ther proprietary information in the event nyainauthorized use or disclosure
or the lawful development by others of such informatifrany of our trade secrets, know-how or other progrieinformation is disclosed,
the value of our trade secrets, know-how and otherigtary rights would be significantly impaired and ousibess and competitive position
would suffer.

If we infringe the rights of third parties we could beprevented from selling products, forced to pay damageand defend against
litigation, which could adversely affect our ability toexecute our business plan.

Our business is substantially dependent on the intellgutoaérty on which our product candidates are based. Toveateave not received
any threats or claims that we may be infringing on am@tipatents or other intellectual property rightsouf products, methods, processes
and other technologies infringe the proprietary rightstloer parties, we could incur substantial costs amdnay have to:

e obtain licenses, which may not be available on coromaléy reasonable terms, if at all;

« redesign our products or processes to avoid infringement;

e stop using the subject matter claimed in the patentsbyaithers;

e pay damages; or

» defend litigation or administrative proceedings which meyostly whether we win or lose, and which could résult

substantial diversion of our valuable management resources

Our ability to generate product revenues will be dimimshed if our drugs sell for inadequate prices or patiets are unable to obtain
adequate levels of reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize our drug candidates, alaneith collaborators, will depend in part on the extenvhich reimbursement will be
available from:

e government and health administration authorities;

e private health maintenance organizations and healtherssiand

« other healthcare payers.

22




Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursenstatus of newly approved healthcare products. Healtpegers, including Medicare, are
challenging the prices charged for medical products awitssr Government and other healthcare payers incréasittgmpt to contain
healthcare costs by limiting both coverage and the leuwdimibursement for drugs. Even if our product candidatespproved by the FDA,
insurance coverage may not be available, and reimbergdevels may be inadequate, to cover our drugs.véfrgment and other healthcare
payers do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursenestfte any of our products, once approved, market actepta our products
could be reduced.

Health care reform and restrictions on reimbursementmay limit our returns on potential products.

Because our strategy ultimately depends on the commeucie¢ss of our products, we assume, among other thingsnthasers of our
products will be able to pay for them. In the United&tand other countries, in most cases, the volunede of products like those we are
developing depends on the availability of reimbursement fhard-party payors, including national health care aganprivate health
insurance plans and health maintenance organizafibirsl-party payors increasingly challenge the pricesggthfor medical products and
services. Accordingly, if we succeed in bringing productaaoket, and reimbursement is not available or isfiicgent, we could be
prevented from successfully commercializing our poteptiadiucts.

The health care industry in the United States and in Eusapedergoing fundamental changes as a result of poligcahomic and regulatory
influences. Reforms proposed from time to time includedated basic health care benefits, controls on hea#tspanding, the
establishment of governmental controls over the castevbpies, creation of large medical services and preguecthasing groups and
fundamental changes to the health care delivery systenantitipate ongoing review and assessment of heakhdelivery systems and
methods of payment in the United States and other ceantie cannot predict whether any particular reforrmatives will result or, if
adopted, what their impact on us will be. However, we exbet adoption of any reform proposed will impair outipbio market products
at acceptable prices.

Changes in laws affecting the health care industry could agrsely affect our business.

In the U.S., there have been numerous proposals coesidethe federal and state levels for comprehensfoens of health care and its cost,
and it is likely that federal and state legislaturestegadth agencies will continue to focus on health cammein the future. Congress has
considered legislation to reform the U.S. health cgstem by expanding health insurance coverage, reducing haadtbasts and making
other changes. While health care reform may incréesseumber of patients who have insurance coverageifgroducts, it may also include
cost containment measures that adversely affect regatmant for our products. Congress has also considgisthten to change the
Medicare reimbursement system for outpatient drugs,aserthe amount of rebates that manufacturers pay foracmevef their drugs by
Medicaid programs and facilitate the importation of Iowest prescription drugs that are marketed outside theSdi8e states are also
considering legislation that would control the prices ofdr and state Medicaid programs are increasingly reggestinufacturers to pay
supplemental rebates and requiring prior authorization bgt#te program for use of any drug for which supplemeeibaltes are not being
paid. Managed care organizations continue to seek pricaudiscand, in some cases, to impose restrictions arotrexage of particular
drugs. Government efforts to reduce Medicaid expenseseadytd increased use of managed care organizations bgditiedrograms. This
may result in managed care organizations influencingppéi®n decisions for a larger segment of the populatioreasairesponding
constraint on prices and reimbursement for our products

We operate in a highly regulated industry. As a result, govantahactions may adversely affect our business, opasatr financial
condition, including:
* new laws, regulations or judicial decisions, or newripitetations of existing laws, regulations or decisioglated to health care
availability, method of delivery and payment for hleaare products and services;
« changes in the FDA and foreign regulatory approval pseEsethat may delay or prevent the approval of nedupts and result
in lost market opportunity;
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« changes in FDA and foreign regulations that may require additgafety monitoring, labeling changes, restrictiongroduct
distribution or use, or other measures after thedwicton of our products to market, which could increasecosiis of doing
business, adversely affect the future permitted usgspobeed products, or otherwise adversely affect the méokeur
products;

* new laws, regulations and judicial decisions affectingmg or marketing practices; and

« changes in the tax laws relating to our operations.

The enactment in the U.S. of health care reform, pleskgislation which could ease the entry of compeitigw-on biologics in the
marketplace, new legislation or implementation of existtagutory provisions on importation of lower-cost compgtiinugs from other
jurisdictions, and legislation on comparative effectagnresearch are examples of previously enacted antlpdgtire changes in laws that
could adversely affect our business. In addition, the FoddDaug Administration Amendments Act of 2007 included new aizthioon for

the FDA to require post-market safety monitoring, glaith an expanded clinical trials registry and clinical ¢ri@sults database, and
expanded authority for the FDA to impose civil monetanygltees on companies that fail to meet certain comsniti

If we are not successful in integrating Ariston’'s prodet development programs, we may not be able to operatefiefently after the
Ariston Merger, which may have a material adverse effeabn our results of operations and financial condition.

Achieving the benefits of the Ariston Merger will depen part on the successful integration of Ariston's drugldement programs in a
timely and efficient manner. The integration proaesgiires coordination of different development, regulatorg,raanufacturing teams, and
involves the integration of systems, applicationsicpes, procedures, business processes and operafiaescédnnot successfully integrate
Ariston's programs, we may not realize the expectedfitef the Ariston Merger.

We may incur substantial liabilities and may be required o limit commercialization of our products in responseo product liability
lawsuits.

The testing and marketing of medical products entail agrémt risk of product liability. If we cannot successfulefend ourselves against
product liability claims, we may incur substantial ligies or be required to limit commercializationafr products. We generally carry
clinical trial insurance in an amount up to $5,000,000 whelare conducting clinical trials, which may be inadequapedtect against
potential product liability claims or may inhibit thenamercialization of pharmaceutical products we developeatorwith corporate
collaborators. Although we intend to maintain clinical insurance during any clinical trials, this mayiadequate to protect us against any
potential claims. Even if our agreements with any futarporate collaborators entitle us to indemnificatioairag} losses, such
indemnification may not be available or adequate shouyldlam arise.

We are controlled by current officers, directors and pincipal stockholders.

Our directors, executive officers and principal stockhaldeneficially own approximately 19% percent of our ontditeg voting stock and,
including shares underlying outstanding options and warramien the anticipated conversion of the Secured 12% Notetharresultant
anti-dilution adjustments to our outstanding warrants,gketentage will drop to 8%. Prior to the anticipatedseosion of the Secured 12%
Notes and even without the exercise of its right&cguire additional shares of our common stock, our dirgobdiicers and principal
stockholders, taken as a whole, have the ability to exédtantial influence over the election of our BoarDigéctors and the outcome of
issues submitted to our stockholders.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price is, and we expect it to remain, volalg, which could limit investors’ ability to sell stack at a profit.

During the last two fiscal years, our stock price thaded at a low of $0.016 in the fourth quarter of 2010 tola ¢fi0.085 in the second
quarter of 2009. The volatile price of our stock makedfitdit for investors to predict the value of theiv@stment, to sell shares at a profit
at any given time, or to plan purchases and sales imeaelvaA variety of factors may affect the market@f our common stock. These
include, but are not limited to:
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» The global economic crisis, which affected stock pricasariy companies, and particularly many small pharmasaduti
companies like ours;

«  publicity regarding actual or potential clinical resukkating to products under development by our competitaus;or

« delay or failure in initiating, completing or analyzingnclinical or clinical trials or the unsatisfactatgsign or results of these
trials;

« achievement or rejection of regulatory approvals by oorpetitors or us;

e announcements of technological innovations or new comiatig@roducts by our competitors or us;

» developments concerning proprietary rights, including psiten

» developments concerning our collaborations;

« regulatory developments in the United States and for@gntdes;

e economic or other crises and other external factors;

»  period-to-period fluctuations in our revenues and othertsestibperations;

« changes in financial estimates by securities analystls; an

e sales of our common stock.

We will not be able to control many of these factarsd we believe that period-to-period comparisons ofieancial results will not
necessarily be indicative of our future performance.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the markdiifdechnology companies in particular, has experiencednegtpeice and volume
fluctuations that may have been unrelated or dispropotéidnahe operating performance of individual companidsese broad market and
industry factors may seriously harm the market priceuofcommon stock, regardless of our operating performance.

Our Common Stock is not listed on a national exchange antiére is a limited market for the Common Stock which my make it more
difficult for you to sell your stock.

Our Common Stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board utidesymbol "MHAN.OB." There is a limited trading matrke our Common
Stock which negatively impacts the liquidity of our Comm$tock not only in terms of the number of shares ¢tlan be bought and sold at a
given price, but also through delays in the timing ohdextions and reduction in security analysts’ and the nsedi@verage of
us. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as tagilidity of any markets that may develop for the CommomwriStihne ability of holders of
our Common Stock to sell the Common Stock, or the patavhich holders may be able to sell the CommookSto

The fact that our common stock is not listed on a naticad exchange may negatively impact our ability to attract invests and to use
our common stock to raise capital to fund our operations.

In order to maintain liquidity in our common stock, we depepoh the continuing availability of a market on which @ausities may be
traded. We need to raise substantial additional funtheeifuture to continue our operations and the factdahatommon stock is not listed on
a national exchange may impact our ability to attractstors and to use our common stock to raise sufficagital to continue to fund our
operations. See the Risk FactdVe currently have no product revenues, we are unlikehhave product revenues in the foreseeable
future, and will need to raise substantial additional funds tontinue operations. If we are unable to obtain the funds nesary to

continue our operations, we will be required to delay, sdadek or eliminate one or more of our remaining drug developmerggrams

and may not continue as a going concerabove.

If we falil to file periodic reports with the SEC our common stock may be removed from the OTCBB.

Pursuant to the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board ("OTOBMRles relating to the timely filing of periodic repowih the SEC, any OTCBB
issuer which fails to file a periodic report (Form 10-@'d0-K's) by the due date of such report (as extendedebfiling of a Form 12b-25),
three (3) times during any twenty-four (24) month period israatically de-listed from the OTCBB. In the eventissuer is de-listed, such
issuer would not be eligible to be re-listed on the OT@@Ba period of one-year, during which time any subsedaénfiling would reset the
one-year period of de-listing. If the Company is latésrfilings three times in any twenty-four (24) month pdrand is de-listed from the
OTCBB, the Common Stock would likely be listed for tradonly on the “Pink Sheets,” which generally provigeexen less liquid market
than the OTCBB. In such event, investors may finchdtre difficult to trade the Common Stock or to obtagturate, current information
concerning market prices for the Common Stock.
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There is a risk of market fraud.

OTCBB securities are frequent targets of fraud or mariatipulation. Not only because of their generally low pricg,diso because the
OTCBB reporting requirements for these securities asedemgent than for listed or Nasdaq traded securitiesna exchange requirements
are imposed. Dealers may dominate the market and sesghat are not based on competitive forces. Individualgroups may create
fraudulent markets and control the sudden, sharp incréase®and trading volume and the equally sudden collapse é&ktyaices.

Penny stock regulations may impose certain restrictionsromarketability of our securities.

The Securities and Exchange Commission has adopted Rule 15gR9estaiblishes the definition of a “penny stock,” for theppses
relevant to us, as any equity security that has a mariketgf less than $5.00 per share or with an exercise pfiess than $5.00 per share,
subject to certain exceptions. For any transaction vinygla penny stock, unless exempt, the rules require:
« that a broker or dealer approve a person’s accoutriafosactions in penny stocks; and
» the broker or dealer receives from the investor #emiagreement to the transaction, setting forthdemetity and quantity of the
penny stock to be purchased.

In order to approve a person’s account for transactiopenny stocks, the broker or dealer must:

« obtain financial information and investment experiergedives of the person; and

* make a reasonable determination that the transadtiggesniny stocks are suitable for that person and the peasosufficient

knowledge and experience in financial matters to be capablabfating the risks of transactions in penny stocks.

The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior to aagdaction in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule fgreddry the Commission relating
to the penny stock market, which, in highlight form:

» sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer rirsdsuitability determination; and

« that the broker or dealer received a signed, writteeesmgent from the investor prior to the transaction.

Generally, brokers may be less willing to execute aetisns in securities subject to the “penny stock” ruldss may make it more difficult
for investors to dispose of our Common Stock and cadselme in the market value of our stock.

Disclosure also must be made about the risks of investipgnny stocks in both public offerings and in secondadirtgaand about the
commissions payable to both the broker-dealer and tnstes=d representative, current quotations for the sissuanhd the rights and
remedies available to an investor in cases of fraygeimy stock transactions. Finally, monthly statemkat® to be sent disclosing recent
price information for the penny stock held in the accaunat information on the limited market in penny stocks.

As a result of anticipated conversions of our outstandin§ecured 12% Notes and the effect of anti-dilution proviens in, and which we
expect will be added to, our outstanding warrants, the Hders of our common stock will experience substantiadilution.

In connection with the extension of the maturity of teeuted 12% Notes, we have agreed to take prompt stepskitosreduce our
outstanding indebtedness to the Noteholders by permittingdtatolders to convert the Secured 12% Notes into shhoes common stock
at a conversion price of $0.01 per share. In additioragieed to change the terms of the warrants issuedhgitB8dcured 12% Notes by
adding full ratchet anti-dilution rights. If the Secured 1128tes convert into common stock at a conversion @fi&d.01 the anti-dilution
rights of the warrants issued with Secured 12% Notesydheants issued with the Convertible 12% Note and #ireants issued in the 2010
Equity Pipe transaction will be triggered causing signifigemiéntial dilution to our current stockholders.
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We anticipate implementing a reverse split of our outstanidlg shares of common stock, which may not result in lsigher stock price
per share.

We have asked our stockholders to authorize our boandpiement a reverse split of our outstanding sharesromon stock, the exact split
ratio within a range of 25:1 to 50:1 to be determined byBmarrd of Directors, in its sole discretion. If weewe that approval, and if our
board determines to implement that reverse stock $pite tcan be no assurances that the price per shaue@mmon stock will increase
proportionately with the reverse stock split, or at all.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do not expetit pay dividends in the future, and any return on invenent may be limited
to the value of your stock.

We have never paid dividends on our Common Stock and daticipate paying any dividends for the foreseeable futi@u should not
rely on an investment in our stock if you require dividemmbme. Further, you will only realize income oniavestment in our stock in the
event you sell or otherwise dispose of your sharepate higher than the price you paid for your sharesh &ugain would result only from
an increase in the market price of our Common Stock,hwkiancertain and unpredictable.

If we are unable to obtain future capital on acceptabléerms, this will negatively affect our business operains and current investors.

We expect that in the future we will seek additional cagitmugh public or private financings. Additional financingymot be available on
acceptable terms, or at all. If additional capitabised through the sale of equity, or securities convVeritito equity, further dilution to then
existing stockholders will result. In addition, certaiarmnts held by certain of our investors containratthet anti-dilution protection
provisions which would result in significant dilutionagisting stockholders in the event we are required e reapital at an effective price
per share below $0.07 per common share or if the SecuretN&R% convert, as anticipated, into common stock at $&0tommon

share. If additional capital is raised through the irenge of debt, our business could be affected by the d@roblaverage incurred. For
instance, such borrowings could subject us to covenantigtiagt our business activities, paying interest wouleedifunds that would
otherwise be available to support commercializationathedr important activities, and holders of debt insemnts would have rights and
privileges senior to those of equity investors. If we amable to obtain adequate financing on a timely pasisnay be required to delay,
reduce the scope of or eliminate some of our plannedtadj\any of which could have a material adverse effiedhe business.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our executive offices are located at 48 Wall Street, Mevk, New York 10005. We currently occupy this space pursoaat
written lease that expires on September 30, 2011 under whiphywent of approximately $4,000 per month.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequataeet our current requirements. We do not own any repkepty.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
None.

ITEM 4. REMOVED AND RESERVED
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market for Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on the Over the Counter lBuB®ard (“OCTBB”) under the symbol “MHAN”". The faiving table
lists the high and low price for our common stock as gljateU.S. dollars, on the Over the Counter BulletimfBdfor the periods indicated:

Price Range

2010 2009

Quarter Ended High Low High Low

0.06C $
0.04¢
0.02¢
0.01¢€

0.06C $
0.12C
0.10C¢
0.09C

0.08¢ $
0.08t
0.05C
0.04C

March 31 $
June 30

September 30

December 31

Stock Chart
Comparison to NASDAQ Biotechnology Index

B ptanhattan Fharma | @ Bisteoh |

21 Deoember 2008 - 3 Janwary 2011

:mll
% \Tlf N
il i;l'J|:hi? ._

| | || :uﬁ’fl_

|,_,\_4.1_n: J‘.\

= 3 S

el i

0.00¢
0.021
0.07C¢
0.06(

1350.0%
1.300.0%
1250.0%
1.200.0%
1,450.0%
1.100.0%
1.050.0%
1.000.0%
GE0.0%
Q[O0, 0%
S50.0%
S00,0%
TED 0%
FO0.0%
BE0.0%
o00.0%
S50.0%
S00.0%
50.0%
S00.0%
A50.0%
300.0%
250.0%
200,0%
150.0%

¥ 100 0%

S0.0%

“|oo%

2005 20140

Record Holders
The number of holders of record of our common stock 8%aoch 23, 2011 was 589.
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Dividends

We have not paid or declared any dividends on our constomk and we do not anticipate paying dividends on aunuan stock in
the foreseeable future, but intend instead to retainregsnif any, for use in our business operations. The payohelividends in the future,
if any, will be at the sole discretion of our boafadimectors and will depend upon our debt and equity structur@nga and financial
condition, need for capital in connection with possiblerfe acquisitions and other factors, including econ@oinditions, regulatory
restrictions and tax considerations. We cannot gteeahat we will pay dividends or, if we pay dividends,ahmunt or frequency of these
dividends.

Stock Repurchases
We did not make any repurchases of our common stock durirtg 201

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compaation plans

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaing available for
future issuance under

Number of securities

Plan Category

to be issued upon
exercise of

outstanding options,

warrants and rights

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

equity compenstaion
plans (excluding securities
reflected in column (a))

(@)

(b)

(©)

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders
Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security holders - -
Total 11,574,93 $ 0.487 4,524,521

11,574,933 $ 0.487 4,524,52¢

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On September 11, 2008, the Registrant entered into a seti@®secured promissory notes with certain of its dirscand officers
and an employee of the Registrant (the “Note Holders"adgregate of $70,000. Principal and interest on the matepaid in cash in 2009
In connection with the issuance of the notes, the Ragisalso issued to the Note Holders 5-year warrargsrichase an aggregate of 140,000
shares of the Registrant's common stock at an exeraigeop $0.20 per share. The issuance of such securiteesomaidered to be exempt
from registration under the Securities Act in relianneSection 4(2) of the Securities Act, or Regulation @nrlgated thereunder, as a
transaction by an issuer not involving a public offerifigne recipient of such securities represented theimtioteto acquire the securities for
investment only and not with a view to or for saleamnection with any distribution thereof and appropiegends were affixed to the
warrant certificates issued in this transaction. Alipieats either received adequate information about us oca¢@ss to such information.

On February 3, 2009, the Registrant completed a privatenpdentethe "2009 Private Placement") of 345 units, witth eanit
consisting of a 12% senior secured promissory note iprtheipal amount of $5,000 and a warrant to purchase LBa®67 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $.09 per share wkpitee on December 31, 2013, for aggregate gross proceedg258D0. The
private placement was completed in three closings whichroed on November 19, 2008 with respect to 207 units, Dece2Bb2008 with
respect to 56 units and February 3, 2009 with respect w0i82

All of the investors represented in the 2009 Privadedthent represented that they were “accredited inggsts that term is
defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D under the Securiti¢sahad the sale of the units was made in relianaexemptions provided by
Regulation D and Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 188&mended.
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On March 2, 2010, the Company raised aggregate grosseai®of approximately $2,547,500 pursuant to a private platerfies securities
(the “2010 Equity Financing”). The Company entered suoscription agreements (the "Subscription Agreement#fi)sgventy-seven
accredited investors (the "Investors") pursuant to witielCompany sold an aggregate of 101.9 Units (as defined herea purchase price
of $25,000 per Unit. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreemtbr@€;ompany issued to each Investor units (the "Uratsisisting of (i)
357,143 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per shar€merfon Stock” or “Shares”) of the Company and (ii) 535, 71¢tamts
(each a “Warrant” and collectively the “Warrants”), leat which will entitle the holder to purchase one additishare of Common Stock for
a period of five years (each a “Warrant Share” and ety the “Warrant Shares”) at an exercise pric8@0D8 per share.

On April 8, 2010, the Company completed the final closihine 2010 Equity Financing. In connection with the filasiog, the
Company sold an aggregate of 2.4 additional Units and relceateproceeds of approximately $51,700 after payment aigregate of
$8,300 of commissions and expense allowance to placement gemnection with the final closing, the Company @&soed a warrant to
purchase 12,857 shares of Common Stock at an exercise ppe®8fper share to the placement agent as additional ccatiperfer its
services.

Also in connection with the final closing on April3)10, the holder of the Convertible 12% Note, exercisagptien to convert its
Convertible 12% Note (including all accrued interestebr) into 16.88 Units. The conversion price was equalet@ér Unit purchase price
paid by the Investors in the 2010 Equity Financing.

All of the Investors represented that they were ‘edited investors,” as that term is defined in Rule 50%(Regulation D under the
Securities Act, and the sale of the Units was madeliance on exemptions provided by Regulation D and Sect®)rofithe Securities Act
of 1933, as amended.

The Company received net proceeds of approximately $2idrmafter payment of an aggregate of $300,000 of conwnis&nd expense
allowance to the Placement Agent, and approximately $100,0@@af offering and related costs in connection withptiivate placement. In
addition, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 3,652 44 sif Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.08 per tshitue
Placement Agent as additional compensation for itscEsvi

The Company did not use any form of advertising or gesetaitation in connection with the sale of the Unlise Shares, the Warrants and
the Warrant Shares are non-transferable in the abs#ran effective registration statement under the @ain available exemption
therefrom, and all certificates are imprinted wittestrictive legend to that effect.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Overview

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1993 under the namaritdtl Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” and, in March 2000, we changed o
name to “Atlantic Technology Ventures, Inc.” In 2003,ceepleted a “reverse acquisition” of privately held “Mattdra Research
Development, Inc”. In connection with this transactior,also changed our name to “Manhattan Pharmaceutitals,Ffrom an accounting
perspective, the accounting acquirer is considered kdalpdattan Research Development, Inc. and accordingly, stegibal financial
statements are those of Manhattan Research Development

During 2005 we merged with Tarpan Therapeutics, Inc. (“Téjpal arpan was a privately held New York based bioplaaeutical
company developing dermatological therapeutics. This thasavas accounted for as a purchase of Tarpan by the @Ggmpa

On March 8, 2010, the Company entered into an Agreement anafWerger (the "Merger Agreement"”) by and among the
Company, Ariston Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delawarparation ("Ariston™) and Ariston Merger Corp., a Delagaorporation and wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (the "Merger Sub"). Putdadhe terms and conditions set forth in the MeAgneement, on March 8,
2010, the Merger Sub merged with and into Ariston (the "M#&rgeith Ariston being the surviving corporation of therger. As a result of
the Merger, Ariston became a wholly-owned subsidiary otwapany. The operating results of Ariston from Ma&cR010 to December
31, 2010 are included in the accompanying Consolidated StatenféDperations. The Consolidated Balance Shedtsogmber 31, 2010
reflects the acquisition of Ariston, effective March2810, the date of the Merger.

We are a specialty healthcare product company focusdewaioping and commercializing pharmaceutical treatnfents
underserved patients populations. We aim to acquire rigtiteste technologies by licensing or otherwise acquitnovwanership interest,
funding their research and development and eventually dithnging the technologies to market or out-licensing.

You should read the following discussion of our results efajons and financial condition in conjunction witle financial
statements and notes thereto appearing elsewheris Foim 10-K. This discussion includes “forward-lookirstiitements that reflect our
current views with respect to future events and findpegormance. We use words such as we “expect,” “gatiej” “believe,” and
“intend” and similar expressions to identify forwarah#ing statements. Investors should be aware thatlaetidts may differ materially
from our expressed expectations because of risks and ungest@herent in future events, particularly those ridéstified under the
heading “Risk Factors” following Item 1 in this Annual Repand should not unduly rely on these forward lookingestants.
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Results Of Operations

2010 versus 2009
During each of the years ended December 31, 2010 and 20868dwm revenues, and are considered a development stage
company. We do not expect to have revenues relatings goroducts prior to December 31, 2011.

Years ended December 31, Increase % Increase
2010 2009 (decrease) (decrease)
Costs and expenses:

Research and development:

Share-based compensation $ - 8 2,00C $ (2,000 -100.0(%

Other research and development expenses 496,00( 38,00( 458,00( 1205.2¢%
Total research and development expenses 496,00( 40,00( 456,00( 1140.0(%
General and administrative:

Share-based compensation 217,00( 351,00( (134,000 -38.1&%

Other general and administrative expenses 1,304,00( 1,380,00( (76,000 -5.51%
Total general and administrative expenses 1,521,00( 1,731,00( (210,000 -12.15%
Other income/(expense):

Equity in loss of Hedrin JV - (500,000 500,00( -100.0(%

Change in fair value of derivative 3,523,00( (560,000 4,083,00( N/A

Swiss Pharma settlement - 251,00( (251,000 N/A

Interest and amortization on notes payable (1,271,000 (548,000 (723,000 131.9%

Loss on early extinguishment of debt (159,000 - (159,000 N/A

Interest and other income 548,00( 335,00( 213,00( 63.58%
Total other income/(expense) 2,641,00( (1,022,000 3,663,00( -358.41%

Net income/(loss) $ 624,000 $ (2,793,000 $ 3,417,00! -122.3¢%

For the year ended December 31, 2010 research and deeelopxpense was $496,000 as compared to $40,000 for the year ende
December 31, 2009. This increase of $456,000, or 1,140%, is ityichae to the development activities of AST-726, a proddded to our
pipeline from the Ariston Merger. There were minimegearch and development activities during 2009.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 general and adntiméstengoense was $1,521,000 as compared to $1,731,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2009. This decrease of $210,000, or 12%,aslgrammprised of a decrease of $134,000 in share-based csatipan
and $44,000 in rent expense.

For the year ended December 31, 2010 other income/(expeateyas $2,641,000 as compared to $(1,022,000) for the st en
December 31, 2009. This change of $3,663,000 is due to the rgmogihi$4,083,000 of change in the fair value of a derivdiality, an
increase in interest expense of $723,000, an increase mratbme of $213,000, the recognition of a loss of $159,000 oedtthe
extinguishment of debt, and the recognition during 2009 of $500fGafudy in loss of Hedrin JV and a 2009 charge of $251,000rreltdi
the Swiss Pharma settlement with no corresponding amaugnized during 2010.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $624,000pared to a loss of $2,793,000 for the year ended December
31, 2009. This change of $3,417,000 is primarily due to a changfeeinimcome of $3,663,000 and a decrease in general and stdatine
expenses of $210,000 offset by an increase in research andhdesetexpenses of $456,000.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

From inception to December 31, 2010, we incurred a deficing the development stage of $61,310,000 primarily as & césur
net losses, and we expect to continue to incur additiosses through at least December 31, 2011 and for thedadgs future. These losses
have been incurred through a combination of research aetbgement activities related to the various technologieter our control and
expenses supporting those activities.

We have financed our operations since inception primémitygugh equity and debt financings and a joint ventarestiction. During
the year ended December 31, 2010, we had a net incneeesghi and cash equivalents of $461,000. This increase defsaftenet cash
provided by investing activities of $517,000 and net cash pradvagidinancing activities of $1,914,000 offset by cash used iratipg
activities of $1,970,000. Total liquid resources as of Beser 31, 2010 were $479,000 compared to $18,000 at December 31, 2009.

Our current liabilities as of December 31, 2010 were $3,293@0Pared to $2,532,000 at December 31, 2009, an increase of
$761,000. As of December 31, 2010, we had working capital efi$R,424,000 compared to working capital deficit of $2,268,000 a
December 31, 2009. These matters raise substantial douittlad@ompany’s ability to continue as a going camcdihe accompanying
financial statements do not include any adjustmentsrtigitt result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

During 2010, we received approximately $2,163,000 from the salenuinon stock and warrants, $519,000 from the Ariston Merge
and repaid debt of $249,000. In addition, we assumed $16.5mirlldebt from the Ariston Merger. Our available warkcapital and capital
requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including pegfeour research and development programs, our psagrasd the cost
of planned clinical testing, the timing and cost of abtej regulatory approvals, the cost of filing, proseaytohefending, and enforcing
patent claims and other intellectual property rigimtdicensing activities, competing technological andkeadevelopments, changes in our
existing collaborative and licensing relationships, tiseueces that we devote to developing manufacturing and conaifiengj capabilities,
the status of our competitors, our ability to estaldidbaborative arrangements with other organizatiomscam need to purchase additional
capital equipment.

Our continued operations will depend on whether we ardalpsese additional funds through various potential soustesh as
equity and debt financing, other collaborative agreas)atrategic alliances, and our ability to realleefull potential of our technology in
development. Such additional funds may not become avadaldeceptable terms and there can be no assuranemytredditional funding
that we do obtain will be sufficient to meet our needbhélong term. Through December 31, 2010, a significantopoofi our financing has
been through private placements of debt, common stock amadntgand the Hedrin JV. Unless our operations genstatdicant revenues
and cash flows from operating activities, we will éooe to fund operations from cash on hand and throughrthiaissources of capital
previously described. We can give no assurances thaidalitjonal capital that we are able to obtain wilSbéficient to meet our needs. We
believe that we will continue to incur net lossed argative cash flows from operating activities fer foreseeable future.

Based on the resources of the Company availablecaniieer 31, 2010, the net proceeds received in January aod R(Hrl from
the Nordic Settlement totaling $575,000, the $244,000 grant umelér. 8. Government’s Qualifying Therapeutic Discoverydetaredit
program and the extension of the maturity date oBenaired 12% Notes to December 31, 2011, management beligwes tiave sufficient
capital to fund our operations through 2011 on a limited pmsisiding the operations of Ariston Pharmaceuticals,wiich we acquired in
March 2010. Management believes that we will need additemnaty or debt financing or will need to generate positagh flow from the
Hedrin joint venture, or generate revenues through liegrefi our products or entering into strategic alliancdsetable to sustain our
operations into 2012, and to conduct clinical trials for AZ6- Furthermore, we will need additional financing ¢laéter to complete
development and commercialization of its products. dlean be no assurances that we can successfully comigletepment and
commercialization of our products.

We have reported net income of $624,000 for the year eneeehiber 31, 2010 and a net loss of $2,793,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The net loss attributable to comimanes including preferred stock dividends, from date opitnme August 6, 2001, to
December 31, 2010, amounts to $61,310,000. Management beligvee thil continue to incur net losses through at I€&estember 31,
2011.
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Joint Venture Agreement

We and Nordic Biotech Venture Fund Il K/S, or Nordideeed into a joint venture agreement on January 31, 2008, wiais
amended on February 18, 2008, on June 9, 2008 and on January éh20hbrdic Settlement”). Pursuant to the joint vertagreement (i)
Nordic contributed cash in the amount of $7.5 million tBit&rmaceuticals K/S (formerly Hedrin Pharmaceutica® ,kd newly formed
Danish limited partnership, or the Hedrin JV, in exchang&5% of the equity interests in the Hedrin JV, anda@)contributed certain
assets to North American rights (under license) tdHmairin product to the Hedrin JV in exchange for $3.7 milliooaish and 15% of the
equity interests in the Hedrin JV.

The Hedrin JV is responsible for the development and cooiatieation of Hedrin for the North American market arldaakociated
costs including clinical trials, regulatory costs, patasts, and future milestone payments owed to Thor&tRoss Ltd., or T&R, the
licensor of Hedrin. The Hedrin JV engaged us to provideag@ment services to the Hedrin JV through December 31, 2@k@hange for a
management fee, which for years ended December 31, 2010 andrizDfe® the period from February 18, 2008 through Decemb&030,
was approximately $300,000, $334,000 and $1,081,000, respectively.

The profits of the Hedrin JV will be shared by us &lotldic in accordance with our respective equity interasthe Hedrin JV
except that Nordic is entitled to receive a minimum reséach year from the Hedrin JV equal to 6% on Hedrin sakeadjusted for any
change in Nordic’s equity interest in the Hedrin JV, be#org distribution is made to us. If the Hedrin JV reaia profit in excess of the
Nordic minimum return in any year, then such excess shetlbk distributed to us until our distribution and the Nordinimum return are in
the same ratio as our respective equity interests iHekein JV and then the remainder, if any, is distribtteNordic and us in the same ratio
as our respective equity interests. However, in the e@fentiquidation of the Hedrin JV, Nordic’s distributionliquidation must equal the
amount Nordic invested in the Hedrin JV ($7.5 million) 0% per year, less the cumulative distributions receiveddoglic from the
Hedrin JV before any distribution is made to us. Iftdeelrin JV’s assets in liquidation exceed the Nordic liquidapieference amount, then
any excess shall first be distributed to us until ouritigion and the Nordic liquidation preference amount atkdérsame ratio as our
respective equity interests in the Hedrin JV and thenaitmainder, if any, is distributed to Nordic and us indheae ratio as our respective
equity interests. Further, in no event shall Nordie¢ridhution in liquidation be greater than assets allléor distribution in liquidation.

The Hedrin JV's Board of Directors consisted of fountbers, two appointed by us and two appointed by Nordic. dlappointed
one of the directors as chairman of the Board. chfaérman has certain tie breaking powers. In the Md@ditlement we gave up our right to
representation on the Hedrin JV’s Board of Directors.

Nordic had the right to nominate a person to serve @Ctdmpany’s Board of Directors. No Nordic nomines appointed to the
Company's Board of Directors. In the Nordic Settleméatdic gave up its right to representation on the Gogjs Board of Directors.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, Nordic hadigfint to put all or a portion of its interest in tHedrin JV in exchange for
shares of our common stock. This put right terminated thp® execution of the Nordic Settlement.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, we hadgheto call all or a portion of Nordic's equity inter@sthe Hedrin JV in
exchange for shares of our common stock. This call rigmitated upon the execution of the Nordic Settlement.

In connection with the joint venture agreement Nordid pa $150,000 in exchange for a warrant to purchase shayes @dmmon
stock. This warrant terminated upon the execution of trelibl Settlement.

We granted Nordic registration rights for the shardsetssued upon exercise of the warrant, the put or theWa filed an initial registration
statement on May 1, 2008. The registration statement&aardd effective on October 15, 2008. On June 2, 2008ledean additional
Registration Statement registering the additional sh&@smamon Stock that may be issued to Nordic upon exertes@uat right (the “Put
Shares”) held by Nordic. The Securities and Exchange Cssimni (“SEC”) has informed us that we may not registePtiieShares for resale
until Nordic exercises its put right and such shares ohoamstock are outstanding. We believe that we have usedemially reasonable
efforts to cause the registration statement to be idetkffective and have satisfied our obligations underejistration rights agreement with
respect to the registration of the Put Shares.We neengred to file additional registration statements,qunesd, within 45 days of the date
we first knew that such additional registration statemaerst required. Nordic’s registration rights terminated uperexecution of the Nordic
Settlement, as did Nordic’s put rights and warrant.
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Nordic Settlement

On January 4, 2011 the Company entered into settlementi@ade agreement (the “Settlement and ReleaserAgnéd with
Nordic Biotech Venture Fund Il K/S (*Nordic”) and H Phreaceuticals K/S (the "Joint Venture"). The Comparg/dardic are partners in
the Joint Venture for the development and commerciaizat North America of Hedrin™, a non-pesticide, one-htaatment for
pediculosis (head lice). As previously reported, the @om and Nordic have had various disputes relating to the\Menture and to
Nordic’s option to purchase Company's common stock in exchi@ngeportion of Nordic’s interest in the Joint Vent(itee "Put Right"), and
Nordic’'s warrant to purchase Company common stock"(Weerant”). The Settlement and Release Agreementvesalll disputes between
the Company, on the one hand, and Nordic and the Jemtuké, on the other.

The principal terms of the Settlement and Releaseehgeat are:

e The Put Right has been terminated. The Company bdligne Put Right permitted Nordic to become the ownen egercise of
the Put Right, of 71,428,571 shares of the Company’s constook. Nordic asserted that the Put Right would have ftexmi
Nordic to become the owner of 183,333,333 shares of the Cgragammon stock.

« The Warrant has been terminated. The Company belibeed/arrant covered 14,285,714 shares of the Company's common
stock. Nordic asserted that the Warrant covered 33,338t288s of the Company’s common stock.

¢ Nordic was required to make an additional, non-dilutivetedpontribution to the Joint Venture of $1,500,000, whidfudes
$300,000 contributed to the Joint Venture by Nordic on Decefrhe2010.

e The Joint Venture paid the Company a settlement anod$500,000, less any "Excess Payment” (defined below), in two
installments. An "Excess Payment" is the amount bghvhiordic’'s and the Joint Venture’s reasonable oygenket legal and oth
costs incurred with respect to the Settlement and Relsgieement exceed $70,000. To date there have been ns Pagesents.

»  Our equity interest in the Joint Venture was reduced to dk&further reductions in our equity interest are posgibled when
Nordic makes additional contributions to the Joint Vemtun no event shall capital contributions by Nor@iduce our ownership in
the Joint Venture below 5%.

e The Joint Venture paid $75,000 to the Company under thvic8gsrAgreement, dated February 21, 2008, and that Services
Agreement is terminated as of December 31, 2010.

» The Joint Venture Agreement, dated January 31, 2008, aslathen February 18, 2008, and as further amended by an Omnibus
Amendment on June 9, 2008, between Manhattan and NoreiShidwreholders’ Agreement, dated February 21, 2008, as anisr
an Omnibus Amendment on June 9, 2008, with respect tiotheVenture, and the Registration Rights AgreemexigddFebruary
25, 2009, are terminated.

e Messrs. Michael G. McGuinness and Douglas Abel resifjoedthe Board of Directors of the Joint Venture.

2010 Equity Financing

In March and April 2010, we raised aggregate gross procéegpmximately $2.6 million pursuant to a private placenoéotir
securities (the “2010 Equity Financing”). We sold an agdeegi104.3 Units for a purchase price of $25,000 per WM#.issued to each
investor units (the "Units") consisting of 357,143 shafesommon stock, $0.001 par value per share of the Congrath$35,714 warrants,
each of which will entitle the holder to purchase odditional share of Common Stock for a period of five yedn exercise price of $0.08
per share. In addition in April 2010, the holder of the ConvertibR9% Note exercised its option to convert its Debenturayding all
accrued interest thereon) into 16.88 Units. The conwermice was equal to the per Unit purchase price paidebinvestors in the private
placement.
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Secured 10% Notes Payable

In 2008, we issued secured 10% promissory notes to certaim directors and officers and an employee for aggregateimal
amount of $70,000. In connection with the issuance of tresnate issued to the noteholders 5-year warrants thgse@n aggregate of
140,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price2f §éx share. The secured 10% notes were repaid in ReBOQ® along with
interest thereon.

Secured 12% Notes Payable

On February 3, 2009, we completed a private placement ofr8&5 with each unit consisting of Secured 12% Notes intiheipal
amount of $5,000 and a warrant to purchase up to 166,667 shatgscommon stock at an exercise price of $.09 per shzioh wxpires on
December 31, 2013, for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,725,000rivEte placement was completed in three closings wddchrred on
November 19, 2008 with respect to 207 units, December 23, 2008egjitact to 56 units and February 3, 2009 with respect to &2 uni

To secure our obligations under the notes, we entetedisecurity agreement and a default agreement witim¥iestors. The
security agreement provides that, among other thihgg)dtes will be secured by a pledge of our assets btreour interest in the Hedrin
joint venture, including, without limitation, our inest in H Pharmaceuticals K/S and H Pharmaceuticals &dpatner ApS. In addition, to
provide additional security for our obligations underribtes, we entered into a default agreement, which ges\that upon an event of
default under the notes, we shall, at the request dfdlters of the notes, use our reasonable commefitekeo either (i) sell a part or all of
our interests in the Hedrin JV or (ii) transfer all ortygd our interest in the Hedrin JV to the holders &f tiotes, as necessary, in order to
fulfill our obligations under the notes, to the extemieed and to the extent permitted by the applicable Hedragd®ements.

The first tranche of the Secured 12% Notes matured ermloer 19, 2010. We could not repay the debt and defaulttbe on
Secured 12% Notes. National Securities Corporation (0Nali), the placement agent for the Secured 12% Noteghkatyht to either act
as or appoint a security agent on behalf of the holofdiee 12% Secured Notes (the “Noteholders”). In ordevbid foreclosure on the
collateral we negotiated a waiver and forbearanceeagent (the “Extension Agreement”) for the extensiah® maturity of the Secured 12%
Notes to December 31, 2011 with National. On Februa29®1 we received the agreement of the requisite Notalsdlalenter into the
Extension Agreement and the maturity date of the eisStee of $1,725,000 principal amount of the Secured 12% Natesxtended until
December 31, 2011. As part of the Extension Agreemerttawe agreed to take prompt steps to seek to reduce owanalingt indebtedness
to the Noteholders by permitting the Noteholders toredrthe 12% Secured Notes into shares of our comnook at a conversion price of
$0.01 per share, which will require us to obtain stockholgleraval to, among other things, effect a reverse stodka$lur common shares.
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In addition, we agreed to change the terms of the warissued with the Secured 12% Notes by adding full ratchédjlation
rights once we have obtained stockholder approvaldease the number of our authorized common sharédse Hecured 12% Notes convert
into common stock at a conversion price of $0.01 theliduttdn rights of the warrants issued with Secured 12% $\dbe warrants issued
with the Convertible 12% Note and the warrants issued i2Qté Equity Pipe transaction will be triggered causing sigmit potential
dilution to our current stockholders. The following tallustrates the potential dilution:

Conversion of
Secured 12%

As of March 15, 2011 Notes After Conversion
Shares % Shares (1) Shares %
Shares outstanding:
Before conversion 129,793,28 45.6€% 129,793,28 8.78%
Conversion of Secured 12% Notes 231,826,600 231,826,60 15.67%
Total outstanding 129,793,28 231,826,60 361,619,88
Shares issuable:
Options 11,574,93i 4.07% 11,574,93i 0.7&%
Warrants:
With antidilution rights:
Issued with Secured 12% Notes 57,500,11! 20.22% 460,000,92 517,501,03 34.9%
Other 72,411,24: 25.47% 503,037,46 575,448,71 38.9(%
Without antidilution rights 12,989,18' 4.57% 12,989,18! 0.8&%
Total issuable 154,475,48 963,038,338 1,117,513,87
Total outstanding and issuable 284,268,77 100.0(% 1,194,864,98 1,479,133,76 100.0(%

(1) Share conversion assumes conversion of principlinéerest on May 31, 2011, the date on which we projeatdheersion will occur.

In connection with the private placement, we, the plardragent and the investors entered into a registragjots r
agreement. Pursuant to the registration rights agnegmwe agreed to file a registration statement tetegihe resale of the shares of our
common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants isstieel investors in the private placement, within 20 adiyke final closing date
and to cause the registration statement to be declfieetivee within 90 days (or 120 days upon full review by tl®C$  The registration
statement was declared effective by the SEC on Apri20d9.

SwissPharma Contract LLC Settlement

On October 27, 2009, we entered into a Settlement Agreearel Mutual Release with Swiss Pharma Contract LTHWwiés
Pharma”) pursuant to which we agreed to pay Swiss Ph#26®000 and issue Swiss Pharma an interest free promiggerin the principal
amount of $250,000 in full satisfaction of the September 5, a2ffi8ation award. The amount of the Arbitration edvavas $683,027.

In conjunction with the Settlement Agreement and Muielkease with Swiss Pharma described above, on Octob&0@8, we
entered into a Subscription Agreement (the “Subsoripfigreement”) pursuant to which we sold a 12% Original I€iseount Senior
Subordinated Convertible Debenture with a stated val@4@d,000 (the “Convertible 12% Note”) and a warrant (the “@raty and, together
with the Convertible 12% Note, (the “Securities”) taghase 2,222,222 shares of our common stock, par value $.001 pe(“Sltanmon
Stock”) for a purchase price of $200,000. The Convertible l2% is convertible into shares of Common Stock Waerant is exercisable
at an exercise price of $0.11 per share, subject to adjustpremtto October 28, 2014. In April 2010 the Convertible 12%eNwvas
converted into the 2010 Equity Financing, as discussed above.

In connection with the issuance of the Securities,ssedd warrants to purchase an aggregate of 222,222 shares of C8toohkoat
an exercise price of $0.11 per share to the placementauiertain of its designees.
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Acquisition of Ariston Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

On March 8, 2010, we entered into an Agreement and Plan giekMéhe "Merger Agreement”) by and among the Comparigiohr
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Ani§tand Ariston Merger Corp., a Delaware corporatiod wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the "Merger Sub”). Pursuant to the temadsconditions set forth in the Merger Agreementyvianch 8, 2010, the Merger Sub
merged with and into Ariston (the "Merger"), with Aristbeing the surviving corporation of the Merger. A®sult of the Merger, Ariston
became our wholly-owned subsidiary.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the considergtiyable by us to the stockholders and note holders stbArconsists of
the issuance of 7,062,423 shares of our common stock atgl@s defined in the Merger Agreement) pldlse right to receive up to an
additional 24,718,481 shares of our common stock (the “MitesiShares”) upon the achievement of certain produdedeimilestones
described below. In addition, we have reserved 38,630,723 sifavas Common Stock for possible future issuance in cdiumewith the
conversion of $15.45 million of outstanding Ariston coniaet promissory notes. The note holders will novéhany recourse to us for
repayment of the notes (their sole recourse being istof), but the note holders will have the right towash the notes into shares of
our common stock at the rate of $0.40 per share. Furtkeehave reserved 5,000,000 shares of our common stoskdsible future issuance
in connection with the conversion of $1.0 million aftstanding Ariston convertible promissory note issuedsdtisfaction of a trade
payable. The note holder will not have any recouragstfor repayment of the note (their sole recourseglteiririston), but the note holder
will have the right to convert the note into sharethefour common stock at the rate of $0.20 per share.

Upon the achievement of the milestones described b&lewvould be obligated to issue portions of the MilestBhares to the
former Ariston stockholders and noteholders:

« Upon the affirmative decision of our Board of Directgosovided that such decision is made prior to March 8, 2@
further develop the AST-915 product candidate, either intgrima through a corporate partnershipe wvould issu
8,828,029 of the Milestone Shares. This milestone veecheel in January 2011 and the shares have been issued.

* Upon the acceptance by the FDA of the Company's filintheffirst New Drug Application for the AST26 produc
candidate, we would issue 7,062,423 of the Milestone Shares

« Upon the Company receiving FDA approval to market 83 &26 product candidate in the United States of Americi
would issue 8,828,029 of the Milestone Shares.

Certain members of our Board of Directors and princgpatkholders of the Company at the time of the MergeredwAriston
securities. Timothy Mclnerney, a director of Manhattanwned 16,668 shares of Ariston common stock which represtrge than 1% of
Ariston’s outstanding common stock as of the closing oMbeger. Neil Herskowitz, a director of Manhattan,iiadtly owned convertible
promissory notes of Ariston with interest and priatipm the amount of $192,739. Michael Weiser, a former direst Manhattan, owned
117,342 shares of Ariston common stock, which represepady@mately 2.1% of Ariston’s outstanding common stockfasie closing of
the Merger. Lindsay Rosenwald, a more than 5% benlkefigiaer of Manhattan common stock, in his individual citgaand indirectly
through trusts and companies he controls owned 497,911 sharestohAwmmon stock, which represented approximately 8f98tision’s
outstanding common stock as of the closing of the Mergeriradirectly owned convertible promissory notes of Amsto the amount of
$141,438.

The Company merged with Ariston principally to add newdpcts to our portfolio, AST-726 and AST-915. Ariston, priotthie
Merger, was a private, clinical stage specialty bioplaaeutical company based in Shrewsbury, Massachusettadizgrnises, develops and
plans to market novel therapeutics for the treatmese¢wbus disorders of the central and peripheral nersysiems.

8% Note
In December 2009, we entered into a Future AdvancaaiBsory Note (the “8% Note”) with Ariston under whictetGompany may
withdraw up to $67,000. Principal and interest accrued atg@#bbe due and payable to Ariston on February 10, 201@f Becember 31,
2009, the Company has withdrawn $27,000 from Ariston subjgleetterms of the 8% Note. On January 13, 2010, the Convaimdrew
$20,000 subject to the 8% Note with Ariston Pharmaceutilceds,On January 28, 2010, the Company withdrew an addith@@000 subject
to the 8% Note. On March 4, 2010, the Company repagtdkrithe $67,000 withdrawn subject to the 8% Note armdieddnterest of $816.
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Commitments

General

We often contract with third parties to facilitate, itinate and perform agreed upon research and developnwnt moduct
candidates. To ensure that research and developméntoegxpensed as incurred, we record monthly accrualbnfical trials and
nonclinical testing costs based on the work perforometer the contracts.

These contracts typically call for the payment efféor services at the initiation of the contraa/anupon the achievement of
certain milestones. This method of payment often doematch the related expense recognition resultinghieregt prepayment, when the
amounts paid are greater than the related research agldpfeent costs recognized, or an accrued liability, vwhemmounts paid are less
than the related research and development costs recdgnize

Development Commitments
At present we have no development commitments.

Research and Development Projects

AST-726

AST-726 is a nasally delivered form of hydroxocobalamirttiertreatment of Vitamin B deficiency. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals
acquired global rights to AST-726 as part of the Aristooussition. AST-726 has demonstrated pharmacokinetic dgois@to a marketed
intramuscular injection product for Vitamin.Bremediation. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals believes that7ZZ8 Thay enable both a single,
once-monthly treatment for maintenance of normal Vi, levels in deficient patients, and more frequent admitiistréo restore normal
levels in newly diagnosed Bdeficiency. Further, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals belithet AST-726 could offer a convenient, painless, safe
and cost-effective treatment for VitaminRleficiency, eliminating the need for intramusculardtifns.

Vitamin B,, Deficiency - Background of the Disease

Untreated Vitamin B, deficiency can result in serious clinical problemsudalg hematological disorders, such as life-threatening
anemias, and a range of central and peripheral newral@normalities such as fatigue, confusion, cognitiggairment, dementia,
depression, peripheral neuropathies and gait disturbaMeuronal damage may involve peripheral nerves pihalscord and the brain and if
the condition is left untreated may become permanamthé&rmore, clinically asymptomatic patients with learmal or below normal
Vitamin B ,, levels may have changes in blood chemistries, induelievated levels of methylmalonic acid or homocysteknown risk
factors for other medical conditions associated withereased risk of circulatory problems, blood clots aardiovascular disease.

The primary diagnosis of Vitamin Bdeficiency is made when measurement of its blood cdrateon falls below the expected
normal range of 200 to 900 picograms/ml. Vitamin @=ficiency is most often caused by pathological condittbat limit the body's ability
to absorb the vitamin. Such disorders include perni@oesnia, atrophic gastritis, problems caused by gastgecaliprocedures to treat
stomach cancer and obesity, Crohn’s disease and siggiekted changes. Some studies show the inabilitypedy absorb Vitamin B
as a side effect from chronic use of certain widely pitesd antacid medications such as Prilasand diabetes treatments such as
Glucophage.

Product Development

AST-726, a commercial nasal spray formulation of hydrokatamin, has satisfactorily completed preclinical tdeoigp, and an
Investigational New Drug (“IND”) Application has beerefil with the FDA. This product candidate is being developdiding the 505(b)(2)
regulatory pathway. AST-726 has also successfully contpéesafety and pharmacokinetic study in healthy volustaed an end of Phase |l
meeting with FDA has been completed.
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In February 2011, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals filed a SpectakBréssessment (“SPA”) with the FDA for a pivot&iae 111
Vitamin B ,, replacement study in the United States. The SPAdguatory process that allows for official FDA evaioatof the clinical
protocols of a Phase 11l clinical trial intended to fatme primary basis for an efficacy claim and provitied sponsors with written agreement
that the design and analysis of the trial are adequaigpfmort a New Drug Application (“NDA”) if the trial is germed according to the
SPA. Final marketing approval depends on efficacy reshkssafety profile and evaluation of the therapegrehit/risk demonstrated in the
Phase lll trial. The SPA agreement may only be chatigedgh a written agreement between the sponsor arkDiAeor if the FDA
becomes aware of a substantial scientific issue gakenproduct efficacy or safety. For more infotioa on Special Protocol Assessments
please visit the FDA website at www.fda.gov.

The final study design is subject to FDA feedback amiamal, but Manhattan Pharmaceuticals expects the pivady 0 enroll
approximately 40 Vitamin B deficient patients currently treated with injectionripy. Patients will first be evaluated on injectiorr #py
and then will receive AST-726 by nasal spray on a moiddys for 12 weeks. The primary objective of this siadg demonstrate that
levels of Vitamin B, in the patients’ bloodstream remain within the norraabe following monthly administration of AST-726. We
anticipate that the data from this study and additionalufagturing information will support the planned 505(b)(2) NidiAg for AST-726.

A CMC/manufacturing process has been developed for AZ%&Tthat we believe provides a commercially viable Btalpirofile.
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals has issued patents in the Utated &nd Europe with respect to AST-726.

Market and Competition

More than 9 million people in the US are deficient ina¥iin B, , indicating substantial market potential for a faatienvenient, safe
and effective treatment that can replace the need fofuband frequent intramuscular injections or other tieaa fully effective delivery
forms.

Prevalence estimates for Vitamin Rieficiency in the U.S. range between 20-40% of people@ivgears of age (8-16 million
people). A study of over 11,000 U.S. civilians ages four asel dbund a 3% prevalence of Vitamin,®Bleficiency in the general population
using the 200 picograms/ml deficiency standard, indicatiagapproximately 9 million people in the U.S. are inchef B,, replacement
therapy. Some experts advocate a higher deficiencyasthotl 300-350 picograms/ml on the basis that levels bel@xdmcide with
elevated methylmalonic acid and homocysteine, rislofador cardiovascular disease as found in the Framingdfeart Study. On this basis
the prevalence of Vitamin Bdeficiency increases substantially.

Manhattan Pharmaceuticals believes that substantial tregertunity also exists internationally.

Current Treatments for Vitamin BDeficiency
Once Vitamin B, deficiency is diagnosed by a simple blood test, the @fdadéatment is generally to:
» Restore circulating blood levels to normal as rapidlpessible;
» Replenish and normalize the substantial stores of thmwitin the body; and
« Institute a lifelong therapeutic regimen that will maintaormal levels of the vitamin.

Intramuscular injection of Vitamin Bis currently considered the gold standard treatmentifamin B, deficiency.
Cyanocobalamin injection is predominantly used for thip@se in the United States because it is the mosygasidluced for the lowest cost,
however cyanocobalamin is poorly tolerated in certairepit such as in children or in heavy smokers who mag blgvated cyanide levels
in the blood. In these patients hydroxocobalamin, theeairigredient in AST-726, is used. Both cyanocobalamihhgiroxocobalamin
must be converted in the body to an active form ofr¥iiteB ,, . Hydroxocobalamin is thought to be converted more etisily
cyanocobalamin and it has longer retention time in tllg.bélydroxocobalamin injection is the preferred treaitrfor Vitamin B,, deficiency
in Europe comprising the vast majority of all Vitamin, Bjections.

In the United States, intramuscular injections are gdiyagiven by a physician or nurse, necessitating &oedinedical center visit
by the patient or a visiting nurse home call for eadhtitnent. Following a diagnosis of.Bdeficiency, injections are typically administered
daily for 5-10 days in order to restore normal vitamirelevOnce normalization is achieved, the frequencybeareduced to once or twice per
month. While the treatment is usually highly effectitres inconvenience and cost of frequent office vemitd the pain and side effects
associated with intramuscular injections are problenfatimany patients.

41




Intranasal treatment for Vitamin Bdeficiency seeks to alleviate these problems. Taeréwo intranasal products currently
available in the United States, Nascobalhich is administered once weekly, and Calomistvhich is administered once daily. Both can
only be used once a deficient patient has been normalitechjections. Both products use cyanocobalamin esttive ingredient.

Oral administration of very high doses of Vitamin, Ban restore deficient patients to normal in certagegabut conventional oral
supplementation is plagued by limited bioavailability. IShigh dose supplements are generally available in pharnaaesutrition/health
food stores. Adequate results can almost certainly beneldtathen nutritional insufficiency (e.qg., strict vegaet)lis the primary cause of the
problem. However, if the gastrointestinal tract is campsed, as is the case in many Beficient patients, oral supplementation may not be
successful at restoring circulating levels and storagetdef the vitamin to normal. For example, older peop#ate less stomach acid which
results in a reduced ability to absorb Vitamip 8om food. These patients would also be unable to altiseritamin from oral
supplements. In such cases, intramuscular injection woultelteeatment of choice, since it is administereeatly into the bloodstream and
does not rely on absorption in the gastrointentinat.tra

An unapproved Vitamin B patch is available in the United States, but we belibat its effectiveness in moderate to severe Vitami
B ., deficient patients is substantially untested.

Potential Advantages of AST-726 Treatment for VitamirbBficiency

We believe that treatment with AST-726 has the poterttidirectly substitute for and replace the need forctiga treatment by
applying the current injection frequency paradigms fah Io@wly diagnosed and normalized Vitamin, Beficient patients. AST-726 has
been designed to be self-administered at home by thempatiithout costly, time consuming, and inconveniésits/to a doctor’s office or
medical facility needed for each of the many intramusénjactions required monthly for life. Because id&divered through a nasal spray,
additional advantages include freedom from injection pairreshaced anxiety in individuals, including children and the gideiho may
have fear of injections. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals\edithat the delivery profile of AST-726 is comparablénat of the marketed
intramuscular injection, and that therefore newly diagdgatients will be able to self-administer our AST-7&&hspray product candidate
on a daily basis for approximately 5-10 days to restaie Vitamin B,, status to normal and will then be self-maintained simgle monthly
nasal spray treatment of AST-726.

More About Vitamin B,

Vitamin B, is involved in the metabolism of every cell of the Yaoespecially in energy production, fatty acid synthesis,
synthesis and regulation of DNA. It also plays a ctuoi@ in many major body systems. In the brain med/ous system Vitamin Bplays
an important role in cognitive function and memory, ftirection and maintenance of nerve cells and surroundirgimsheath, and the
synthesis of serotonin, dopamine, and norepinephrinemifi B., is also known to reduce homocysteine, an amino aomuped by the
body. Elevated homocysteine levels have been linkbohio and nerve cell damage, cardiovascular disease, aadveakness and
fractures. Vitamin B, also plays a key role in the immune system, creationelatonin for sleep, and the synthesis of red biatid.

Two recent published studies have highlighted the bealkéffects that homocysteine lowering B vitamingéian cognitive
impairment and cognitive decline. The first of these studies (Smith, AD, PLoS One 2010) published in Septeili€r shows that high
doses of B vitamins slow the rate of brain atrophgjpgroximately 30%. Brain atrophy (or brain shrinkage) is énleeomain symptoms of
mild cognitive impairment, a known precursor to demeuati@ sometimes Alzheimer’s Disease. The second ftlahshmand, B,
Neurology 2010), a population based, 7-year cohort study puthlist@ctober 2010, shows that higher baseline serum hatsicy levels
correlated positively with an increased risk of Alzheim®isease.

AST-915

AST-915 is an orally delivered treatment for essentgghbr. Manhattan Pharmaceuticals acquired global rigit§16915 as part
of the Ariston acquisition. This product candidate wadietl under a Cooperative Research and DevelopmentriAgné¢CRADA) with the
National Institute of Neurological Disorders and StrokENDS), a division of the National Institutes of Hia(NIH).
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In December 2010, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals announcechtbeeaent of human proof-of concept with AST-915 with #lease
of preliminary results from a Phase 1/2 study conductedebi{tHl of AST-915 for the treatment of essential tremata from this single
dose study showed that AST-915 was well tolerated and deratmus# clear effect on tremor power.

In this randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, @essdesign study, 18 subjects with essential tremor retsiagle oral
doses of AST-915. Primary and secondary outcome measal@sed the effect on tremor power using accelerometigstcthe central
tremor component at various time points after treatm8afety, pharmacokinetic data, and other efficaegsures were also evaluated. AST-
915 was well tolerated with non-serious adverse evesing) fevenly distributed between active and placebtnteras, and two observed
serious events being unrelated to study drug.

Statistically significant reductions in tremor power wevelent at several time points between 80 and 300 minB&&sminutes was
the latest timepoint measured following administratibA®T-915. Further analysis, conducted using each sulgets awn control,
demonstrated statistically significant lower tremmpditudes in favor of AST-915 compared to placebo. Additiamallysis continues to
examine other secondary endpoints. Statistically fstgnt effect on tremor power was not evident 80 minutes atiministration of AST-
915 (defined as the primary endpoint timeframe),

The NINDS/NIH intends to submit an abstract to then18ternational Congress of Parkinson’s Disease aneeent Disorders
taking place in Toronto in June 2011. Complete study finding®xpected to be disclosed at this and other sciemg#tings, and by
submission to scientific journals. Manhattan Pharmacdsiiitgends to continue to work with the NINDS/NIH and togeed toward Phase 2
with the AST-915 development program.

AST-915 was formerly referred to as “AST-914 metabalite”

Essential Tremor

Essential tremor is a neurological disorder that &satterized by involuntary shaking of the hands, arees] hwoice, and upper
body. The most disabling tremors occur during voluntaryeament, affecting common skills such as writing, eatimdjgnnking. Essential
tremor is often misdiagnosed as Parkinson’s disgas@ccording to the National Institutes of Neurologiisorders and Stroke,
approximately 8 times as many people have essentiabtr@srhave Parkinson’s. Essential tremor is ndired to the elderly. Children,
newborns, and middle-aged people can also have the conditi

Market opportunity

According to the International Essential Tremor Fouilodatin estimated 10 million Americans have esseméaidr. The condition
is most common among people over 60, but it also occufsloiren, adolescents and the middle-aged. Theredsiradive treatment for
essential tremor and current therapy is inadequatedgtafé in a large portion of patients and/or limited lofesffects. Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals believes AST-915 may provide a new treatpgan for this serious and prevalent disordévlanhattan Pharmaceuticals
believes that substantial market opportunity also existsriationally.

Hedrin

Hedrin is a hovel, non-insecticide, one hour treatrfempediculosis (head lice) and is currently being dgwvedl in the United States
as a prescription medical device. Hedrin is the topnggiead lice product in Europe. It is currently marketexvér 27 countries and,
according to Thornton & Ross Ltd. (“T&R”), achieved 2008 amisates through its licensees of approximately $48 millid8D) at in-
market public prices, garnering approximately 23% marketshaoss Europe.

In June 2007, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals entered into an egdiaense agreement with Thornton & Ross Ltd (“T&Bi)d Kerris,
S.A. (“Kerris”) for Hedrin (the “Hedrin License Agreemt”). We acquired an exclusive North American licenseettain patent rights and
other intellectual property relating to the product. Initamig and at the same time, we also entered intgpplgigreement with T&R
pursuant to which T&R will be the Company’s exclusive supmiféHedrin product (the “Hedrin Supply Agreement”).
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In February 2008, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals entered inta &goiture agreement with Nordic Biotech Advisors Afi$o(dic”) to
develop and commercialize Hedrin for the North AmericarketarThe joint venture entity, H Pharmaceuticals (HéPnaceuticals” or the
“Hedrin JV”), now owns, is developing, and is working towse commercialization partners for Hedrin in both theddnStates and Canada.
H Pharmaceuticals is independently funded and is respoiiaita# costs associated with the Hedrin projectluding any necessary United
States (“U.S.”) clinical trials, patent costs, and fatmilestones owed to the original licensor, T&R.

The Hedrin JV is currently working to complete developnaerd secure commercialization and marketing partnetdddrin in the
U.S. and Canada.

Pediculosis (Head lice)

Head lice (Pediculus humanus capitjsare small parasitic insects that live mainly onttbiman scalp and neck hair. Head lice are
not known to transmit disease, but they are highlyaginus and are acquired by direct head-to-head contidcawinfested person’s hair,
and may also be transferred with shared combs, hatstlaedhair accessories. They can also live on beddingholstered furniture for a
brief period. Head lice are seen across the socioecorspectrum and are unrelated to personal cleanlingsg@ne. Children are more
frequently infested than are adults, and Caucasiansfreoueently than other ethnic groups. Lice are most camiyrfound on the scalp,
behind the ears, and near the neckline at the bacle ofeitk. Common symptoms include a tickling feelingashething moving in the hair,
itching, irritability caused by poor sleep, and soretherhead caused by scratching.

Mechanism of Action

Hedrin is a novel, non-insecticide combination of eifies (dimethicone and cyclomethicone) that acts as euiettial (lice killing)
agent by disrupting the insect’'s mechanism for managingdiuidbreathing. In contrast with most currently availibetreatments, Hedrin
contains no chemical insecticides. Because Hedrislldk by preventing the louse from excreting waste fhaither than by acting on the
central nervous system, the insects cannot build igtaese to the treatment. Recent studies haveatetichat resistance to chemical
insecticides may be increasing and therefore contmigputi insecticide treatment failure. Manhattan Pharmadsitbelieves there is
significant market potential for a convenient, non-atisgde treatment alternative. Both silicones irs tiioprietary formulation of Hedrin are
used extensively in cosmetics and toiletries.

Product Development

Hedrin has been clinically studied in over 400 subjects. rém@omized, controlled, equivalence, clinical study (coretlict Europe
by T&R), Hedrin was administered to 253 adult and chilgeziib with head lice infestation. The study results|iglued in the British
Medical Journal in June 2005, demonstrated Hedrin’s equivalehen compared to the insecticide treatment, phenotheémost widely
used pediculicide in the U.K. In addition, according to tmeesatudy, the Hedrin treated subjects experienced signifidass irritation (2%o)
than those treated with phenothrin (9%).

A clinical study published in the November 2007 issue of RD08, an international, peer-reviewed journal published biPtiuic
Library of Science (PL0S), demonstrated Hedrin’s supefitcacy compared to a U.K. formulation of malathiawidely used insecticide
treatment in both Europe and North America. In thigloenized, controlled, assessor blinded, parallel grongalitrial, 73 adult and child
subjects with head lice infestations were treatell Widrin or malathion liquid. Using intent-to-treat analysledrin achieved a statistically
significant cure rate of 70% compared to 33% with madattiquid. Using the per-protocol analysis Hedrin achieviemlaly statistically
significant cure rate of 77% compared to 35% with madathiin Europe, it has been widely documented that headdebecome resistant to
malathion, and we believe this resistance may halgeimded the study results. To date, there have beapods of malathion resistance in
the U.S. Additionally, Hedrin treated subjects experedmnmo irritant reactions, and Hedrin showed clinical exjeivce to malathion in its
ability to inhibit egg hatching. Overall, investigatarsd study subjects rated Hedrin as less odorous, eaajgpl{o and easier to wash out.
In addition 97% of Hedrin treated subjects stated they vignéisantly more inclined to use the product again usr31% of those using
malathion.
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Two unpublished Hedrin studies were completed by T&R in 200&helfirst, Hedrin achieved a 100% kill rate in vitro, udihg
malathion resistant head lice. In the other, a dirfield study conducted in Manisa province, a rurahaféWestern Turkey, Hedrin was
administered to 36 adult and child subjects with confirtmesl lice infestations. Using per protocol analydesjrin achieved a 97% cure
rate. Using intent-to-treat analysis, Hedrin achievB@d% cure rate since 2 subjects were eliminated due tocptatiolations. No subjects
reported any adverse events.

In April 2009, T&R published a new clinical field study whé@adult and child subjects with head lice infestativare treated with
Hedrin using a 1 hour application time. Treatment wasgiwece with 7 days between applications. In this study, IHedhieved a cure
rate of 90%.

In the U.S., the Hedrin JV, is pursuing the developmeHiedrin as a prescription medical device. In January 28@9J1S. Food
and Drug Administration (“FDA”) Center for Devices anddilogical Health (“*CDRH") notified H Pharmaceuticdisit Hedrin had been
classified as a Class Il medical device. A Classléignation means that a Premarket Approval (“PMA”) Agapilon will need to be
obtained before Hedrin can be marketed in the U.S. In20@l9, CDRH confirmed that two pivotal studies, which can ostuaultaneously,
using the same protocol consisting of approximately 60 stsbgach, or 120 patients in total, are required focahgpletion of the PMA
Application. In April 2010, the Hedrin JV received correspoieddnom the FDA in which the FDA raised questions alseutain
manufacturing and non-clinical aspects of Hedrin (includimtpzedeficiencies in safety documentation that will iegjturther study). The
Hedrin JV is in the process of responding to those queastiod will not be able to commence the confirmatieays, and the Hedrin JV's
application to conduct those clinical trials will n@ &ccepted by the FDA, unless and until such questiomespended to, to the satisfaction
of the FDA.

Market and Competition

According to the American Academy of Pediatrics an eg#oh6-12 million Americans are infested with headdiaeh year, with
pre-school and elementary children and their familiescegfl most often. The total U.S. head lice markestisnated to be over $200 million
with prescription and over-the-counter (OTC) therap@aprising approximately 50% of that market. The remgidid6 of the market is
comprised of alternative therapies such as tea treavoigral oils, and “nit picking”, or physical comnigi to remove lice. In addition, the
head lice market is experiencing an increasing trend tawealthier, more environmentally friendly consumer prodactsa growing
activism against pesticide products. We believe tlsesgghificant market potential for a convenient, nosecticide treatment for head lice.

The prescription and OTC segment of the market is dateinby 4-5 name brand products and numerous, low cost geareticstore
brand equivalents. The active ingredients in thesenphcological therapies are chemical insecticide® mwst frequently prescribed
insecticide treatments are Ovide (malathion) and K{ieHane), and the most frequently purchased OTC bramdRid (piperonyl butoxide),
Nix (permethrin), and Pronto (piperonyl butoxide). Lindanel®es banned in 52 countries worldwide and has now been banhedstate
of California due to its toxicity. In addition, New Yoidichigan, and Minnesota have initiated legislation to benuse of lindane.
European formulations of malathion have experienced widedpesistance. Resistance to U.S. formulationsatditimon have not been
widely reported to date, but experts believe it is likelyetlgp with continued use. Head lice resistance to pipetarigikide and permethrin
has been reported in the U.S. and treatment failueescammon.

Topical GEL for Psoriasis

This topical GEL was used as the vehicle (placebo)piroa clinical study versus a discontinued product candidepécal PTH (1-
34), and showed evidence of psoriasis improving properliethat Phase 2a study 15% of study subjects achiesledraor almost clear state
at the end of week 2. At the end of week 4, 20% of subjesated with the GEL had achieved a clear or alnteat state, and at the end of
week 8, 25% of subjects treated with the GEL had actliav@ear or almost clear state. The Company owrmagtahts to this topical GEL
and is exploring the possibility of developing it as an OT&lpet for mild psoriasis.
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Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a common, chronic, immune-mediated digbaseesults in the over-production of skin cells. Inlthgeaskin, immature
skin cells migrate from the lowest layer of the epiderto the skin’s surface over a period of 28-30 daypsdamiasis, these cells reproduce at
an extremely accelerated rate and advance to thesumfacly 7 days. This results in a build up of excess lypddferentiated skin cells
that accumulate in dry, thick patches known as plaqueseTtiaques can appear anywhere on the body resultirpiimgt skin irritation, and
disability.

Market and Competition

According to the National Psoriasis Foundation approxma25 million people worldwide, including approximately 6lioil
Americans, suffers from psoriasis. Of these, appratetg 65% (4.4 million) have mild psoriasis and are thstrtilely of psoriasis sufferers
to be treated with an OTC product. According to Dataitor, only an estimated 55% of psoriasis sufferers baea formally diagnosed by a
physician, so the OTC market could potentially be much larger

There are a number of treatments available today fwigsss, including numerous OTC creams and ointments thatdeeduce
inflammation, stop itching, and soothe skin. Producth ssdPsoriasin, CortAid, Dermarest, and Cortizone & @& most common, but none
are viewed as particularly effective for psoriasis.

Discontinued Research and Development Programs

Altoderm m™

In April 2007 we entered into a license agreement wi@R;Tpursuant to which we acquired exclusive rights to develnd
commercialize Altoderm in North America. Altoderms a novel, proprietary formulation of topical croymlsodium and is designed to
enhance the absorption of cromolyn sodium into the skiorder to treat pruritus (itch) associated with deohogic conditions including
atopic dermatitis (eczema).

In a Phase 3, randomized, double-blind, vehicle-contrallimical study (conducted in Europe by T&R) Altoderm wafe &ind well
tolerated, and showed a trend toward improvement unitps, but the efficacy results were inconclusivetodérm treated subjects and
vehicle only treated subjects experienced a similar argment (each greater than 30%), and therefore, the stdyotiachieve statistical
significance.

As a result of the inconclusive European study data anckeofssufficient funds to develop Altoderm, in March 2008 @ompany
discontinued development and returned the project to WikdRer the terms of the license agreement.

Altolyn ™

In April 2007 we entered into a license agreement wi@R,Tpursuant to which we acquired exclusive rights to develnd
commercialize Altolyn in North America. Altolyn is a novel, proprietary oral tablet formulation ebmolyn sodium designed to treat
mastocytosis and possibly other gastrointestinal diseieh as food allergy and symptoms of irritable beyetrome.

Due to small market opportunity and lack of sufficient fundsdevelop Altolyn, in March 2009 the Company discontinuec
development and returned the project to T&R underdirag of the license agreement.

Commercialization, Marketing, and Sales

In order to maximize the commercial value of our prodaodaates, it is likely that we will partner with, aodbut-license the
marketing rights to, a marketing organization with experin the therapeutic areas we operate in. We arentlyrworking to secure a
marketing partner for Hedrin in both the United StatesGamtada. Longer term, we may explore the possibiliseofiring commercialization
partners for AST-726, AST-915, and the topical GEL inUh&ed States and global territories.
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Intellectual Property and License Agreements

Our goal is to obtain, maintain and enforce patent giiotefor our products, formulations, processes, metaadsother proprietary
technologies, preserve our trade secrets, and opethtininfringing on the proprietary rights of other pastiboth in the United States and
in other countries. Our policy is to actively seeblbtain, where appropriate, the broadest intellectual propeotection possible for our
product candidates, proprietary information and propgetarhnology through a combination of contractual arnareges and patents, both in
the U.S. and elsewhere in the world.

We also depend upon the skills, knowledge and experieroug stientific and technical personnel, as well as thatiohdvisors,
consultants and other contractors. This knowledge andiemperwe call “*know-how”. To help protect our propaigtknow-how which is
not patentable, and for inventions for which patents beagifficult to enforce, we rely on trade secret @ctbn and confidentiality
agreements to protect our interests. To this end, geerecall employees, consultants, advisors and other ctorsao enter into
confidentiality agreements which prohibit the disclesaf confidential information and, where applicable, negjdisclosure and assignment
to us of the ideas, developments, discoveries and inveritigortant to our business.

AST-726
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement with Ariston, the Compas acquired patent rights and other intellectual pnppalating to
AST-726:

. U.S. Patent No. 5,801,161 entitled, “Pharmaceutical cotnpogor the intranasal administration of hydroxocobalami
Franciscus W.H.M. Merkus, Inventor. Application filed 8ukv, 1996. Patent issued September 1, 1998. This patent is
scheduled to expire on September 1, 2015.

. European Patent No. EP0735859B1 (granted July 30, 1997, nationabpP&3E Publication No. WO9517164) entitled,
“Pharmaceutical composition for the intranasal admirtistiaof hydroxocobalamin.” Franciscus W.H.M. Merkus, Invento
Application filed May 13, 1994. Patents validated in Gre#aBr, Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Ireland, Itéhg
Netherlands, Switzerland, Germany, Spain, and Swedestlaeeuled to expire on May, 13, 2014.

AST-915
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement with Ariston, the Compas acquired patent rights and other intellectual pnppalating to
AST-915:
. U.S. Patent Application No. PCT/US2009/000876 entitled “Octaacid formulations and methods of treatment using the
same.” McLane, Nahab, and Hallet, Inventors. Applacafiled February 12, 2009. This application has not yaeas a
patent.

Hedrin

On June 26, 2007, the Company entered into an exclusimsdi@ggreement for Hedrin (“the Hedrin Agreement’) wigiRTand
Kerris. Pursuant to the Hedrin Agreement, the Compaqyised an exclusive North American license to certain p&tghts and other
intellectual property relating to Hedrim , a non-insecticide product candidate for the treatnmfgmediculosis (“head lice”):

. U.S. Patent No. 7,829,551 entitled, “Method and compositiothe control of arthropods.” Jayne Ansell, Inventor.
Application filed February 12, 2007. Patent issued Novemi@®M). This patent is scheduled to expire on March 9,
2023.This patent has numerous, detailed and specific dlelated to the use of Hedrin (novel formulation of siic
derivatives) in controlling and repelling arthropods sucmaects and arachnids, and in particular control and eradiaiti
head lice and their ova.

On February 25, 2008 the Company assigned and transferrigthissin Hedrin to the Hedrin JV. The Hedrin JV is masponsible
for all of the Company’s obligations under the Hedrinehise Agreement and the Hedrin Supply Agreement.
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Manufacturing
We do not have any manufacturing capabilities. T&R sulbply any Hedrin product required to conduct human cliniadless, and
we are in contact with several contract cGMP manufactuor the supply of AST-726, AST-915, and the topical Gflpsoriasis.

Summary of Contractual Commitments

Leases

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 846 $4dl $88,363, respectively. Future minimum rental
payments subsequent to December 31, 2010 under an operatmfplethe Company’s office facility, which expires ap&mber 30, 2011,
are as follows:

Years Ending December 31, Commitment
2011 $ 36,00(

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arragrgem

Critical Accounting Policies

In December 2001, the SEC requested that all registrantsslidaeir most “critical accounting policies” in manaegetis discussion
and analysis of financial condition and results of operatidfhe SEC indicated that a “critical accounting pblis one which is both
important to the portrayal of the company’s financ@idition and results and requires management’s most diffexujective or complex
judgments, often as a result of the need to make estiadades the effect of matters that are inherently uatert

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformityr accounting principles generally accepted in theddh8tates of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptibaehbacertain reported amounts of assets and tiabitnd disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date ofittancial statements and the reported amounts of expesig the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Research and Development Expenses

All research and development costs are expensed assideurd include costs of consultants who conduct reseatttdevelopment
on behalf of the Company and its subsidiaries. Ge&ited to the acquisition of technology rights anemiz for which development work is
still in process are expensed as incurred and considecedppnent of research and development costs.

The Company often contracts with third parties talitate, coordinate and perform agreed upon researcdearaiopment of a new
drug. To ensure that research and development cosig@mesed as incurred, the Company records monthly acéoualgical trials and
preclinical testing costs based on the work performed uhdaontracts.

These contracts typically call for the payment efféor services at the initiation of the contraat/anupon the achievement of
certain milestones. This method of payment often doematch the related expense recognition resultinghieregt prepayment, when the
amounts paid are greater than the related research agldmiaent costs expensed, or an accrued liability, when therampaid are less than
the related research and development costs expensed.
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In-process Research and Development

All acquired research and development projects arededat their fair value as of the date acquisition. filresalues are assessed
as of the balance sheet date to ascertain if therbden any impairment of the recorded value. If trseg@ impairment the asset is written
down to its current fair value by the recording of an aspe

Share-Based Compensation

We have stockholder-approved stock incentive plans fotoges, directors, officers and consultants. Pridatwiary 1, 2006, we
accounted for the employee, director and officer plans dssatrinsic value method. Effective January 1, 2006adapted the share-based
payment method for employee options using the modifiesbpdive transition method. We use a Black-Scholes Inméstimate the value.

Derivative Liability

We evaluate whether warrants or convertible instrasienacquire stock of the Company contain provisibasgrotect holders from
declines in the stock price or otherwise could resuttdadlification of the exercise price under the respeegreements. Down-round
provisions reduce the exercise price of a warrantoventible instrument if a company either issues eqhigyes for a price that is lower than
the exercise price, and such instruments are recordéetigative liabilities. We use a Black-Scholes modeddtimate the fair value of our
convertible notes and warrants.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2008, the FASB ratified a pronouncement whichighes that an entity should use a two step approach to evalbather an
equity-linked financial instrument (or embedded featurg)dexed to its own stock, including evaluating the insentis contingent exercise
and settlement provisions. It also clarifies theaetf foreign currency denominated strike prices andketdrased employee stock option
valuation instruments on the evaluation. This statenmvasteffective for fiscal years beginning after Decenifter2008. The adoption of this
statement had a significant impact on our financidéstants (see Note 12 to our financial statements fquetied ended December 31,
2009).

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board @PASsued a new pronouncement, “Improving DisclosutmEsif
Fair Value Measurements”. This provision amends puesvprovisions that require reporting entities to make diselosures about recurring
and nonrecurring fair value measurements including theuata of and reasons for significant transfers into anéfdutvel 1and Level 2 fair
value measurements and separate disclosure of purchalsss,ssuances, and settlements in the recormiliatiLevel 3 fair value
measurements. This pronouncement was effective farinmand annual reporting periods beginning after Decembh&0D8, except for
Level 3 reconciliation disclosures which are effecfaeinterim and annual periods beginning after December 15, ZD1@.adoption of this
pronouncement did not have a material impact on the @oyfgresults of operations or financial condition.

In April 2010, the FASB issued a new pronouncement “Rev&agegnition — Milestone Method”. This pronouncement
provides guidance on the criteria that should be metdt@rmining whether the milestone method of revenusgretion is appropriate. A
vendor can recognize consideration that is contingent upeevaahent of a milestone in its entirety as revenubérperiod in which the
milestone is achieved only if the milestone medtsriikria to be considered substantive. The followirigeiga must be met for a milestone to
be considered substantive. The consideration earnedigyimg the milestone should 1. Be commensurate @iftter the level of effort
required to achieve the milestone or the enhancemdmn¢ eklue of the item delivered as a result of a Spemitcome resulting from the
vendor’s performance to achieve the milestone. ZtBelsolely to past performance. 3. Be reasonalaiéve to all deliverables and
payment terms in the arrangement. No bifurcation afdividual milestone is allowed and there can be maxa tine milestone in an
arrangement. Accordingly, an arrangement may contain bostesiive and nonsubstantive milestones. This proreuent is effective on
a prospective basis for milestones achieved in figeals, and interim periods within those years, beginning after June 15, 2010. The
adoption of this guidance does not have a material ingpectir financial statements.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

For a list of the financial statements filed as péathis report, see the Index to Financial Statemergmbing at Page F-1 of this
Annual Report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANT S ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2010, we carried out an evaluation, tineesupervision and with the participation of our CRiperating and
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the desigd aperation of our disclosure controls and procedureddtined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetEitieange Act”)). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Opeyatnd
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure contaold procedures were effective as of that date to etisatr information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the ExchAoges recorded , processed, summarized and reported Withitme periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to ensatdriformation required to be disclosed by us in such rejgoatcumulated and
communicated to the our management, including our ChiefaDpgrand Financial Officer, as appropriate to aftmmely decisions regarding
required disclosure. There were no changes in our inteonélols over financial reporting (as defined in ExchangeRiwes 13a — 15(f) and
15d — 15(f)) during the quarter ended December 31, 2010 that lseaally affected, or is reasonably likely to matéyiaffect, our internal
controls over financial reporting.

Our disclosure controls or internal controls over finah@porting were designed to provide only reasonasserance that such
disclosure controls or internal control over financedarting will prevent all errors or all instancesafud, even as the same are improved to
address any deficiencies. The design of any systemrmtifot®is based in part upon certain assumptions abolikéfirood of future events,
and there can be only reasonable, not absolute aseutat any design will succeed in achieving its stated goaler all potential future
conditions. A control system, no matter how well gesd and operated, can provide only reasonable, n@ughsassurance that the control
system’s objectives will be met. Over time, contrasy become inadequate because of changes in conditionemord¢ion in the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures. Further, thegdesf a control system must reflect the fact thatéhare resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative éo ttosts.

Because of the inherent limitation of a cost-effectiveticn system, misstatements due to error or fraud meyrand not be
detected. These inherent limitations include the realthat judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and teaktbowns can occur
because of a simple error or mistake. Controls carbalsircumvented by the individual acts of some persgneplhusion of two or more
people, or by management override of the controls.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control

Our management is responsible for establishing and nraimgaadequate internal control over financial reporting anthf®
assessment of the effectiveness of internal contesl favancial reporting. As defined by the SEC, internatrabiover financial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision of our palrexecutive and principal financial officers and efiéel by our Board of Directors,
management and other personnel, to provide reasonablarassuegarding the reliability of financial reporting amel preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with U.S. geneaaltgpted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting includessipolicies and procedures that (1) pertain to the nmainte of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect amgactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) proe&sonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit atigpaof the financial statements in accordance with geSerally accepted accounting
principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are bygidg only in accordance with authorizations of our manageanel directors; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding preventtimeally detection of unauthorized acquisition, use goaBgion of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal contra@roinancial reporting may not prevent or detect rateshents. Also projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssalgect to the risk that controls may become inadedpgmi@use of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with thiejesl or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of our annual financakstents, management has undertaken an assessment fefatineepess
of our internal control over financial reporting as of Dmber 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internat@enintegrated
framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orggioins of the Treadway Commission, or COSO Framewblanagement’s
assessment included an evaluation of the design of @mn@htcontrol over financial reporting and testing ofdperational effectiveness of
those controls.

Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that onairmentrol over financial reporting is effective dDecember 31,
2010.

This annual report does not include an attestation repotrandependent registered public accounting firm regardiegnat
control over financial reporting. Management’s repa@swot subject to attestation by our independent regigtel#t accounting firm
pursuant to rules of the SEC that permit us to provide mialyagement’s report on internal control in this report.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS LIST

The following documents are included or incorporated byeafe in this report.

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger among the Company, MamhBttarmaceuticals Acquisition Corp. and Manhattan
Research Development, Inc. (formerly Manhattan Pharmae¢sjtinc.) dated December 17, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 from Form 8-K filed March2803).

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger among the Registrant, arparapeutics, Inc. and Tarpan Acquisition Corp., dated April
1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of thedegit's Form 8-K/A filed June 15, 2005).

2.3 Agreement and Plan of Merger among the RegistrantiofriBharmaceuticals, Inc., and Ariston Merger Corp.cddiskarch
8, 2010 (incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s ftuReport on Form 8 K filed March 12, 2010.

3.1 Certificate of incorporation, as amended through Septe@e2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended Septemb&0G8).

3.2 Bylaws, as amended to date (incorporated by referenceRegistrant’s registration statement on Form SB-2nended
(File N0.33-98478)).

4.1 Specimen common stock certificate (incorporated byeafsr from Registrant’s registration statement on FdrR2,&s
amended (File N0.33-98478)).

4.2 Form of warrant issued by Manhattan Research Developinentwhich automatically converted into warrants tochase
shares of the Registrant’'s common stock upon the meggevatction with such company (incorporated by referemce t
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-QSB for the qgraehded March 31, 2003).

4.3 Form of warrant issued to placement agents in connecttbrttve Registrant’s November 2003 private placement méSe
A Convertible Preferred Stock and the Registrant’s Jar@0¥ private placement (incorporated by reference to Exhibi
4.18 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on F@+ fled January 13, 2004 (File No. 333-111897)).

4.4 Form of warrant issued to investors in the Registrantiguat 2005 private placement (incorporated by referenesHibit
4.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filegt&mber 1, 2005).

4.5 Form of warrant issued to placement agents in the RagistrAugust 2005 private placement (incorporated by referem
Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed Septembg2005).

4.6 Warrant, dated April 30, 2008, issued to Nordic Biotech MenFund Il K/S (incorporated by reference to Exb of
the Registrant’'s Registration Statement on Form Sd 6h May 1, 2008 (File No. 333-150580)).

4.7 Form of Warrant issued to Noteholders on September 11, #G@8gorated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Curren
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 15, 2008)

4.8 Form of Warrant issued to Noteholders on November 19, 2608r@iorated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Regitsra
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 25, 2008)

10.1 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by refaeBedibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Form 10-QSB fa@& th
quarter ended September 30, 1996).
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10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant issued to employddke Registrant from April 12, 2000 to February 21, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Regi¢’'s Registration Statement non Form S-8 filed Marchl298
(File 333-48531)).

Schedule of Notices of Stock Option Grants, the form atlwis attached hereto as Exhibit 4.2.

Form of Stock Option Agreement issued to employees dRéuggstrant from April 12, 2000 to February 21, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Remi$'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed M&4h1998 (File
333-48531)).

License Agreement dated on or about February 28, 2002 belardrattan Research Development, Inc. (f/k/a Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and Oleoyl-Estrone Developnt&ini{gncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Regiss
Amendment No. 2 to Form 10-QSB/A for the quarter endadcM 31, 2003 filed on March 12, 2004).

License Agreement dated April 4, 2003 between the RegistnrahiNovaDel Pharma, Inc. (incorporated by referemce t
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’'s Amendment No. 1 tonk@0-QSB/A for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 filed on Marc
2004).++

2003 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibito Registrant’'s Registration Statement on Fornfite8
February 17, 2004).

Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2005, between #gadRant and Douglas Abel (incorporated by referené&sxinibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filed June 15, 2005).

Sublicense Agreement dated April 14, 2004 between Tarpaagéwgics, Inc., the Registrant’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
and IGlI, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.tt0851 Inc.’s Form 108 for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 (
No. 001-08568).

Form of subscription agreement between the Registnahthee investors in the Registrant’s August 2005 privateepiaat
(incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to the Regits Form 8-K filed September 1, 2005).

Separation Agreement between the Registrant and Alatai@s December 21, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhib
10.11 to the Registrant's Form 10-K filed March 31, 2008.)

Employment Agreement dated July 7, 2006 between the Redisind Michael G. McGuinness (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed Ja, 2006.)

Summary terms of compensation plan for Registrant’s ngoleg/ee directors (incorporated by reference to ExAibil of
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 5, 2007).

Form of Stock Option Agreement issued under the Registr2003 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to B>
10.15 to the Registrant's Form 10-KSB filed April 2, 2078.)

Exclusive License Agreement for “Altoderm” between iftion & Ross Ltd. and Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dates
April 3, 2007. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Jefregistrant’s form 10-Q for the quarter ended June@, 2
filed on August 14, 2007.)

Exclusive License Agreement for “Altolyn” between Thion &Ross Ltd. and Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dgtad A

3, 2007. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 ofdgéstrant’s form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, Riég@/on
August 14, 2007.)
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10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

Exclusive License Agreement for “Hedrin” between Thom&Ross Ltd. , Kerris, S.A. and Manhattan Pharmaceutitads
dated June 26, 2007. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibibtthe registrant’s form 10-Q for the quarter ended 30ne
2007 filed on August 14, 2007.)

Supply Agreement for “Hedrin” between Thornton & Rosd.land Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated June 26, 2007.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the regissdorm 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 filed orugtug
14, 2007.)

Joint Venture Agreement between Nordic Biotech Fund® &d Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to develop and
commercialize “Hedrin” dated January 31, 2008.

Amendment No. 1, dated February 25, 2008, to the J@ntwe Agreement between Nordic Biotech Fund Il K/& an
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to develop and comniieecibledrin” dated January 31, 2008 (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Form 10-K filed Masth 2008).

Omnibus Amendment to Joint Venture Agreement and Additidgreements, dated June 9, 2008, among Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Hedrin Pharmaceuticals K/S, H&harmaceuticals General Partner ApS and Nordic &iote
Venture Fund Il K/S.

Assignment and Contribution Agreement between Hedrin Pleautiaals K/S and Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated
February 25, 2008. (Incorporated by reference to Exhil#t11id. the Registrant’'s Form 10-K filed March 31, 2008.)

Registration Rights Agreement between Nordic Bioteehtire Fund Il K/S and Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Ineddat
February 25, 2008. (Incorporated by reference to Exhil#21i0. the Registrant’'s Form 10-K filed March 31, 2008.)

Letter Agreement, dated September 17, 2008, betweend\Biatech Venture Fund Il K/S and Manhattan Pharmacdsitica
Inc.

Amendment to Employment Agreement by and betweanhdttan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Douglas Abel (Incdgabls
reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's Form Xle March 31, 2008.)

Form of Secured Promissory Note, dated September 11, 2@@Bpdmated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Regissant’
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 15, 2008)

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated November 19, 2088dm@mong the Registrant and the investors listed orbExhi
A-1 and A-2 thereto (incorporated by reference to Exiiil to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8dglfon
November 25, 2008)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 19, 2008,dgmong the Registrant, the Placement Agent and the
investors listed on Exhibit A thereto (incorporated &grence to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current RepoForm 8-
K filed on November 25, 2008)

Security Agreement, dated November 19, 2008, by and amerRRethistrant and each person named on Exhibit A-1 and A-
of the Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporatedfbyence to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Curremdreon Form
8-K filed on November 25, 2008)

Default Agreement, dated November 19, 2008, by and amongetiistiRnt andhe persons and entities listed on Schedt

thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 éoRRgistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Noven5,
2008)

54




10.31 Form of 12% Senior Secured Promissory Note (incorpadiayeeference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s CuriR&port
on Form 8-K filed on November 25, 2008)

10.32 Amendment No. 2 to the Employment Agreement betwieerRegistrant and Douglas Abel, dated November 19,
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Ragiss Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 25,
2008)

10.33 Amendment No. 1 to the Employment Agreement betwleerRegistrant and Michael McGuinness, dated November 19,
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Regiss Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 25,
2008)

10.34 Form of Placement Agent Warrant (incorporated by retereéa Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Current Reporfonm 8-K
filed on November 25, 2008)

23.1 Consent of J.H. Cohn LLP

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer

32.1 Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarb&hdsy Act of 2002.

++ Confidential treatment has been granted as to certatiop®of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 22tnf the Securities Exchange Act

1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)eob#turities Exchange Act, of 1934, the registrant has dugdathis report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereuryadthorized, on March 31, 2011.

Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
By: /s/ Michael McGuinness
Michael McGuinness
Chief Operating and Financial Officer

13. In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act,¢bisrt has been signed below by the following persons orif lséha
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and in the capaciig®@ the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Michael G. McGuinness Secretary and Chief Operating and March 31, 2011
Michael G. McGuinness Financial Officer, and Director (principal

executive, accounting and financial officer)

/s/ Douglas Abel Director and Chairman March 31, 2011
Douglas Abel
/s/ Neil Herskowitz Director March 31, 2011

Neil Herskowitz

/s/ Timothy Mclnerney Director March 31, 2011
Timothy Mclnerney

/s/ David Shimko Director March 31, 2011
David Shimko
/s/ Richard Steinhart Director March 31, 2011

Richard Steinhart
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaeetsstf Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaryétodement stage
company) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the relatedidatesl statements of operations, stockholders' eqigficiency) and cash
flows for the years then ended, and for the period from stugu2001 (date of inception) to December 31, 2010. Thesedial statements
are the responsibility of the Company's managementr&3ponsibility is to express an opinion on these finaistééments based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standatide Bublic Company Accounting Oversight Board (UnitedeS)aThose
standards require that we plan and perform the audit tonaktsonable assurance about whether the finanaiehstnts are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test,m@sdence supporting the amounts and disclosures imidrecfal statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting prinaigles and significant estimates made by management, assvealbluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to alpogsent fairly, in all material respects, the finahg@sition of Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 3,8t 2009, and their results of operations and cash ftovise years then ended
and for the period from August 6, 2001 (date of inceptiod@cember 31, 2010, in conformity with accounting princigkserally accepted
in the United States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have been pregssanhing that the Company will continue as a going condssrdiscussed in
Note 2 to the financial statements, the Companyrtasred net losses and negative cash flows from apgrattivities from its inception
through December 31, 2010 and has an accumulated deficit ariv@@gaking capital as of December 31, 2010. These rsatiéese
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to contasia going concern. Management's plans regarding thesssraae also described
in Note 2. The accompanying consolidated finantaksments do not include any adjustments that might fesoritthe outcome of this
uncertainty.

/s/ J.H. Cohn LLP

Roseland, New Jersey
March 31, 2011




MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARY

(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Grant receivable
Debt issue costs, current portion
Other current assets

Total current assets

In-process research and development
Property and equipment, net

Debt issue costs, honcurrent portion
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Deficiency
Current Liabilities:
Notes payable, current portion, net
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Interest payable, current portion
Derivative liability

Total current liabilities
Notes payable, noncurrent portion, net
Interest payable, noncurrent portion

Exchange obligation
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ deficiency:

Preferred stock, $.001 par value. Authorized 1,500,000 shevesiares issued and outstanding

December 31, 2010 and 2009

Common stock, $.001 par value. Authorized 500,000,000 shares; 126@6b6ares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 70,624,232 shares issued and ogtstaimcember
31, 2009

Contingently issuable shares

Additional paid-in capital

Deficit accumulated during the development stage

Total stockholders’ deficiency

Total liabilities and stockholders' deficiency

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statsm

F-3

December 31,

December 31,

2010 2009
$ 478,66¢ $ 17,99¢
244,47¢ -
4,40¢ 158,55:
141,62 87,171
869,17 263,72
17,742,111 -
2,987 3,541

- 77,02€

21,37( 21,37(

$ 1863564 $ 365,66:
$ 205424 $  1,274,06
223,51¢ 291,17t
480,89( 182,19
534,84¢ 784,77
3,293,49! 2,532,20°
16,130,57. 614,18:
626,69’ 55,04¢
3,949,17 3,949,17
23,999,94, 7,150,61;
120,96t 70,624
15,89( -
55,808,63. 55,077,86,
(61,309,79) (61,933,43)
(5,364,30) (6,784,95()

$ 1863564 $ 365,66:




MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARY

(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenue

Costs and expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
In-process research and development charge
Impairment of intangible assets
Loss on disposition of intangible assets
Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Other (income) expense:
Equity in losses of Hedrin JV
Interest and other income
Change in fair value of derivative
Interest and amortization expense
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Realized gain on sale of marketable equity securities

Total other (income) expense

Net income (loss)
Preferred stock dividends (including imputed amounts)

Net income (loss) applicable to common shares

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic and diluted

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding:
Basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statsm

Years ended December 31,

Cumulative
period from

August 6, 2001

(inception) to

December 31,

2010 2009 2010

- -3 -

495,79: 40,37¢ 28,828,00.
1,520,94: 1,731,18; 19,714,39
- - 11,887,80

- - 1,248,23(

- - 1,213,87!
2,016,73! 1,771,55! 62,892,31
(2,016,73) (1,771,55) (62,892,31)
- 500,00( 750,00(
(548,44 (586,69 (2,415,67))
(3,522,05)) 560,06¢ (3,091,98))
1,271,044 548,35¢ 1,912,444
159,07( - 159,07(

- - (76,032)
(2,640,38)) 1,021,72° (2,762,17)
623,64t (2,793,28)) (60,130,14)

- - (1,179,64)

623,64t (2,793,28) $ (61,309,79)

0.00€ (0.040)
111,875,91 70,624,23;




MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARY
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Defiency)

Stock issued at $0.0004 per share for subscriptiol
receivable
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2001
Proceeds from subscription receivable
Stock issued at $0.0004 per share for licensesigh
Stock options issued for consulting services
Common stock issued at $0.63 per share, net of
expenses
Amortization of unearned consulting services
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2002
Common stock issued at $0.63 per share, net of
expenses
Effect of reverse acquisition
Payment for fraction shares for stock combination
Preferred stock issued at $10 per share, net of
expenses
Imputed preferred stock dividend
Amortization of unearned consulting services
Unrealized loss on short-term investments
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2003
Exercise of stock options
Common stock issued at $1.10 per share, net of
expenses
Preferred stock dividend accrued
Preferred stock dividend paid by issuance of
preferred shares
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock a
$1.10 per share
Warrants issued for consulting services
Amortization of unearned consulting services
Unrealized gain and reversal of unrealized loss ot
short-term investments
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2004
Common stock issued at $1.11 and $1.15 per she
net of expenses
Common stock issued at $1.11 in satisfaction of
accounts payable
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of warrants
Preferred stock dividend accrued
Preferred stock dividend paid by issuance of
preferred shares
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock a
$1.10 per share
Stock issued in connection with acquisition of Tear
Therapeutics, Inc.
Reversal of unrealized gain on short-term invests
Share-based compensation
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2005
Cashless exercise of warrants
Costs associated with private placement
Unrealized loss on short-term investments
Share-based compensation
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2006

Deficit
accumulated Total
Additional during stockholders'
Common Common paid-in development equity
stock shares stock amount capital stage Other (deficiency)
10,167,74. $ 10,16¢ (6,16¢) $ - (4,000) -
- - - (56,79¢€) - (56,796
10,167,74: 10,16¢ (6,16€) (56,79¢) (4,000) (56,79¢)
- - - - 4,00C 4,00C
2,541,93! 2,54z (1,542) - - 1,00C
- - 60,58¢ - (60,58¢) -
3,043,33. 3,04z 1,701,27 - - 1,704,31¢
- - - - 22,721 22,721
- - - (1,037,32() - (1,037,32()
15,753,00i 15,752 1,754,15: (1,094,11¢) (37,86¢) 637,92%
1,321,80t 1,322 742,36¢ - - 743,69
6,287,58. 6,287 2,329,95¢ - - 2,336,24:
- - (300) - - (300)
- - 9,045,177t - 1,00C 9,046,17t
- - 418,18: (418,187 - -
- - - - 37,86¢ 37,86¢
- - = - (7,760) (7,760)
- - - (5,960,90) - (5,960,90)
23,362,391 23,362 14,289,53! (7,473,20Y) (6,760) 6,832,93:
27,60( 27 30,07: - - 30,10¢
3,368,95:. 3,36¢ 3,358,34¢ - - 3,361,71¢
- - - (585,799 - (585,799
- - 281,07: - 25 281,09¢
1,550,23¢ 1,551 (1,380 - 171 -
- - 125,55¢ - (120,96¢) 4,59C
- - - - 100,80( 100,80(
- - - - 20,997 20,991
- - - (5,896,03)) - (5,896,03))
28,309,18 28,30¢ 18,083,20: (13,955,03)) (6,077) 4,150,40!
11,917,68! 11,91¢ 12,238,29: - - 12,250,20!
675,67¢ 676 749,32¢ - - 750,00(
32,40 33 32,367 - - 32,40
279,84t 279 68,212 - - 68,491
- - - (175,667) - (175,667
- - 477,73¢ - 42 477,77¢
8,146,85¢ 8,147 (7,25)) - (896) -
10,731,05: 10,731 11,042,25: - - 11,052,98.
- - - - (12,250 (12,250
- - 66,971 - 20,16¢ 87,13¢
- - - (19,140,99) - (19,140,99)
60,092,69' 60,09z 42,751,11: (33,271,69)) 987 9,540,49¢
27,341 27 (27) - - -
- - (15,257 - - (15,257
- - - - (987) (987)
- - 1,675,49¢ - - 1,675,49¢
- - - (9,695,12)) - (9,695,12))
60,120,03: 60,12 44,411,32! (42,966,81) - 1,504,62¢






MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARY
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Defiency)

Common stock issued at $0.84 and $0.90 per
share, net of expenses
Common stock issued to directors at $0.72 pe
share in satisfaction of accounts payable
Common stock issued in connection with in-
licensing agreement at $0.90 per share
Common stock issued in connection with in-
licensing agreement at $0.80 per share
Warrants issued for consulting services
Exercise of warrants
Cashless exercise of warrants
Share-based compensation
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2007
Sale of warrant
Warrants issued with 12% notes
Share-based compensation
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2008
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle

Balance at January 1, 2009, as adjusted
Warrants issued with secured 12% notes
Warrants issued to placement agent - securec
12% notes
Share-based compensation
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2009
Common stock issued at $0.07 per share, net
expenses
Derivative liability associated with warrants
issued with common stock
Shares issued and issuable in Merger with
Ariston
Share-based compensation
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2010

Deficit
accumulated Total
during stockholders'
Common stock Common stock Additional development equity
shares amount paid-in capital stage Other (deficiency)
10,185,50: $ 10,18¢ 7,84199¢ $ - $ - % 7,852,18!
27,77¢ 28 19,97 - - 20,00¢
125,00( 125 112,37t - - 112,50(
150,00( 150 119,85( - - 120,00(
- - 83,67( - - 83,67(
10,327 15 7,21¢ - - 7,234
5,58¢ - (6) - - (6)
- - 1,440,95t - - 1,440,95t
- - - (12,032,25)) - (12,032,25))
70,624,23: 70,624 54,037,36. (54,999,071 - (891,08%)
- - 150,00( - - 150,00(
- - 170,12¢ - - 170,12¢
- - 463,89( - - 463,89(
- - - (4,268,859 - (4,268,859
70,624,23: 70,624 54,821,37! (59,267,92)) - (4,375,929
- - (150,000 127,77¢ - (22,227)
70,624,23. 70,624 54,671,37! (59,140,151 - (4,398,14)
- - 46,12t - - 46,12t
- - 6,91¢ - - 6,91¢
- - 353,43¢ - - 353,43¢
- - - (2,793,28Y) - (2,793,28Y)
70,624,23. 70,624 55,077,86. (61,933,43) - (6,784,95()
43,278,60! 43,27¢ 2,542,20° - - 2,585,48t
- - (3,497,899 - - (3,497,899
7,062,42: 7,063 1,468,98: - 15,89( 1,491,93
- - 217,47¢ - - 217,47¢
- - - 623,64¢ - 623,64¢
120,965,261  $ 120,96¢ 55,808,63. $ (61,309,79) $ 15,89C $ (5,364,30))

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statsm
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.and SUBSIDIARY
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cumulative period
from August 6, 2001

Years Ended Dcecember 31, (inception) to

2010 2009 December 31, 2010
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 623,64t $ (2,793,28) $ (60,130,14)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net casld in operating
activities:
Equity in losses of Hedrin JV - 500,00( 750,00(
Share-based compensation 217,47¢ 353,43¢ 4,399,79(
Interest and amortization of OID and issue costs 352,65¢ 543,18: 936,63
Change in fair value of derivative (3,522,05) 560,06¢ (3,091,98)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 159,07( - 159,07(
Depreciation 3,401 5,531 230,86
Shares issued in connection with in-licensing agreement - - 232,50(
Warrants issued to consultant - - 83,67(
Amortization of intangible assets - - 145,16
Gain on sale of marketable equity securities - - (76,037
Non-cash portion of in-process research and developchange - - 11,721,62.
Loss on impairment and disposition of intangible asset - - 2,462,10!
Other - - 23,911
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of dtiqns
Decrease in restricted cash - 730,49¢ -
Increase in grant receivable (244,479 - (244,479
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other cassefts 66,42¢ (49,460 37,491
Decrease (increase) in other assets - 13,52¢ (36,370
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (505,277) (913,299 (122,307
Increase in interest payable 879,01: - 879,01
Net cash used in operating activities (1,970,113 (1,049,799 (41,639,47)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (2,844 - (242,457)
Cash acquired in connection with acquisitions 519,36¢ - 493,33¢
Net cash provided from the purchase and sale of stront-t
investments - - 435,93¢
Proceeds from sale of license - - 200,00:
Net cash provided by investing activities 516,52! - 886,82!
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds related to sale of common stock, net 2,163,48t - 28,059,74i
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock, net - - 9,046,171
Proceeds from the Hedrin JV agreement - 500,00( 3,199,171
Proceeds from sale of Secured 12% Notes - 340,27( 1,345,41.
Sale of warrant - - 150,00(
Proceeds from sale of Convertible 12% Notes - 164,50: 164,50:
Proceeds from 8% Note 40,00(¢ 27,00C 67,00(
Repayment of 8% Note (67,000 - (67,000
Proceeds from (repayments of) notes payable, net (222,227 27,00( (1,107,129
Repayment of Secured 10% Notes - (70,000 -
Other, net - - 373,43!
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,914,26: 988,77: 41,231,32.
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 460,67 (61,027 478,66¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 17,99¢ 106,02: -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 478,66¢ $ 4499 $ 478,66¢
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.and SUBSIDIARY
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cumulative period
from August 6, 2001

Years Ended December 31, (inception) to
2010 2009 December 31, 2010
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 36,07t $ 5397 $ 67,50¢
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and finarmcitigties:
Investment in Hedrin JV $ 500,00( $ 500,00 $ 1,250,001
Conversion of debt to common stock and warrants 422,00( - 422,00(
Issuance of common stock for acquisitions 1,491,93 - 14,881,16.
Warrants issued with 12% Notes - 27,39 27,39(
Note issued to setlle accrued expenses - 211,90( 211,90(
Imputed and accrued preferred stock dividend - - 1,179,64-
Common stock issued in satisfaction of accounts payable - - 770,00(
Preferred stock dividends paid by issuance of shares - - 759,13¢
Net liabilities assumed over assets acquired in buseoesbination - - (675,416
Marketable equity securities received in connection with cla
license - - 359,90'
Issuance of common stock in connection with in-licensigreement - - 232,50(
Warrants issued with Secured 12% Notes - 53,044 223,17:
Warrants issued to consultant - - 83,67(
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock - - 1,067
Cashless exercise of warrants - - 33

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statsm
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1)

Manhattan Pharmaceuticals. Inc. and Subsidiary
(a Development Stage Company)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Merger and Nature of Operations

2003 Reverse Merger

On February 21, 2003, the Company (formerly known as “Addrechnology Ventures, Inc.”) completed a reverse iaitepn of
privately held Manhattan Research Development, Inc. (“Mamh&esearch”) (formerly Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, lac.)
Delaware corporation. At the effective time of therger, the outstanding shares of common stock of MantRésearch
automatically converted into shares of the Compargrisnaon stock representing 80 percent of the Company’'saadisg voting
stock after giving effect to the merger. Since tloeldtolders of Manhattan Research received the majorityeofdting shares of the
Company, the merger was accounted for as a reverseitioquidereby Manhattan Research was the accounting acegef
acquiree) and the Company was the accounting acquiges dequirer) under the purchase method of accountingonimection with
the merger, the Company changed its name from “Atlantibfi@ogy Ventures, Inc.” to “Manhattan Pharmaceutjdals” The
results of the combined operations have been includiéteiCompany’s financial statements since February 2003.

As described above, the Company resulted from the Fgt2ia2003 reverse merger between Atlantic Technology Yesitinc.
(“Atlantic™), which was incorporated on May 18, 1993, and gelyaheld Manhattan Research Development, Inc., incatpdron
August 6, 2001. The Company was incorporated in the StBxelawvare. In connection with the merger, the forsteckholders of
Manhattan Research received a number of shares oftissacommon stock so that following the merger thaiectively owned 80
percent of the outstanding shares. Upon completidmeafiterger, Atlantic changed its name to Manhattan Pharmeadsutinc. and
thereafter adopted the business of Manhattan Research.

The Company is a biopharmaceutical company focused onopgavgland commercializing innovative pharmaceutical thesdpre
underserved patient populations. The Company acquires righssetechnologies by licensing or otherwise acquitinganership
interest, funding their research and development asuiteally either bringing the technologies to marketugrlicensing. We
currently have three product candidates in development:-728Tor the treatment of vitamin B-12 deficiency. AST-8di5the
treatment of essential tremor and Hedrin™, a novel,ingecticide treatment of pediculitis (head lice) whiheing developed by
the Hedrin JV (see note 6) and a topical product fotrélement of psoriasis. During 2009, the Company disuoed development
of PTH (1-34), Altoderm and Altolyn.

Acquisition of Tarpan Therapeutics, Inc.

In April 2005, the Company merged with Tarpan Therapeutics, a Delaware corporation (“Tarpan”), and Tarpan Asitjan
Corp., a Delaware corporation. The acquisition of TalEmbeen accounted for by the Company under the punciedised of
accounting. Under the purchase method, assets acquirédailities assumed by the Company are recorded aitdkgmated fair
values and the results of operations of the acquireg@oynare consolidated with those of the Company frend#tie of
acquisition. The excess purchase price paid by the Compamgjuire the net assets of Tarpan was allocatemttorad in-process
research and development totaling $11,887,807. As requirea fpptbhase method of accounting, the Company recordegrge
in its consolidated statement of operations for ttee gaded December 31, 2005 for the in-process research aiopaeent.

Acquisition of Ariston Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

On March 8, 2010, Manhattan entered into an Agreement and flN&rger (the "Merger Agreement") by and among the Compan
Ariston Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporatidrigton™) and Ariston Merger Corp., a Delaware cogimm and wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (the "Merger Sub"). Putdaahe terms and conditions set forth in the MeAgneement, on
March 8, 2010, the Merger Sub merged with and into Ariston"lfleeger"), with Ariston being the surviving corporatiohthe
Merger. As a result of the Merger, Ariston becaméally-owned subsidiary of Manhattan. The operating resfilégiston from
March 8, 2010 to December 31, 2010 are included in the accoinpamonsolidated statements of operations. The consetida
balance sheet as of December 31, 2010 reflects the dicoquasiAriston, effective March 8, 2010, the date of therer. See Note

8.

F-9




(2)

(3)

Manhattan Pharmaceuticals. Inc. and Subsidiary
(a Development Stage Company)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Liquidity and Basis of Presentation

Liquidity

The Company had net income of $623,645 and negative cashffftowsperating activities of $1,970,113 for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The Company incurred a net loss of $2,738)88tegative cash flows from operating activities of $1 8%
for the year ended December 31, 2009. The net loss alpiplim common shares from date of inception, Auguzd®], to
December 31, 2010 amounts to $61,309,790.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Companyedagdproximately $2.2 million from an equity financing tratisa
(see Note 9). In addition approximately $422,000 of notes fegall interest payable thereon was converted in disyefinancing
transaction. Subsequent to December 31, 2010 the Compaierk$575,000 from the Nordic Settlement (see Note 14). The
Company expects to receive $244,000 from a federal grantgpnagdring the second quarter of 2011.

The Company received approximately $0.3 million in February 2@d9 the final closing of the sale of Secured 12% Notes,
approximately $0.5 million in February 2009 from a joint veatagreement, approximately $0.2 million from the sake of
Convertible 12% Note and approximately $27,000 from AristeerfAaceuticals, Inc. in exchange for a note in December 2009.
addition, the Company issued a $0.2 million non-interesirigante in connection with the Swiss Pharma Settlenférgse notes
are more fully described in Note 7.

Management believes that the Company will continuedor net losses through at least December 31, 201 loatitefforeseeable
future. Based on the resources of the Company availebleceamber 31, 2010, management believes that the Company has
sufficient capital to fund its operations through the @n2011. Management believes that the Company will ndédti@nal equity

or debt financing or will need to generate positive dkstrfrom a joint venture agreement, see Note 6, oegae revenues through
licensing of its products or entering into strategi@alties to be able to sustain its operations into 2012hdfmore, the Company
will need additional financing thereafter to completealigyment and commercialization of its products. Tltarebe no assurances
that we can successfully complete development and comatization of our products. In addition, $1,725,000 principabant of
debt plus interest thereon matured in three tranches beginrit@yember 2010. On February 9, 2011, the Company entdred i
waiver and forbearance agreement with the requisitiehs of the 12% senior secured notes whereby the holdéres dotes agreed
to forbear the exercise of their rights under the Natekwaive the default thereof until December 31, 2011 (st 149.

The Company does not have the financial resources aegéssonduct the pivotal trial of AST-726 and will haweaise funds for
that purpose.

The Company's continued operation will depend on itstghidi raise additional funds through various potential sounces &s
equity and debt financing, collaborative agreemenistegfic alliances and its ability to realize the fudtential of its technology in
development. Additional funds may not become available oepsable terms, and there can be no assurance thatiditipnal
funding that the Company does obtain will be sufficiemhézt the Company’'s needs in the long-term.

These matters raise substantial doubt about the Conspalnility to continue as a going concern. The accaoyipg financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might fesulthe outcome of this uncertainty.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The Company has not generated any revenue from itstioperand, accordingly, the financial statements leemn prepared in
accordance with the provisions of accounting and regpftinDevelopment Stage Enterprises.
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Manhattan Pharmaceuticals. Inc. and Subsidiary
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformityr accounting principles generally accepted in theddh8tates of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptibaehbacertain reported amounts of assets and liabikind disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date ofittencial statements and the reported amounts of expeusiag the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Research and Development

All research and development costs are expensed assideurd include costs of consultants who conduct rdseart development
on behalf of the Company and its subsidiaries. Ge#tsed to the acquisition of technology rightsvitrich development work is
still in process are expensed as incurred and considetedppnent of research and development costs.

The Company often contracts with third parties tilitate, coordinate and perform agreed-upon research andpmaht of a new
drug. To ensure that research and development costg@esed as incurred, the Company records monthly acbassd on the
work performed under the contracts.

These contracts typically call for the payment efféor services at the initiation of the contraa/anupon the achievement of
certain milestones. This method of payment often doematch the related expense recognition resultinghieredt prepayment,
when the amounts paid are greater than the relatedclesegal development costs expensed, or an accrued liabhigy) the
amounts paid are less than the related research and desetamsts expensed.

Fair Value Measurements

On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted a standard toststabbnsistent framework in how to value the fair vafuessets and
liabilities. This framework is intended to increasesisiency in how fair value determinations are made wettdous existing
accounting standards that permit, or in some cases regstiaates of fair market value. This standard also exgeraigial
statement disclosure requirements about a company’s teie wdlue measurements, including the effect of suchsarea on
earnings.

This standard defines fair value as the exchange pricevthad be received for an asset or paid to transfeibdity (an exit price) in
the principal or most advantageous market for the asdiebility in an orderly transaction between markattigipants on the
measurement date. This standard also establish&svalée hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs whenuniregdair value. That hierarchy is as follows:
Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical asselialafities.
Level 2 —Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such asdjpdtes for similar assets or liabilities, quoted gsit
markets that are not active, or other inputs thabbservable or can be corroborated by observable marlketodat
substantially the full term of the assets or lialgiit
Level 3 —Observable inputs that are supported by little or ndketactivity and that are significant to the fairuabf the
assets or liabilities.

The Company utilizes the market approach to measureafaie of its financial assets and liabilities. Tharket approach uses
prices and other relevant information generated by nmndesactions involving identical or comparable asaad liabilities. The
Company'’s financial assets (cash equivalents) as @ébber 31, 2010 were held in money market funds which ise lLlev
measurable input.
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The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes Option Pricirogleh to estimate the fair value of its derivative iligbassociated with
warrant obligations and a convertible note obligatior ($¢ete 10). The Company considers them to be LevedtBiments. The
following table shows the weighted average assumptien€dmpany used to develop the fair value estimates fatetieemination
of the derivative liability in 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Fair value $0.0050 - $0.0406 -
$0.0067 $0.0495
Expected volatility 89% - 104% 94% - 118%
Dividend yield - -
Expected term (in years) 2.26 -4.27 1.82-4.83

Risk-free interest rate 0.61% - 1.52% 1.14% - 2.69%

The following table summarizes the changes in Level tBuments for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Fair value at January 1 $ 784,770 $ 22,22:
Purchases, sales, issuances anc
settlements 3,272,12. 202,49(
Net unrealized (gain)/loss (3,522,05) 560,06¢
Fair value at December 31 $ 534,84t $ 784,773

In-process Research and Development

All acquired research and development projects arededat their fair value as of the date acquisition. filresalues are assessed
as of the balance sheet date to ascertain if therbden any impairment of the recorded value. If ttseg@ impairment, the asset is
written down to its current fair value by the recordinguofexpense. Impairment is tested on an annual basisprsidts of a
comparison of the fair value of the in-process reteand development with its carrying amount.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset anldyliai®thod. Deferred tax assets and liabilities aregeized for the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences eetfirancial statement carrying amounts of existingtassel liabilities, and
their respective tax bases and operating loss ardedk carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liadsliire measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable incothe iears in which those temporary differences are teghée be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets abdities of a change in tax rates is recognized innme@ the period that includes
the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provideehwt is more likely than not that some portion or Bthe deferred tax
assets will not be realized.

Computation of Net Income (Loss) per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is calcubgtelividing net income (loss) applicable to common shiayebe weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding for tiepeDiluted net loss per common share is the sarhasis net income

(loss) per common share, since potentially dilutive séesifrom stock options, stock warrants and convierfiipeferred stock would
have an antidilutive effect either because the Comjpanwyred a net loss during the period presented or becaeh potentially
dilutive securities were out of the money and the Camppaalized net income during the period presented. ioaiats of

potentially dilutive securities excluded from the calculatiere 211,559,852 and 99,159,628 shares at December 31, 2010 and 2(
respectively. These amounts do not include the 71,428,5sskauable upon the exercise of the put or call rightigdsin
connection with the Hedrin JV (see Note 6). All of thletive securities are out of the money and arefore, excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share for the yeardeDdeember 31, 2010.
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Share-Based Compensation

The Company has stockholder-approved stock incentive fdaemployees, directors, officers and consultantgor Ry January 1,
2006, the Company accounted for the employee, director foergilans using the intrinsic value method. Effectizruhry 1, 2006,
the Company adopted the share-based payment method fayempptions using the modified prospective transition ndethde
use a Black-Scholes model to estimate the fair value.

The Company recognizes compensation expense relatetitcogtion grants on a straight-line basis over tistirvg period. For the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company recodpaizethased employee compensation cost of $217,479 and
$353,438, respectively. The Company did not capitalize laanesbased compensation cost.

Options granted to consultants and other non-employeegeorded at fair value at the date of grant and subsbgadjusted to fair
value at the end of each reporting period until such optiest, and the fair value of the options, as adjustesnortized to
consulting expense over the related vesting period. Asuét if adjusting consultant and other non-employee optofasrtvalue as
of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, net of amastizéthe Company recognized an increase to generadmuhistrative
and research and development expenses of $217 for thengear Becember 31, 2010 and an increase to general and acdneis
and research and development expenses of $1,725 for thengleal December 31, 2009. The Company has allocated skark-ba
compensation costs to general and administrative, @edneh and development expenses as follows:

2010 2009

General and administrative expense:
Share-based employee compensation cost $ 217,26: $ 351,71
Share-based consultant and non-employee cost 22 172
217,28« 351,88t

Research and development expense
Share-based employee compensation cost - -
Share-based consultant and non-employee cost 195 1,55%
195 1,65%
Total share-based compensation $ 217,47¢  $ 353,43¢

To compute compensation expense in 2010 and 2009 the Compamtedtihe fair value of each option award on the dajeant
using the Black-Scholes model. The Company based thetegpestatility assumption on a volatility index of peer conipams the
Company did not have a sufficient number of years ¢bhcsl volatility of its common stock. The expectednef options granted
represents the period of time that options are expectesel tatstanding. The Company estimated the expectedtatock options
by the simplified method. The expected forfeiture ratedased on the historical employee forfeiture expeegrito determine the
risk-free interest rate, the Company utilized the Ur8asury yield curve in effect at the time of grarttva term consistent with the
expected term of the Company’'s awards. The Company haeciared a dividend on its common stock since its ifmmepnd has
no intentions of declaring a dividend in the foreseeflilee and therefore used a dividend yield of zero.

The following table shows the weighted average assumpghienSompany used to develop the fair value estimatelsdor
determination of the compensation charges in 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Expected volatility 87% 94%
Dividend yield - -
Expected term (in years) 5.7 6.5
Risk-free interest rate 2.47 2.63
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The Company has shareholder-approved incentive stockqptias for employees under which it has granted nonfigdadind
incentive stock options. In December 2003, the Compaaplested the 2003 Stock Option Plan (the “2003 Plan”), whiokiged
for the granting of up to 5,400,000 options to officers,atimes, employees and consultants for the purchase of sBtisequently,
the Company increased the number of shares of commck reserved for issuance under the 2003 Plan by 9,600,000 shares.
December 31, 2010, 15,000,000 shares were authorized for issSUBmE options have a maximum term of 10 years aricvesa
period determined by the Company’s Board of Directoradigrly 3 years) and are issued at an exercise price teqoragireater than
the fair market value of the shares at the date ot.gfEme 2003 Plan expires on December 10, 2013 or when alhsptave been
granted, whichever is sooner. At December 31, 2010, gptmpurchase 10,437,696 shares were outstanding, 27,776cathares
common stock were issued and there were 4,534,528 shaeeged for future grants under the 2003 Plan.

In July 1995, the Company established the 1995 Stock OptiantRE“1995 Plan”), which provided for the granting of ops to
purchase up to 130,000 shares of the Company’'s common atofflicers, directors, employees and consultants. TBB Pfan was
amended several times to increase the number of sleasrged for stock option grants. In June 2005, the 199%Rtared and no
further options can be granted. At December 31, 2010, opfignechase 1,137,240 shares were outstanding and no shages we
reserved for future stock option grants under the 1995 Plan.

Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the fair valwaslofand cash equivalents, accounts payable, thertble/g%
notes payable, the ICON convertible note payable lamdecured 12% notes payable approximate their carrgings: At
December 31, 2009 the fair value of the convertible 12% a@®s not approximate its carrying value as a porfitmedair value is
reflected as a component of derivative liability. OrriA®, 2010, the holder of the convertible 12% note egectits option to
convert (see Note 7).

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of cash or short term imergis with original maturities at the time of purchefsehree months or less.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciatovided using the straight-line method over estichaseful lives. When
assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the edsieated accumulated depreciation are removed from tbarasgcand any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in operations fop#reod. Amortization of leasehold improvements is dalked using the
straight-line method over the remaining term of ttaeséeor the life of the asset, whichever is shoftee. cost of repairs and
maintenance is charged to operations as incurredfisatirenewals and improvements are capitalized.

Derivative Liability

The Company evaluates whether warrants or conveitisteuments to acquire stock of the Company contamigioms that protect
holders from declines in the stock price or otherwis#dcoesult in modification of the exercise price underrtspective
agreements. Down-round provisions reduce the exqudeof a warrant or convertible instrument if a compeither issues equity
shares for a price that is lower than the exercige pand such instruments are recorded as derivadbiitles. The Company uses a
Black-Scholes model to estimate the fair value ofatsvertible notes and warrants.

Equity in Joint Venture
The Company accounts for its investment in joint ven{gee Note 6) using the equity method of accounting. Uhdequity
method, the Company records its pro-rata share dfyeimure income or losses and adjusts the basis ioviestment accordingly.

F-14




(4)

(5)

Manhattan Pharmaceuticals. Inc. and Subsidiary
(a Development Stage Company)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2008, the FASB ratified a pronouncement whichighes that an entity should use a two step approach to evalbather an
equity-linked financial instrument (or embedded featur@jdexed to its own stock, including evaluating the insemt's contingent
exercise and settlement provisions. It also claritiee impact of foreign currency denominated strikeggrand market-based
employee stock option valuation instruments on the evatuafius statement was effective for fiscal years begonaifter December
15, 2008. The adoption of this statement had a significant inopatte Company’s financial statements (see Note 10).

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board @PASsued a new pronouncement, “Improving DisclosutmEsia
Fair Value Measurements”. This provision amends pusvigrovisions that require reporting entities to make aisefosures about
recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements inclublmgmounts of and reasons for significant transfeosand out of
Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and seplisatesure of purchases, sales, issuances, and settlemtirgs
reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements. Pha@ouncement was effective for interim and annual rejgpperiods
beginning after December 15, 2009, except for Level 3 rdaaion disclosures which are effective for interimdeemnual periods
beginning after December 15, 2010. The adoption of thisgqumcement did not have a material impact on the Caypeesults of
operations or financial condition.

In April 2010, the FASB issued a new pronouncement “Rev&agegnition — Milestone Method”. This pronouncement

provides guidance on the criteria that should be metdt@rmining whether the milestone method of revenusgreton is
appropriate. A vendor can recognize consideration tltanisngent upon achievement of a milestone in itsetytas revenue in the
period in which the milestone is achieved only if théestone meets all criteria to be considered substantiikie following criteria
must be met for a milestone to be considered substaniite consideration earned by achieving the milestboeld 1. Be
commensurate with either the level of effort reqiiite achieve the milestone or the enhancement of the ohthe item delivered as
a result of a specific outcome resulting from the veisdmerformance to achieve the milestone. 2. Relatkaysto past
performance. 3. Be reasonable relative to all deibles and payment terms in the arrangement. No bifureztan individual
milestone is allowed and there can be more than omstarle in an arrangement. Accordingly, an arrangemayntontain both
substantive and nonsubstantive milestones. This pnm@ment is effective on a prospective basis for mitest achieved in fiscal
years, and interim periods within those years, beginmngr @fter June 15, 2010. The adoption of this guidance dbvésve a
material impact on our financial statements.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at Deezrf:
2010 2009

Property and equipment $ 38,74¢  $ 35,90¢
Less accumulated

depreciation (35,769 (32,369
Net property and equipmer $ 298/ % 3,541

Stockholders’ Equity

As described in Note 1 the Company completed a reveggesition of privately held Manhattan Research Develogmeo. on
February 21, 2003. In July 2003, the Board of Directors adoptesbhution authorizing an amendment to the certifichte o
incorporation providing for a 1-for-5 combination of thempany’s common stock. The resolution approving the-5-for
combination was thereafter consented to in writing dgidrs of a majority of the Company’s outstanding comntocksand became
effective in September 2003. Accordingly, all share amdlpare information in these financial statements ban bestated to
retroactively reflect the 1-for-5 combination and tffeats of the Reverse Merger.
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2001
During 2001, the Company issued 10,167,741 shares of its costoabnto investors for subscriptions receivable of $4,000 or
$0.0004 per share. During 2002, the Company received the $4,006 tits receivable .

2002

During 2002, the Company issued 2,541,935 shares of its contoubrie Oleoyl-estrone Developments, S.L. (“*OED”) in
conjunction with a license agreement (the OED Licekgreement”). We valued these shares at their thématsd fair value of
$1,000.

During 2002, the Company issued options to purchase 1,292,284 siisis common stock in conjunction with severalstdting
agreements. The fair value of these options was $60;B89 Company expensed $22,721 in 2002 and $37,868 in 2003.

During 2002 and 2003, the Company completed two private placementing 2002, the Company issued 3,043,332 shares of its
common stock at $0.63 per share and warrants to purcha883@#jts common stock in a private placement. After dedgcti
commissions and other expenses relating to the pplatement, the Company received net proceeds of $1,704,318.

2003

During 2003, the Company issued an additional 1,321,806 sHategammon stock at $0.63 per share and warrants to gsgch
132,181 shares of its common stock. After deducting commsssioth other expenses relating to the private placethenGompany
received net proceeds of $743,691. In connection with thesggplacements, the Company issued to the placemeamt \agrrants
to purchase 1,658,753 shares of its common stock.

As described in Note 1, during 2003, the Company completedkase acquisition. The Company issued 6,287,582 shares of it
common stock with a value of $2,336,241 in the reverse atiqnisi

In November 2003, the Company issued 1,000,000 shares ofviisthesignated Series A Convertible Preferred Stodk (th
“Convertible Preferred”) at a price of $10 per sharejmnieate placement. After deducting commissions and @kgenses relating
to the private placement, the Company received neepdscof $9,046,176. Each share of Convertible Preferredomasrtible at
the holder’s election into shares of the Company’s comstock at a conversion price of $1.10 per share. Tineecsion price of
the Convertible Preferred was less than the markeeaflthe Company’s common stock on the date of issuahoceordingly for
the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company recorded atsapeaarge to deficit accumulated during development stagleef
beneficial conversion feature associated with theaisse of Convertible Preferred of $418,182. The Conleffiteferred had a
payment-in-kind annual dividend of five percent. Maxim GroupCldf New York, together with Paramount Capital, Inaelated
party, acted as the placement agents in connection witlritiage placement.

2004

During 2004, the Company issued 3,368,952 shares of its contaonas a price of $1.10 per share in a private placemdet.
deducting commissions and other expenses relating toitla¢epplacement, the Company received net proceeds36143.18. In
connection with the common stock private placement an€tnvertible Preferred private placement, the Comsaued to the
placement agents a warrant to purchase 1,235,589 shates@himon stock.

During 2004, the Company recorded a dividend on the CohleRreferred of $585,799. 24,901 shares of ConvertiblerReéfe
were issued in payment of $282,388 of this in-kind dividenido Auring 2004, 170,528 shares of Convertible Preferree wer
converted into 1,550,239 shares of the Company’s comtook at $1.10 per share.

During 2004, the Company issued 27,600 shares of common statkhgexercise of stock options.
During 2004, the Company issued warrants to purchase 110,0@8 shi&éis common stock in conjunction with three ctiirsy
agreements. The fair value of these warrants was $120J%88Company expensed $100,800 in 2004 and $20,168 in 2005.
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2005

In August 2005, the Company issued 11,917,680 shares of its costacrand warrants to purchase 2,383,508 shares of its comrr
stock in a private placement at $1.11 and $1.15 per shéier. déducting commissions and other expenses relatithg tprivate
placement the Company received net proceeds of $12,250,208noBataBioCapital, Inc. (“Paramount”), an affiliate ofignificant
stockholder of the Company, acted as placement agentampaid cash commissions and expenses of $967,968 of $#Htt625

was paid to certain selected dealers engaged by Paramtiiatprivate placement. The Company also issuethni&rto purchase
595,449 shares of common stock to Paramount and certaihdesgéers, of which Paramount received warrants to pued@ibs 184
common shares. Timothy Mclnerney and Dr. Michaelséfe each a director of the Company, were employeBaramount
BioCapital, Inc. at the time of the transaction.

During 2005, the Company recorded a dividend on the CohleRreferred of $175,663. 41,781 shares of ConvertiblerReéfe
were issued in payment of this $175,663 in-kind dividend andrtpaid portion of the 2004 in-kind dividend, $303,411. Alsandur
2005, the remaining 896,154 shares of Convertible preferretiasaverted into 8,146,858 shares of the Company’s corstook.

During 2005, the Company issued 675,675 shares of its comnubrnast®1.11 per share and warrants to purchase 135,135 shares
its common stock to Cato BioVentures, an affiliat€ato Research, Inc., in exchange for satisfaction of $750fCGounts

payable owed by the Company to Cato Research, Ince Biro/alue of the shares and warrants issued was<apptely $750,000,
there is no impact on the statement of operationthie transaction.

During 2005, the Company issued 312,245 shares of common stockheparercise of stock options and warrants.
As described in Note 1, in April 2005, the Company comgl#te Merger with Tarpan. In accordance with the Agreentieat
stockholders of Tarpan received 10,731,052 shares of the Casmipammon stock with a value of $11,052,984.

2006
During 2006, the Company issued 27,341 shares of common statkhepexercise of warrants.

2007

On March 30, 2007, the Company entered into a series ofrgillstagreements with various institutional and oteredited
investors for the issuance and sale in a privateeplaat of an aggregate of 10,185,502 shares of its common atdokaf net
proceeds of approximately $7.85 million, after deducting comamissind other costs of the transaction. Of the #otelunt of shares
issued, 10,129,947 were sold at a per share price of $0.847 additional 55,555 shares were sold to an entity affiliaigda

director of the Company, at a per share price of $h@0clbsing sale price of the common stock on Marct2@97. Pursuant to the
subscription agreements, the Company also issued toviestors 5-year warrants to purchase an aggregaté@#,897 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. diftants are exercisable during the period commencing Segt&a,

2007 and ending March 30, 2012. Gross and net proceedstegonivate placement were $8,559,155 and $7,852,185, respectivel

Pursuant to these subscription agreements the Comifethg fegistration statement on Form S-3 covering thedeef the shares
issued in the private placement, including the sharealis upon exercise of the investor warrants and therpke@ agent warrants,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2@i¢h was declared effective by the Securities and Exgda
Commission on May 18, 2007.

The Company engaged Paramount, an affiliate of a signtfitockholder of the Company, as its placement ageonnection with
the private placement. In consideration for its sesjithe Company paid aggregate cash commissions of appteki $600,000 and
issued to Paramount a 5-year warrant to purchase argatgyé 509,275 shares at an exercise price of $1.00 per share.
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2008
During 2008, the Company issued warrants to purchase 140,0@8 shi&éis common stock to directors, officers andrapleyee in
conjunction with the secured 10% notes.

During 2008, the Company issued a put for the issuance®hilion shares of its common stock and a warrant tohase 11.1
million shares of its common stock in conjunction vétfoint venture transaction (see Notes 6 and 9).

During 2008, the Company issued warrants to purchase 5lighrshares of its common stock to the investorstaeglacement
agent in conjunction with the sale of the secured 12% notes.

2009
During 2009, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1ahrshares of its common stock to the investorstaeglacement
agent in conjunction with the sale of the secured 12% itstesNote 7).

During 2009, the Company issued warrants to purchase 2idnnsihares of its common stock to the investors haglacement
agent in conjunction with the sale of the convertible I2f#es (see Note 7).

2010
During 2010, the Company entered into subscription agmesméth accredited investors pursuant to which the o issued a
total of 43.3 million shares of the Company’'s commoglstd an issue price of $0.07 (see Note 8).

On March 8, 2010, the Company entered into the Merger Agredmieand among the Company, Ariston and Merger Sulssuant
to the terms and conditions set forth in the MergareAment, on March 8, 2010, the Merger Sub merged with amdiigton, with

Ariston being the surviving corporation of the Mergéss a result of the Merger, Ariston became a wholly-eeveubsidiary of the

Company. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement,dhsideration payable by Manhattan to the stockholders andholoters of
Ariston consists of the issuance of 7,062,423 shares of Mantsacommon stock, par value $0.001 per share (see3)ote

Joint Venture

In February 2008, the Company and Nordic Biotech AdvisorstApstigh its investment fund Nordic Biotech Venture FUi'$
(“Nordic”) entered into a 50/50 joint venture agreem@me “Hedrin JV Agreement”) to develop and commercialieeCompany's
North American rights (under license) to its Hedrin praduc

Pursuant to the Hedrin JV Agreement, Nordic formed aDamish limited partnership, Hedrin Pharmaceuticals K&, 'Hedrin
JV") and provided it with initial funding of $2.5 millicand the Company assigned and transferred its Norttriéanerights in
Hedrin to the Hedrin JV in return for a $2.0 million cashrpest from the Hedrin JV and equity in the Hedrin JV représg 50%
of the nominal equity interests in the Hedrin JV. Aticiggshe Company recognized an investment in the Hedriof $250,000 and
an exchange obligation of $2,054,630. The exchange obligafioesents the Company’s obligation to Nordic to iskae t
Company’'s common stock in exchange for all or a portiddartlic’s equity interest in the Hedrin JV upon the exeroisBlordic of
the put issued to Nordic in the Hedrin JV Agreement trdimsacThe put is described below.

The original terms of the Hedrin JV Agreement also jgled that should the Hedrin JV be successful in achievpayment
milestone, namely that by September 30, 2008, the FDAndietes to treat Hedrin as a medical device, Nordicpuitichase an
additional $2.5 million of equity in the Hedrin JV, whereuploa iHedrin JV will pay the Company an additional $1.5iamilin cash
and issue additional equity in the JV valued at $2.5 miltivereby maintaining the Company’s 50% ownership intérebe Hedrin
JV. These terms have been amended as described below.
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In June 2008, the Hedrin JV Agreement was amended (the FHRdhmended Agreement”). Under the amended terms Nordic
invested an additional $1.0 million, for a total of $3.Siwnil, in the Hedrin JV and made an advance of $250,000 tdetign JV
and the Hedrin JV made an additional $1.0 million paymeng fotal of $3.0 million, to the Company. The Hedhnalso
distributed additional ownership equity sufficient for eatthe Company and Nordic to maintain their owner&hiigrest at

50%. The FDA classified Hedrin as a Class Il medicaladein February 2009. Under the amended terms, upon attdimng t
classification of Hedrin by the FDA, Nordic invested dditional $1.25 million, for a total investment of $5 nafij into the Hedrin
JV, the Hedrin JV paid an additional $0.5 million, footak of $3.5 million, to the Company and the $250,000 thatid@dvanced
to the Hedrin JV in June became an equity investment iH¢dein JV by Nordic. The Hedrin JV was obligated to igsute
Company and Nordic additional ownership interest in thdrld JV, thereby maintaining each of the Company’s aordibls 50%
ownership interest in the Hedrin JV.

In February 2009, the Company’s exchange obligation increasgt, ®90,000 and the Company’s investment in the Hedrin JV
increased by $500,000 as a result of the investment by Nufrdit additional $1.25 million into the Hedrin JV, tleelassification of
the advance made by Nordic in June 2008 to the Hedrin $256f,000 into an equity interest and the payment of $500,000 by the
Hedrin JV to the Company. At both December 31, 2010 and 200€potnpany’s exchange obligation is $3,949,176.

During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Conepagyized $0 and $500,000, respectively, of equity in the losse:
of the Hedrin JV. This reduced the carrying value ahiestment in the Hedrin JV to $0 at both December 31, 20642@09. As

of December 31, 2010, the Company’s estimated share lofsthes is $1,060,000; equity in losses of Hedrin JV previously
recognized was $500,000 leaving an estimated balance of $560)088e3 that were not recognized as of December 31, 2018,
the investment was already written down to zero and timep@ny has no obligation to provide additional equityrfawag for this
amount.

Nordic had an option to put all or a portion of its equitgriest in the Hedrin JV to the Company in exchange ®Cibmpany's
common stock. The Company had an option to call alportion of Nordic's equity interest in the Hedrin &\exchange for the
Company’s common stock. The put and call options teated in January 2011 (see Note 14).

The Hedrin JV is responsible for the development and cooiatieation of Hedrin for the North American market arldaakociated
costs including clinical trials, if required, regulatorgtsy patent costs, and future milestone payments owefiRothe licensor of
Hedrin.

The Hedrin JV engaged the Company to provide managemeitesaiw the Limited Partnership in exchange for a manege

fee. For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, tiE@pheas recognized $300,000 and $333,845, respectively, of other
income from management fees earned from the Hedrin Jshvidincluded in the Company’s statements of operatmmié years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 as a component of interethi@mdame. The agreement to provide managementsstrvi
was terminated in January 2011 (see Note 14).

Nordic paid to the Company a non-refundable fee of $15&00e closing for the right to receive a warrant cogeshares of the
Company’s common stock. The warrant terminated in JarRdry (see Note 14).
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The Company granted Nordic registration rights for theres to be issued upon exercise of the warrant, the e oall. The
Company filed an initial registration statement on Mag008. The registration statement was declared effemtiv@ctober 15,
2008. On June 2, 2009, the Company filed an additional Retgist Statement registering the additional 28,769,841 shéres
Common Stock that may be issued to Nordic upon exercaseuf right held by Nordic as a result of Nordic’s addal investment
of $1,250,000 in Hedrin JV pursuant to the terms of the Panipehgreement and as adjusted pursuant to the anti-dilptiovisions
of the put right (the "Put Shares") and the additior@68254 shares issuable upon exercise of an outstanding ey
Nordic. The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SE@&S)informed the Company that the Company may gates the Put
Shares for resale until Nordic exercises its put rightsarch shares of Common Stock are outstanding. The @grbpheves that it
has used commercially reasonable efforts to causedistragion statement to be declared effective and hisfiesd its obligations
under the registration rights agreement with respettetodgistration of the Put Shares. The Company vepsreel to file additional
registration statements, if required, within 45 days ofiite the Company first knows that such additional regmtratatement was
required. As of January 2011 the Company is no longerreghjto file additional registration statements.

The profits of the Hedrin JV are to be shared by tbegany and Nordic in accordance with their respective yequérests in the
Limited Partnership, which, prior to the January 4, 201leseent and release agreement (see Note 14), were 9886dic and 45%
to Manhattan, except that Nordic will get a minimum disttion from the Hedrin JV equal to 6% on Hedrin salesdasted for any
change in Nordic’s equity interest in the Limited Paghgy. If the Hedrin JV realizes a profit equal to oratgethan a 12% royalty
on Hedrin sales, then profits will be shared by the @mg and Nordic in accordance with their respective eduiigyests in the
Limited Partnership. However, in the event of a ligion of the Limited Partnership, Nordic’s distributionigquidation will be at
least equal to the amount Nordic invested in the Hedri$3\million) plus 10% per year, less the cumulative distidns received
by Nordic from the Hedrin JV. If the Hedrin JV’s assatiquidation exceed the Nordic liquidation preference amahet) any
excess shall be distributed to the Company until itsilligton and the Nordic liquidation preference amountatbé same ratio as
the respective equity interests in the Hedrin JV and tairgler, if any, shall be distributed to Nordic and then@any in the same
ratio as the respective equity interests. Furtherpiavent shall Nordic’s distribution in liquidation be afes than assets available
for distribution in liquidation. After the January 4, 20&ttlement and release agreement (see Note 14) the respeptity interests
in the Limited Partnership were 85% to Nordic and 15%dohattan.

On January 4, 2011 the Company entered into settlementiaade agreement (the “Settlement and ReleaserAgnéd with

Nordic Biotech Venture Fund Il K/S (*Nordic”) and H Pheaaceuticals K/S (the "Joint Venture"). As previouglgorted, the
Company and Nordic have had various disputes relating tintheVenture and to Nordic’s option to purchase Comganymon
stock in exchange for a portion of Nordic’s interest @ dbint Venture (the "Put Right"), and Nordic's watranpurchase Company
common stock (the "Warrant”). The Settlement andd&elédgreement resolves all disputes between the Comnpartiye one hand,
and Nordic and the Joint Venture, on the other (see Ng).

Notes Payable

The following is a summary of Notes Payable:
At December 31, 2010 At December 31, 2009
Current Noncurrent Current Noncurrent
portion, net portion, net Total portion, net portion, net Total

Secured 12%

Notes Payab $ 1,722,340 $ - $ 1,722,340 $ 1,247,06: $ 384,47 $ 1,631,53
8% Note

Payable - - - 27,00C
Nor-interest

Bearing Note

Payable 231,90( - 231,90( - 211,901 211,901
Convertible

12% Note

Payable - - - - 17,807 17,807
Convertible 5%

Notes Payab - 15,452,79: 15,452,79: - - -
ICON

Convertible

Note Payabl 100,00( 677,77¢ 777,77¢ - - -

Total $ 2,05424¢ $ 16,130,57 $ 18,18481 $ 1,274,06. $ 614,187 $ 1,888,24

27,000.0(
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a. Secured 12% Notes Payable

On November 19, 2008, December 23, 2008 and February 3, 2009, tiparorompleted the first, second and final closings on a
financing transaction (the “Secured 12% Notes Transagtioftie Company sold $1,725,000 of 12% senior secured nioges (t
“Secured 12% Notes”) and issued warrants to the investgnsrchase 57.5 million shares of the Company's camstack at $0.09
per share. The warrants expire on December 31, 2013. Netfsoof $1.4 million were realized from the three clasirig

addition, $78,000 of issuance costs were paid outside ofatiags.

National Securities Corporation (“National”) was thagagment agent for the Secured 12% Notes Transactidionils
compensation for acting as placement agent was a@asi 10% of the gross proceeds received, a non-accouaiggiese
allowance of 1.5% of the gross proceeds, reimburseafi@attain expenses and a warrant to purchase such nungbeares$ of the
Company’s common stock equal to 15% of the shares undgtlyinwarrants issued to the investors. The CompanyNadidnal a
total of $202,000 in placement agent fees, a non-accourgtgidese allowance and reimbursement of certain expemsaddition,
the Company issued warrants to purchase 8.6 million sbfites Company’'s common stock at $0.09 per share. Thesans were
valued at $29,110 and are a component of Secured 12% notbkepagae costs. The warrants expire on December 31, 2013.

The Secured 12% Notes mature two years after issudmiegest on the Secured 12% Notes is compounded quaridrpjegable at
maturity. At December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, acandaghpaid interest on the Secured 12% Notes amounted to
approximately $481,000 and $229,000, and is reflected in the accgmgpannsolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, respectively, as part of interest gayBiite Secured 12% Notes are secured by a pledge oftlal Gompany’s
assets except for its investment in the Hedrin JV.dditi@n, to provide additional security for the Compargbigations under the
notes, the Company entered into a default agreemerdh whovides that upon an event of default under the nbeeompany

shall, at the request of the holders of the notes;azs®nable commercial efforts to either (i) sqlaet or all of the Company’s
interests in the Hedrin JV or (ii) transfer all or pairthe Company’s interest in the Hedrin JV to thedbrd of the notes, as
necessary, in order to fulfill the Company’s obligatamder the notes, to the extent required and to thetgdamitted by the
applicable Hedrin joint venture agreements.

In connection with the private placement, the Compargyptacement agent and the investors entered into a régistights
agreement. Pursuant to the registration rights agnegwe agreed to file a registration statement tetegihe resale of the shares
of our common stock issuable upon exercise of the wargsted to the investors in the private placement, withide®8 of the
final closing date and to cause the registration statetndy declared effective within 90 days (or 120 days uplbnelview by the
Securities and Exchange Commission). The registratitenstat was filed and declared effective on April 17, 2009.

The Company incurred a total of approximately $424,000 of ¢oshe issuance of the $1,725,000 of Secured 12% Notem sold
2008 and 2009. These costs were capitalized and are beimtized over the life of the Secured 12% Notes interést

expense. During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 208&0ilvet amortized into interest expense was approximately
$197,000 and $206,000, respectively. The remaining unamorgtzacke of approximately $4,400 and $159,000 is reflected in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of Dec@&hli2010 and 2009, respectively, as debt issue costs.

The Company recognized an original issue discount (the “QdDépproximately $194,000 on the issuance of the SecuredNb28s
sold for the value of the warrants issued to the investdhe OID is being amortized over the life of theused 12% Notes into
interest expense. During the years ended December 31, 20P0@O the amount amortized into interest expense was apptelyima
$91,000 and $94,000, respectively. The remaining unamortizalckesof approximately $2,700 and $93,000 has been nettedtagail
the face amount of Notes Payable in the accompanyingptidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2010 andeXjitively.
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The principal amount of Secured 12% Notes plus interestdhenatured in three tranches beginning in November 2010. On
February 9, 2011, the Company entered into a waiver abeai@ance agreement with the requisite holders ofeber&d 12% Notes
whereby the holders of the Notes agreed to forbeagxbreise of their rights under the Notes and waiged#fault thereof until
December 31, 2011 (see Note 14).

b. 8% Note Payable

On December 21, 2009, the Company entered into a Futureéelfromissory Note (the “8% Note”) with Ariston unddrich the
Company may withdraw up to $67,000 bearing interest aeaf8%. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had witmdra
$27,000 from Ariston subject to the terms of the 8% N@a.January 13, 2010, the Company withdrew an additional $20,000
subject to the 8% Note and on January 28, 2010, the Comiidartyew an additional $20,000 subject to the 8% Note.

On March 4, 2010, the Company repaid Ariston the $67,000 witindsabject to the 8% Note and accrued interest of $816.

C. Non-interest Bearing Note Payable

On October 27, 2009, the Company entered into a Settlehgea¢ment and Mutual Release with Swiss Pharma &airiti D

(“Swiss Pharma”) pursuant to which the Company agreedy@wiss Pharma $200,000 and issue to Swiss Pharma astifres
promissory note in the principal amount of $250,000 in ftisfaction of the September 5, 2008 arbitration awaite note matures
in October 2011. The amount of the Arbitration award $&8&3,027 at September 30, 2009 and was included as a component of
accrued expenses.

In connection with the non-interest bearing note,@lompany recognized an original issue discount of $40,06@pafed interest

on the note, which is being amortized into interest egp®n a straight-line basis over the two-year tdrtheonote. For the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company amortized $20,000%08ddb the OID into interest expense, respectivelye Th
remaining unamortized balance of $18,100 has been nettedbiie face amount of Notes Payable in the acconmgny
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2010.

d. Convertible 12% Note Payable

In October 2009, the Company entered into a Subscriptioeefigent (the “Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to whisbld a
12% Oiriginal Issue Discount Senior Subordinated Convertibieeitare with a stated value of $400,000 (the “Convertible 12%
Note”) and a warrant to purchase 2,222,222 shares ofdimp&hy’'s common stock, par value $.001 per share forchamse price of
$200,000. The Convertible 12% Note is convertible intoeshaf Common Stock at an initial conversion price of $p&f%hare,
subject to adjustment, or, in the event the Companyssses securities in connection with a financing, theveédible 12% Note
may be converted into such new securities at a caowepsice equal to the purchase price paid by the puecba$ such new
securities. The Company may also, in its sole disereelect to pay interest due on the Convertible 12% joarterly in shares of
the Company's common stock provided such shares are stdbpet effective registration statement. The Cdiiver12% Note is
subordinated to the Company’s outstanding Secured 12% Ndteswarrant is exercisable at an exercise price of $0.1dhpee,
subject to adjustment. Because the Convertible 12% &wtehe Warrant are convertible into shares of thegaom subject to
adjustment, the conversion feature is subject to D&érevaiability accounting (see Note 10).

National was the placement agent for the Convertiblé kBte transaction. In connection with the issuantkeBecurities, the
Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 222,222ah@oenmon Stock at an exercise price of $0.11 per share,
subject to adjustment, to the placement agent and ceftindesignees. Because the warrant is conveititdeshares of the
Company, subject to adjustment, the warrants are subjBarivative Liability accounting (see Note 10). Ma&rrants expire on
October 28, 2014.

The Convertible 12% Notes mature two years after igseialnterest on the Convertible 12% Note is compoundadeyly and
payable at maturity. At December 31, 2009, accrued and umpaiest on the Convertible 12% Note amounted to apprdglyna
$9,000, and is reflected in the accompanying consolidataddsasheet at December 31, 2009 as a component oirgasable.
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On April 8, 2010, the holder (the "Noteholder") of th&standing Convertible12% Note exercised its option to exrnivs note
(including all accrued interest thereon into 16.88 Units (asritbesl in Note 9). The conversion price was equah&per Unit
purchase price paid by the Investors in the private plademena result of this conversion, the Company aceékd the
amortization of approximately $30,000 in issue costs and $160,0§iabrissue discount, which is reflected as a lossarly
extinguishment of debt in the accompanying consolidateenstatt of operations for the year ended December 31, 2010.

e. Convertible 5% Notes Payable

Upon the Merger, Ariston issued $15,452,793 of five-year S8snayable (the “5% Notes Payable”) in satisfacticses€ral note
payable issuances. The 5% Notes Payable mature thM@d5. The cumulative liability including accrued and ichpaerest of
these several issuances of notes was $15,452,793 as dfitherdate. Interest is payable at maturity and camgimannually. The
5% Notes Payable and accrued and unpaid interest theeeoonaertible at the option of the holder into thenklttan’s common
stock at the conversion price of $0.40 per share. Araioeed to make quarterly payments on the 5% Notes [Ba@iml to 50% of
the gross proceeds resulting from the revenues reckoradhe exploitation or commercialization of Aristeiproduct candidates,
AST-726 and AST-915. The 5% Notes Payable are solelytiiigation of Ariston and have no recourse to Manhattaarghan the
conversion feature discussed above. For the year erstmshiber 31, 2010, the Company recorded approximately $627,000 in
accrued interest, which is reflected as a componéentakst payable in the accompanying balance slsegdt@ecember 31, 2010.

f. ICON Convertible Note Payable

Upon the Merger, Ariston satisfied an account payab®d (175,188 to ICON Clinical Research Limited through the paywafent
$275,188 in cash and the issuance of a three-year 5% notdepéfie “ICON Note Payable”). The principal wasie repaid in 36
monthly installments of $27,778 commencing in April 2010 ardingnin March 2013. Interest was payable monthly in arr&érs
ICON Convertible Note Payable is convertible atdpé&on of the holder into the Company’s common stodketonversion price of
$0.20 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2810othpany has paid approximately $256,000 in principal andsntere
to ICON. For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Gompeaorded approximately $37,000 in interest expense as reftacte
the accompanying consolidated statement of operatiortisdfgiear ended December 31, 2010. The ICON Note Fayais|
amended in March 2011 (see Note 14).

Ariston Merger

On March 8, 2010, the Company entered into the Merger Agredmieand among the Company, Ariston and Merger Sulssuant
to the terms and conditions set forth in the MergareAment, on March 8, 2010, the Merger Sub merged with amdiigton, with
Ariston being the surviving corporation of the Mergéss a result of the Merger, Ariston became a wholly-eeveubsidiary of the
Company.

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the considarpiyable by Manhattan to the stockholders and ndtieitsoof Ariston
consists of the issuance of 7,062,423 shares of Manhattans@o stock, par value $0.001 per share, ("Common StocKlpaing
(as defined in the Merger Agreement) plus the righeteive up to an additional 24,718,481 shares of Common $heck (
“Milestone Shares”) upon the achievement of certain pitadiated milestones described below. In addition, Manhatis reserved
38,630,723 shares of its Common Stock for possible futurenissuia connection with the conversion of $15.45 millién o
outstanding Ariston convertible promissory notes. Tdtemolders will not have any recourse to Manhattarrefoayment of the
notes (their sole recourse being to Ariston), buntiteholders will have the right to convert the natés shares of the

Manhattan’s Common Stock at the rate of $0.40 per slrangher, Manhattan has reserved 5,000,000 shares of itm@oStock
for possible future issuance in connection with the caimerof the $1.0 million outstanding Ariston convertibterpissory note
issued in satisfaction of a trade payable. The notehwlitlenot have any recourse to Manhattan for repayroéthe note (their sole
recourse being to Ariston), but the noteholder willenthe right to convert the note into shares of Manhatt@ommon Stock at the
rate of $0.20 per share.
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Upon the achievement of the milestones described b&liavhattan would be obligated to issue portions of tHedtine Shares to
the former Ariston stockholders and noteholders:

Upon the affirmative decision of Manhattan’s Boardafectors, provided that such decision is made priddacch 8,

2011, to further develop the AST-915, either internally orubhoa corporate partnership, Manhattan would issue
8,828,029 of the Milestone Shares. This milestone wamatl in January 2011 and the shares were issued in March 201.
Upon the acceptance by the FDA of the Ariston’s djlof the first New Drug Application for the AST-726 product
candidate, Manhattan would issue 7,062,423 of the MilestonesShare

Upon the Company receiving FDA approval to marketA8&-726 product candidate in the United States of America,
Manhattan would issue 8,828,029 of the Milestone Shares.

Certain members and former members of Manhattan’'s boalidectors and principal stockholders of Manhattan atithe of the
Merger owned Ariston securities as of the closindnefilerger:

Timothy Mclnerney, a director of Manhattan, owned 16,668eshaf Ariston common stock which represented less than
1% of Ariston’s outstanding common stock as of theinlp of the Merger.

Neil Herskowitz, a director of Manhattan, indirectly owreonvertible promissory notes of Ariston with instrand

principal in the amount of $192,739.

Michael Weiser, a former director of Manhattan, owned 117,B4&s of Ariston common stock, which represented
approximately 2.1% of Ariston’s outstanding common stoalf éise closing of the Merger.

Lindsay Rosenwald, a more than 5% beneficial owneraiidttan common stock, in his individual capacity and indyrectl
through trusts and companies he controls, owned 497,911 shargstan common stdg which represented approximat
8.9% of Ariston’s outstanding common stock as of the mipsf the Merger and indirectly owned convertible pronmgso
notes of Ariston in the amount of $141,438.

The Company merged with Ariston principally to add newdpots to our portfolio. Prior to the Merger, Ariston veagrivate,
clinical stage specialty biopharmaceutical company b#s8trewsbury, Massachusetts that in-licensed, develogeplamed to
market novel therapeutics for the treatment of sericamdiérs of the central and peripheral nervous systems.

The Merger date fair value of the total consideratiad pes $1,491,937 which consisted of 7,062,423 shares of the @gsipa
common stock issued upon the Merger and 15,890,452 contingsathple shares upon Ariston’s attaining certain milest@s
described above. At the time of the Merger, the Comgahyot believe the attainment of the milestone f&8TA15 was highly
probable and, therefore, recorded no contingent consioleralative to it. The par value of the contingentbueble common shares
is reflected in the accompanying consolidated balaneetstas of December 31, 2010 as a component of stockhaldécgncy,
contingently issuable shares. The Company incurréi3¥&f acquisition related costs.

The following table summarizes the fair values ofdksets acquired and liabilities assumed at the Merger date

Cash and cash equivalents $ 519,36¢
Other assets 120,87(

Total identifiable assets 640,23t
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 437,61¢
ICON convertible note payable 1,000,00(
5% convertible notes payable 15,452,79:

Total identifiable liabilities 16,890,40!
Net identifiable assets (liabilities) (16,250,17)
In-process research and development acquire 17,742,111
Net assets acquired $ 1,491,93
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The following supplemental pro forma information preséimésfinancial results as if the acquisition of Aristead occurred on
January 1, 2009 for the year ended December 31, 2009 anduamydan2010 for the year ended December 31, 2010. This
supplemental pro forma information has been preparetbfoparative purposes and does not purport to be indicdtiwieaa would
have occurred had the acquisition been made on January 1, 2D0fuary 1, 2010, nor are they indicative of future results.

Pro forma consolidated results:
Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009
Revenue $ - 8 =
Net income (loss) $ 545,09 $  (5,005,82)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per sh $ 0.008 % (0.0649)

(9) Equity Financing

On March 2, 2010, the Company raised aggregate gross pradeggsoximately $2,547,500 pursuant to a private placement of its
securities (the “2010 Equity Financing”). The Companyrediténto subscription agreements (the "Subscription Agee¢s™) with
seventy-seven accredited investors (the "Investpitg'juant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 101t (dsidefined
herein) for a purchase price of $25,000 per Unit. PursaodhetSubscription Agreements, the Company issuedctolegestor units
(the "Units") consisting of (i) 357,143 shares of commatmtk, $0.001 par value per share (the “Common StockSloares”) of the
Company and (ii) 535,714 warrants (each a “Warrant” andatolely the “Warrants”), each of which will entitlee holder to
purchase one additional share of Common Stock for a pdriog gears (each a “Warrant Share” and collectivbly “Warrant
Shares”) at an exercise price of $0.08 per share. Becau®éatinant Shares are convertible into common sloditbe Company,
subject to adjustment, the conversion feature is sulgjdderivative Liability accounting (see Note 10).

National was the placement agent for the 2010 Equity Fimgiansaction. In connection with the issuance oBeurities, the
Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 3,369,289%$liZoesmon Stock at an exercise price of $0.08 per share
subject to adjustment, to the placement agent and ceftindesignees. Because the warrant is conveititdeshares of the
Company, subject to adjustment, the warrants are subjBarivative Liability accounting (see Note 10). Taarants expire on
March 2, 2015.

All of the Investors represented that they were redited investors,” as that term is defined in Rule 501(&egfulation D under the
Securities Act, and the sale of the Units was madeliance on exemptions provided by Regulation D and Sect®irofithe
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

In connection with the closing of the private placemtr®,Company, the placement agent acting in connectiortlvathrivate
placement (the “Placement Agent”) and the Investorared into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated Baoch 2, 2010, and
the Company agreed to file a registration statemaregiister the resale of the shares, within 60 days ofrthbdiosing date and to
cause the registration statement to be declared &Hagtihin 150 days (or 180 days upon review by the SEC).

The Company received net proceeds of approximately $2.ipmréifter payment of an aggregate of approximately $300,000 of
commissions and expense allowance to the Placement,Agehapproximately $100,000 of other offering and reladstsdn
connection with the private placement. In addition,Gloenpany issued a warrant to purchase 3,652,146 sharemafd@oStock at
an exercise price of $0.08 per share to the Placement Ageaalditional compensation for its services.

The Company did not use any form of advertising or gerseticitation in connection with the sale of the Wnithe Shares, the

Warrants and the Warrant Shares are non-transferalble absence of an effective registration statement unelekdt, or an
available exemption therefrom, and all certificatesragginted with a restrictive legend to that effect.
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On April 8, 2010, the Company completed the final closihine 2010 Equity Financing. In connection with the filasiog, the
Company sold an aggregate of 2.4 additional Units and receateproceeds of approximately $51,700 after payment ajgregate
of $8,300 of commissions and expense allowance to placemertt bgeonnection with the final closing, the Compalspassued a
warrant to purchase 12,857 shares of Common Stock at enisexgrice of $0.08 per share to the placement agentamoadl
compensation for its services.

In addition on April 8, 2010, the holder of the Convertiblé18ote (see Note 7) with a stated value of $400,000 and $2@000
accrued interest, exercised its option to convert iteeDture (including all accrued interest thereon) into 181@8. The conversion
price was equal to the per Unit purchase price paid bintiestors in the private placement.

The Company issued a total of 6,885,717 shares of comnmmanastd warrants to purchase 10,328,566 shares of common stotk a
exercise price of $0.08 per share to the investors ifinthleclosing of the 2010 Equity Financing, including thevamsion of the
12% Convertible Note.

Derivative Liability

In April 2008, the FASB issued ASC 815 which provides guidamcgetermining what types of instruments or embedded feature
an instrument held by a reporting entity can be considedeced to its own stock for the purpose of evaluating teediiteria of the
scope exception in the pronouncement on accounting foratiggs. This pronouncement was effective for findrat@ements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008addgion of these requirements can affect the accountingafoants
and many convertible instruments with provisions tiratect holders from a decline in the stock pricé'down-round” provisions).
For example, warrants with such provisions will no lorgeerecorded in equity. Down-round provisions reduce theeiseeprice of
a warrant or convertible instrument if a company eitbgues equity shares for a price that is lower tharexercise price of those
instruments or issues new warrants or convertibleunsnts that have a lower exercise price. We evaludtether warrants to
acquire stock of the Company contain provisions thaepttolders from declines in the stock price or atiis could result in
modification of the exercise price under the respeetaveant agreements. We determined that the warrantissidordic in April
2008 (the “Nordic Warrant”), contained such provisions,ghgrconcluding it was not indexed to the Company’s owckstod was
reclassified from equity to derivative liabilities.

In accordance with ASC 815, the Company estimated thedhie of the Nordic Warrant as of January 1, 2009 ®2@¢222 by
recording a reduction in additional paid-in capital of $150.80d a decrease in deficit accumulated during the develoztaget of
$127,778. The effect of this adjustment is recorded as a divawéfect of change in accounting principle in ourestants of
stockholders’ equity (deficiency).
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We also determined that the Convertible 12% Note Paya$filied in 2009, the warrants issued in connection witidheertible
12% Note Payable, and the warrants issued in connectibrthgi2010 Equity Financing contained such provisions ameffthe are
derivatives. We determined the fair value based orifisignt inputs not observable in the market and thusessmts a Level 3
measurement as defined in ASC 815. The fair values & terivatives are as follows:

Purchases,
sales,
issuances Change in Fair
December 31, December 31, and Value During
2010 2009 settlements 2010
Nordic Warrant $ 71,42¢ $ 483,33: $ - 8 (411,909
Convertible 12% Note - 180,44« (225,779 45,33«
Warrants issued with
Convertible 12% Notes 15,64 121,00( - (105, 35¢)
Warrants issued in 2010
Equity Financing 447,77 - 3,497,901 (3,050,12)
Total $ 534,84t $ 784,777 $ 3,272,12. $ (3,522,05)

In accordance with ASC 815, the fair value of these divaswere recorded in the accompanying consolidateddmkheets as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, as a component of a currélitlylialerivative liability. The change in fair value hg the years
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 were ($3,522,053) and $560,065, relymeutivare reported as a non-cash charge in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiocasasiponent of other (income) expense.

Stock Options and Warrants

Stock Options
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock optiored Becember 31, 2010 and changes during the period then ended is

presented below:

Weighted
Weighted Average
average Remaining Aggregate
exercise Contractual Term Intrinsic
Shares price (years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 7,459,93t $ 0.72
Granted 4,125,000 $ 0.07 5.7C
Exercised -
Canceled 10,00 $ 0.2€
Forfeited -
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 11,594,93 $ 0.4¢ 6.97 $ -
Exercisable at December 31, 2010 9,999,93t $ 0.5 6.62 $ -
Vested and expected to vest at Deber 31
2010 11,404,99. $ 0.4€ 6.94 $ =

Weighted-average fair value of options
granted during the year ended Decembel
2010 $ 0.046¢

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the total compensatibnetaied to nonvested option awards not yet recognszg49,865 and
$55,249, respectively. The weighted average period over whichxpected to be recognized is approximately 2.17 and 0a2$, ye
respectively.
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The following table summarizes the information abdotls options outstanding at December 31, 2010:

Weighted

Number of Average Number of

Exercise Options Remaining Options

Price Outstanding Life Exercisable
0.07 -

$ $0.1Z 4,175,00( 8.5E 2,600,00(
0.17 -

$  $0.2¢ 3,150,75( 7.3 3,150,75!
0.70 -

$ $L.3E 3,047,18t 5.3 3,047,18I
1.38-

$ $l.6t 1,202,00( 4.5t 1,202,00(

Total 11,574,93 9,999,93l

Stock Warrants
The following table summarizes the information aboatnants to purchase shares of our common stock outsteastdiberember 31,

2010:
Number of Remaining Number of
Exercise Warrants Contractual Life Warrants
Price Outstanding (years) Exercisable
$ 1.0C 4,074,17. 1.2 4,074,17.
0.2¢ 150,00( 1.72 150,00(
0.0¢ 39,675,07! 2.97 39,675,07
0.0¢ 10,733,35! 3.0€ 10,733,35!
0.0¢ 15,716,69! 3.1¢ 15,716,69:
0.2C 140,00( 2.7¢ 140,00(
0.0¢ 58,228,55! 4.2t 58,228,55!
0.0¢ 10,341,42 4.32 10,341,42.
0.07 14,285,71. 2.4% 14,285,71.
0.07 3,841,26! 3.92 3,841,26!
Total 157,186,26 157,186,26

(12) Income Taxes
There was no current or deferred income tax expenshdgrears ended December 31, 2010 or 2009.

The components of deferred tax assets as of Decembeéd1¥ladd 2009 are as follows:

2010 2009

Deferred income tax assets:

Tax loss carryforwards $ 24,065,000 $ 23,170,00i

Research and development credit 1,826,00( 1,799,00(

In-process research and development charge 4,850,00( 4,850,001

Share-based compensation 1,691,00( 1,603,00(

Other (897,000 537,00(
Gross deferred income tax assets 31,535,00t 31,959,00i
Less valuation allowance (31,535,001 (31,959,001

Net deferred income tax assets $ - % =
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The reasons for the difference between actual iedamx benefit for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 20@3eaamount
computed by applying the statutory Federal income taxodtsses before income tax benefit are as follows:

2010 2009
% of % of
Amount Pre-tax loss Amount Pre-tax loss

Federal income tax benefit at )
statutory rate $ 212,00( 34.0% $ (944,000 (34.C%
State income taxes, net of federe )
tax 43,00( 6.8% (188,000 (6.8%
Research and development cred (75,000 (11.52% (50,000 (3.02%
Other - 0.0% - 0.0%
Change in valuation allowance (180,000) (29.52% 1,182,00( 43.8%

$ - 0.0% $ - 0.0%

A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likilgn not that some portion or all of the deferrednmedax assets will not be
realized. The net change in the total valuation alloedoicthe years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $(180,000) and
$1,182,000, respectively. The income tax benefit assusied the Federal statutory tax rate of 34% has been reduaadatdual
benefit of zero due principally to the aforementiomalliation allowance.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had unused Federal andestaperating loss carryforwards of approximately $60,716,080 a
$50,322,000, respectively. The net operating loss carryfdeaapire in various amounts through 2029 for Federal andrstatae
tax purposes. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contains gomaswhich limit the ability to utilize net operatihggs carryforwards in

the case of certain events including significant charmgewnership interests. Accordingly, a substantial portf the Company’s

net operating loss carryforwards above will be subjeeannual limitations (currently approximately $100,000) in reduaimgfuture
year’s taxable income. At December 31, 2010, the Comalmoyhad research and development credit carryforwérds o
approximately $1,826,000 for Federal income tax purposes wkygiteen various amounts through 2029.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Fadd8tate and Local jurisdictions. With certain eximeys, the Company is no
longer subject to U.S. Federal and state income taxiagsions by tax authorities for years prior to 208lawever, net operating
loss carryforwards and tax credits generated from thieseyears could still be adjusted upon audit. Effectiveidey 1, 2007, the
Company adopted guidance under ASC Topic 740-10 (formerlyBJNAccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109”) which clagfthe accounting and disclosure for uncertainty ionretaxes. The
adoption of this interpretation did not have a matenmgact to the financial statements. The Companygreezes interest and
penalties to uncertain tax position in income tax expamthe statement of operations.

The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits at Dewre®ib 2010 that would affect the annual effective tax ratether, the
Company is unaware of any positions for which it esmmably possible that the total amounts of unrecognizdskteefits will
significantly increase or decrease within the nextwevenonths.

(23) License Agreements

Altoderm License Agreement

On April 3, 2007, the Company entered into a licensecageat for “Altoderm” (the “Altoderm Agreement”) with&R. Pursuant to
the Altoderm Agreement, the Company acquired an exclusivéa Mmerican license to certain patent rights andrattiellectual
property relating to Altoderm, a topical skin lotion pradcendidate using sodium cromoglicate for the treatroleatopic dermatitis.

In February 2009, the Company terminated the Altoderm AgerenThe Company has no further financial liabilitycommitment
to T&R under the Altoderm Agreement.
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Altolyn License Agreement

On April 3, 2007, the Company and T&R also entered inicea$e agreement for “Altolyn” (the “Altolyn Agreemt”). Pursuant to
the Altolyn Agreement, the Company acquired an exclusohiNAmerican license to certain patent rights aheintellectual
property relating to Altolyn, an oral formulation prodeendidate using sodium cromoglicate for the treatment dioessis, food
allergies, and inflammatory bowel disorder.

In February 2009, the Company terminated the Altolyn Agegerfor convenience. The Company has no furthentiral liability or
commitment to T&R under the Altolyn Agreement.

Subsequent Events

Nordic Settlement

On January 4, 2011 the Company entered into settlementiaade agreement (the “Settlement and ReleaserAgnéd with
Nordic Biotech Venture Fund Il K/S (*Nordic”) and H Phraaceuticals K/S (the "Joint Venture"). The Comparg/idardic are
partners in the Joint Venture for the development antheercialization in North America of Hedrin™, a non-pesi, one-hour,
treatment for pediculosis (head lice). As previousported, the Company and Nordic have had various dispeltgmg to the Joint
Venture and to Nordic’s option to purchase Company camshack in exchange for a portion of Nordic’s intereshadoint
Venture (the "Put Right"), and Nordic’s warrant to pusgn@ompany common stock (the "Warrant”). The Se#fdrand Release
Agreement resolves all disputes between the Compartiieane hand, and Nordic and the Joint Venture, on the othe

The principal terms of the Settlement and Releaseehgeat are:

» The Put Right has been terminated. The Company bdligne Put Right permitted Nordic to become the ownen upo
exercise of the Put Right, of 71,428,571 shares of the Conspaamgmon stock. Nordic asserted that the Put Rigltdvo
have permitted Nordic to become the owner of 183,333,338sbathe Company’s common stock.

« The Warrant has been terminated. The Company belibeed/arrant covered 14,285,714 shares of the Company's
common stock. Nordic asserted that the Warrant cover,833333 shares of the Company’'s common stock.

¢ Nordic was required to make an additional, non-dilutive e&pdntribution to the Joint Venture of $1,500,000, which
includes $300,000 contributed to the Joint Venture by Nordibexember 15, 2010.

e The Joint Venture has paid to the Company a settieameaunt of $500,000, less any "Excess Payment" (defined
below) An "Excess Payment" is the amount by which Nordio® the Joint Venture’s reasonable out-of-pocket legal an
other costs incurred with respect to the SettlemenReatehse Agreement exceed $70,000. To date there havedeen
Excess Payments.

»  Our equity interest in the Joint Venture was reduced to Ak%further reductions in our equity interest are possibled
when Nordic makes additional capital contributions ®Jbint Venture. In no event shall the capital cbations by
Nordic reduce our ownership in the Joint Venture below 5%.

e The Joint Venture has paid $75,000 to the Company unel&ettvices Agreement, dated February 21, 2008, and that
Services Agreement is terminated as of December 31, 2010.

» The Joint Venture Agreement, dated January 31, 2008, asladhen February 18, 2008, and as further amended by an
Omnibus Amendment on June 9, 2008, between Manhattan adit;Nbe Shareholders’ Agreement, dated February 21,
2008, as amended by an Omnibus Amendment on June 9, 2008 spi¢ttrto the Joint Venture, and the Registration
Rights Agreement, dated February 25, 2009, are terminated.

» Messrs. Michael G. McGuinness and Douglas Abel resifjoedthe Board of Directors of the Joint Venture.

Ariston Milestone Shares On January 31, 2011 the Company announced that its BoRnekctors has decided to continue
development of AST-915, an orally delivered treatmentdeeetial tremor. Under the terms of the merger ageatbetween the
Company and Ariston Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the achieweof this milestone requires the company to issue 8,328lares of its
common stock to debt holders and former shareholdékssibn. The shares were issued in March 2011.
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Extension of Maturity Date of Secured 12% Notes

On February 9, 2011, the Company entered into a waiveiodmehrance agreement (the “Extension Agreementt) thi¢ requisite
holders of the 12% senior secured notes whereby the holidirs Notes (the “Noteholders”) agreed to forbearekercise of their
rights under the Notes and waive the default theretif Dacember 31, 2011. The Company issued a total of $1,72prdagpal
amount of the Notes in 2008 and 2009. $1,035,000 of the Neatesed on November 19, 2010, $280,000 of the Notes matured on
December 22, 2010 and $410,000 of the Notes matured on FeBr2ary/1.

As part of the Extension Agreement, the Company hagdgoetake prompt steps to seek to reduce its outstamdiagtedness by
permitting the Noteholders to convert the Notes ihtrss of the Company's common stock at a conversion @ir$0.01 per share,
which will require the Company to obtain stockholder apgktw, among other things, increase the number afutisorized common
stock. If the Secured 12% Notes convert into commork stba conversion price of $0.01 the antidilution rightthefwarrants
issued with Secured 12% Notes, the warrants issued withotinee@ible 12% Note and the warrants issued in the 2010yHgjipi¢
transaction will be triggered causing significant potermdliiakion to our current stockholders. The following talblustrates the
potential dilution:

Conversion of
Secured 12%

As of March 15, 2011 Notes After Conversion
Shares % Shares (1) Shares %
Shares outstanding:
Before conversion 129,793,28 45.6€% 129,793,28 8.7&%
Conversion of
Secured 12% Notes 231,826,60 231,826,60 15.67%
Total outstanding 129,793,28 231,826,60 361,619,88
Shares issuable:
Options 11,574,93i 4.07% 11,574,93i 0.7&%
Warrants:
With antidilution
rights:
Issued with
Secured 12%
Notes 57,500,11! 20.2% 460,000,92 517,501,03 34.9%
Other 72,411,24: 25.47% 503,037,46 575,448,71 38.9(%
Without antidilution
rights 12,989,18! 4.57% 12,989,18! 0.8&%
Total issuable 154,475,48 963,038,38 1,117,513,87
Total outstanding and
issuable 284,268,77 100.0(% 1,194,864,98 1,479,133,76 100.0(%

(1) Share conversion assumes conversion of principlinéerest on May 31, 2011, the date on which we projeatdheersion will
occur.

Amendment of ICON Note Payable

On March 1, 2011 Ariston entered into an amended and restategttilole promissory note (the “Amended Note”) with ICON
Clinical Research Limited. The principal terms of Areended Note are that monthly payments of principal ardest will be
waived for the thirteen month period ended December 31, 204 X\Waiver Period”) in exchange for a single payment of $iWD,
on March 31, 2011, an increase in the interest on thendled Note from 5% to 8% per annum during the Waiver Pandda
balloon payment on January 31, 2012. The Amended Notdeutkbase the debt service requirements of the Compan4reston
by approximately $300,000 during the thirteen-month period endedrber 31, 2011.
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

Our report on our audits of the consolidated financiaestants of Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of DameBi, 2010 and 2009 and
for the years then ended and on the consolidated statenfesfierations, stockholders' equity (deficiency) and @awss for the period from
August 6, 2001 (date of inception) to December 31, 2010, whictainsnan explanatory paragraph relating to the Compaatyigy to
continue as a going concern, included in this Annual Repofform 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010, is dédech 31, 2011.
We consent to the incorporation by reference of ourrtépdhe following registration statements previoullgd by the Company with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Sesudienf 1933: the registration statements on Forms S8S#C file Nos. 333-
148531, 333-15807, 333-112888 and 333-112889.

/s/J.H. Cohn LLP

Roseland, New Jersey
March 31, 2011




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael G. McGuinness, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of MammaRharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain anyeusttatement of a material fact or omit to statetenal fact necessary to
make the statements n&dn light of the circumstances under which such statesveere made, not misleading with respect to the p
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, dreat fhancial information included in this report, faigsesent in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatamd cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, thedsepresented in this report;

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | @sponsible for establishing and maintaining disclosun&rais and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d — 15(e)) and Intentiol over financial reporting (as defined in ExchangeRdes
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, sectauch disclosure controls and procedures to be desigdedour
supervision, to ensure that material informationtirdpto the Registrant, including its consolidated subsekais made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the gebin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial raépgrtor caused such internal control over financial repgto be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regahgimgliability of financial reporting and the prepasatof financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally actemsounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrantdalsre controls and procedures and presented in thig mepaonclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures tlas end of the period covered by this report based on satihaten; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrem¢mal control over financial reporting that occurredriyithe Registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourthafisiarter in the case of an annual report) that hagialbtaffected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s interraintrol over financial reporting; and

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | haweldsed, based on our most recent evaluation of inteon#lol over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit dtteerof the Registrant’s board of directors (or pesgmerforming the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal control over forgreporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registraabidity to record, process, summarize and report Gizinformation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significkninrthe Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2011 /s/ Michael McGuinness

Michael G. McGuinness
Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael G. McGuinness, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Mammaharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain anyeusttatement of a material fact or omit to stateatenal fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstamodsr which such statements were made, not misleadingesitlect tahe perioc
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, dreat fhancial information included in this report, faigsesent in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatamd cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, thiedsepresented in this report;

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | r@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disclosun&rais and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d — 15(e)) and Intentiol over financial reporting (as defined in ExchangeRdes
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, sectauch disclosure controls and procedures to be desigdedour
supervision, to ensure that material informationtirdpto the Registrant, including its consolidated subsekais made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the gubin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial raépgrtor caused such internal control over financial repgrto be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regahgimgliability of financial reporting and the prepasatof financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally actemsounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrantdalsre controls and procedures and presented in thig mepaonclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures tlas end of the period covered by this report based on satiaten; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrem¢mal control over financial reporting that occurredriyithe Registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourthafisoiarter in the case of an annual report) that hagialbtaffected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s interraintrol over financial reporting; and

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | haweldsed, based on our most recent evaluation of inteon#lol over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit dtteerof the Registrant’s board of directors (or pesgmerforming the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal control over forgreporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registraaidity to record, process, summarize and report Gizinformation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significninrthe Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2011 /s/ Michael McGuinness

Michael G. McGuinness
Chief Operating and Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantitmS¥i6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersignexbiotif
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. hereby certifies thahe best of his knowledge:

(a) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of MardratPharmaceuticals, Inc. for the year ended Decembe2030, the
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Sectiti3(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(b) information contained in the Report lfapresents, in all material respects, the financialddmn and results of
operations of Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Dated: March 31, 2011 /s/ Michael McGuinness
Michael G. McGuinness
Principal Executive Officer,
Chief Operating and Financial Officer




